Belgian Red List of Bees

Maxime Drossart, Pierre Rasmont, Pieter Vanormelingen, Marc Dufrêne, Morgane Folschweiller, Alain Pauly, Nicolas J. Vereecken, Sarah Vray, Ella Zambra, Jens D'Haeseleer and Denis Michez









Belgian Red List of Bees

Maxime Drossart¹, Pierre Rasmont¹, Pieter Vanormelingen², Marc Dufrêne³, Morgane Folschweiller¹, Alain Pauly⁴, Nicolas J. Vereecken⁵, Sarah Vray⁶, Ella Zambra¹, Jens D'Haeseleer² and Denis Michez¹

¹Laboratoire de Zoologie, Université de Mons, Avenue du Champ de Mars (Pentagone) 6 7000 Mons (Belgium). ²Natuurpunt Studie, Coxiestraat 11, 2800 Mechelen (Belgium). ³UR Biodiversité et Paysage, Université de Liège -Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech, Passage des Déportés 2, 5030 Gembloux (Belgium). ⁴Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, O.D. Taxonomy & Phylogeny, Rue Vautier 29, 1000 Brussels (Belgium). ⁵Agroecology Lab, Campus de la Plaine CP 264/2 - Building NO, Université Libre de Bruxelles (ULB), Blvd. du Triomphe, B-1050 Brussels (Belgium). ⁶Luxembourg Institute of Science and Technology, Maison de l'innovation, avenue des hauts-fourneaux 5, 4362 Esch-sur-Alzette (Luxembourg)

Published by the University of Mons



Citation: Drossart M., Rasmont P., Vanormelingen P., Dufrêne M., Folschweiller M., Pauly A., Vereecken N. J., Vray S., Zambra E., D'Haeseleer J. & Michez D. 2019. Belgian Red List of bees. Belgian Science Policy 2018 (BRAIN-be - (Belgian Research Action through Interdisciplinary Networks). Mons: Presse universitaire de l'Université de Mons. 140 p.

November 2019

Design and layout by: Maxime Drossart Printed by: University of Mons Picture credits on cover page: *Melecta luctuosa* (Critically Endangered). Jean-Sébastien Rousseau-Piot

All photographs used in this publication remain the property of the original copyright holder (see individual captions for details). Photographs should not be reproduced or used in other contexts without written permission from the copyright holder.

Available from: http://www.atlashymenoptera.net

ISBN: 978-2-87325-113-0 (Print Edition) – Legal deposit: D/2019/970/4 ISBN: 978-2-87325-114-7 (Online Edition) – Legal deposit: D/2019/970/5

Reproduction of this publication for educational or other non-commercial purposes is authorized without prior written permission from the copyright holder provided the source is fully acknowledged. Reproduction of this publication for resale or other commercial purposes is prohibited without prior written permission of the copyright holder.

Printed in Belgium

Table of contents

Foreword	5
Acknowledgements	6
Contributions	6
Executive summary	9
1. Background	
1.2 Diversity and distribution of Belgian bees	
1.3 Ecology of Belgian bees	
1.4 Importance of bees in pollination	
1.5 Population trends of Belgian bees	
1.6 Objectives of the assessment	
2. Assessment methodology	
2.1 Geographic scope	24
2.2 Taxonomic scope	24
2.3 Data set	24
2.4 Assessment protocol	25
2.5 Importance of time scales and compared periods	
2.6 IUCN criteria: from continental (Europe) to national (Belgian) scale	27
3. Results	
3.1 Threat status	
3.2 Status by taxonomic group	
3.3 Status by functional trait	
3.4 Spatial distribution of species	
3.5 Major threats to bees in Belgium	
3.6 Knowledge gaps	
4. Conservation measures	60
4.1 Biodiversity change in Belgium and in Europe	60
4.2 Nature conservation strategy at European and Belgian scale	65
4.3 Conservation of bee species in the European Union and Belgium	70
5. Recommendations	
5.1 Recommended actions	76
5.2 Future work	86
6. References	
7. Appendix	105

Foreword

Notwithstanding that Belgium is a small country only covering some 30,688 km² of land, its biodiversity is relatively high as a consequence of its diverse geology, topography and climate, and its legacy of diverse agricultural practices resulting in a wide range of natural and seminatural habitats. Over the past decades, however, human-induced activities are increasingly impacting on biodiversity, which may ultimately lead to irreversible changes in ecosystem functioning with profound impacts on our society.

One of the critical benefits nature provides us is pollination, as decisively illustrated by the recent assessment report of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES) on Pollinators, Pollination and Food Production, and recognized by governments globally through the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). In Northwest Europe and Belgium, it is in particular bees who perform the lion's share of the essential ecosystem service of pollination, and there is strong evidence that a decline in insect populations, driven by factors such as agriculture intensification including use of pesticides and fertilizers, urban development, and climate change, amongst others is a particular concern for the region.

Measures to address this threat to biodiversity require that these are based on reliable knowledge in order to be effective. One of the recognized methodologies delivering a scientifically sound basis to underpin actions is the IUCN Red List approach. However, as it requires sufficient data to enable an assessment of the conservation status of an organism, it is at times difficult to obtain comprehensive results for a specific group. For European bees, this turned out to be an issue as data deficiency precluded an evaluation for a majority of species in an Europe-wide study published in 2014. Fortunately, and as a consequence of the availability of an impressive number of observations collected through the sustained efforts by both professional and citizen experts, such is much less the case at the scale of Belgium, as this BELBEES study demonstrates.

The Belgian Red List of Bees contains an urgent cautionary message to policy makers and stakeholders alike, to create an enabling environment and to take action. With almost 33% of bees considered threatened in Belgium, and an additional 6.8% Near Threatened and 11.8% Regionally Extinct, the conservation and continued monitoring of the populations of bees must be a priority, if we wish to maintain the essential ecosystem service of pollination, for the benefit of food production and our living environment.

Hendrik Segers, Ph.D.

National Focal Point to the Convention on Biological Diversity President of the Steering Group Biodiversity Convention Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences

- 5 -

Acknowledgements

This study is as part of the BELBEES project (http://www.belbees.be/), a Belgian conservation research project, funded by the Belgian Science Policy (BELSPO; grant BR/132/A1/BELBEES).

Contributions

The Belgian Red List of bees is dependent on experts who generously spent their time, shared their knowledge and expertise to write this work detailed below. Their enthusiasm and commitment have enabled to produce a comprehensive and the most up-to-date picture of bee status in Belgium. We acknowledge the following people and ask for forgiveness from anyone whose name is inadvertently omitted:

- Etienne Bruneau (CARI): provided expertise concerning *Apis mellifera* and its associated Box.
- Maxime Drossart (UMONS): coordinator of this work, assessor for all bee species and provided pictures of *Anthidium manicatum* and *Osmia cornuta*.
- Marc Dufrêne (ULiège Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech): provided the applied methodology and the management of statistical analyses.
- Morgane Folschweiller (UMONS): management of the recommendation section and provided maps of the number of observations in Belgium.
- Kurt Geeraerts (Natuurpunt volunteer): provided pictures of *Halictus quadricinctus, Coelioxys alatus* and *Megachile maritima*.
- Leon Marshall (ULB): provided maps of species richness and distribution of threatened species in Belgium.
- Denis Michez (UMONS): assessor of Andrenidae, *Bombus*, other Apidae, Colletidae, Halictidae, Megachilidae and Melittidae species.
- Alain Pauly (RBINS): assessor of Halictidae and Megachilidae species.
- Pierre Rasmont (UMONS): assessor of *Bombus*, other Apidae and Halictidae species; manager of the database.
- Jean-Sébastien Rousseau-Piot (Natagora): provided the cover picture of *Melecta luctuosa*.
- Pieter Vanormelingen and Jens D'Haeseleer (Natuurpunt): assessors of Andrenidae, *Bombus* (Apidae), other Apidae, Colletidae, Halictidae, Megachilidae and Melittidae species.
- Nicolas J. Vereecken (ULB): assessor of *Bombus*, other Apidae, Andrenidae and Melittidae species as well as provided pictures of bee families, *Bombus sylvarum* and *Apis mellifera*.
- Sarah Vray (LIST): data provider for *Bombus* species.
- Ella Zambra (UMONS): support in the coordination and assessor for all bee species.

Experts assessed the species recorded in Belgium based on a data set of 268,954 entries (797,539 individuals). This data set resulted from the collection of data by many collaborators, volunteers and students. We would like to thank the following people that contributed 1% or more of the records, including some historical contributors:

Allein S., Appels D., Baert D., Ball F.J., Baltus H, Barbier Y., Barendse R., Barone R., Bastiaensen P., Batsleer M., Baugnée J.Y., Beckers G., Bekaert L., Bert C., Bertrands J., Berwaerts K., Beullens G., Billiau R., Bisschop G., Boeraeve M., Boers K., Bonmariage P., Boone A., Bos T., Boux K., Bracke K., Brinckman S., Broos B., Bruge H, Bruggeman C., Bruynseels M., Bultot J., Calmeyn K., Calu T., Canon A., Catthoor G., Cavro E., Ceulemans W., Chapelle G., Chouffart-Raskin J., Claes H., Claes J., Claessens C., Claessens J., Claeys I., Claeys R., Clarysse L., CMa, Colpaert E., Conjaert, Cool R., Coppée J.-L., Cors R, Cortens J., Coulier F., Cox P., Creemers B., Crépin L., Cuppens J., Cuypers M., D Be, Daelemans E., Daems J., Daems V., Dal Farra P., Danny V G, De Blanck T.; De Blauwe H., De Buck N., De Clercq R., De Cnodder P., De Coen, De Grave D., De Groote D., De Hennin, De Hertogh C., De Jonghe R., De Keersmaecker K., De Koning H., De Koster M., De Meirsman P., De Meyer L., De Moffarts, De Munter M., De Roo P., De Rudder B., De Rycke S., De Saedeleer V., De Smet W., De Somer P., De Wit K., De Wit L., Deceuster R., Decleir P., Declercq W., Declèves S., Decock W., Deconinck W., Decrick L., Dejagere E., Dekeukeleire D., Dekoninck W., Delbrassinne S., Deleus W., Demeuldre I., Demey R., Deneve S., Denonville J., Derdeyn D., Derick R., Deroover T., Derveaux B., Deschepper C., Desmet H, Desmet N., Destage J, Detry D, Devalez J., Devillers C, Devos E., Devos J., Dewanckele S., Dewyspelaere J., D'Haeseleer J., D'Hert D., Dias W., Doornaert A., Dries H., Dubois, Dupriez P., Duran W., Durant A., Ecologische werkgroep (Natuurpunt), Evrard D., Fagot J., Farinelle C., Fassotte, Feys S., Folschweiller M., Foquet R./Foquet B., Fotoopa, Foubert O., Franck G., Freisen P., Gabrys F., Garin M., Gasthuys L., Gauquie B, Geeraerts K., Geerts C., Gelbgras F., Gellens N., Gérard M., Gerhardy, Geudens R., Glibert J., Gobert S., Godding E., Goetghebuer M., Gorrens M., Gosselin M., Grenson L., Grootaert P., Gruwier C., Guerard A., Natuurstudiewerkgroep Hagelandse Heuvelstreek, Halet E., Hansen K., Hanssens B., Hauman P., Hautekiet W., Hela F., Helpers J., Hendrickx P., Hendrickx R., Henneresse T., Heremans R., Hermans S., Herremans M., Heyman V., Hlusek J. & Durant A., Hoeymans B., Horemans S., Houbaert, Jacobs A., Jacobs J.C., Jacobs M., Jansen L., Janssens F., Janssens K., Jenard P., Johan R, Joris I., Jossa L., Karel G.H., Kenens J., Keteleer S., Keuppens M., Koen, Koller A., Lajoinie, Lambeets K., Lambrechts J., Lams L., Larivière B., Lecocq T., Leestmans S., Lefeber V., Lemaire M. & Lorin E., Leonard V., lesaccount Artevelde, Leveque J., Libert P.N, Liongo L. E., Litt R., Longo F., Loos G., Lutin-Smet B., Machielsen W., Maebe K., Maes K., Maréchal P., Maréchal R., Mariage T., Marliere F., Marshall L., Martens F., Martens M., Martinet B., Matagne M., Mathelart C., Mathieu A., Meert R., Mees H., Mees J., Menten J., Mergaerts M., Mertens P, Mertens W., Mestdagh B., Michalowski J.M., Michez D., Minet G., Moonen

- 7 -

E., Mortelmans J., Moysons P., Mura M., Nagtegals P., Natuurpunt Mandelstreke, Nick en Marita, Nijs G., NSG Beneden-Dijle, Nuyts J., Nys G., Paes J., Palmans G., Pannier E., Paquet A., Pasau B., Paternoster T., Paul & Krista, Paul & Marianne, Pauly A., Pauwels B., Pédron M., Peeters K., Peter vds, Petit J., Pintens J., Pirotte D., Piryns I., Parc Naturel des Plaines de l'Escaut , Platteau L., Ponchau O., Popeler A.S., Poppe-Delmelle R., Preud'homme J., Princen Y., Proesmans W., Projectgroep Levend Zand, Puls R., Quartier J., Rasmont P., Raymaekers S., Reinig W.F., Remacle A., Renneson J.L., Reynaerts A., Reyniers J., Rijmenans G, Roelandt L., Rogghe M., Rommens W., Ronsmans J., Ronsmans W., Rousseau-Piot J-S., Rutten M., Sabatino U., Samyn K., Sansdrap A., Sansen U., Schoeters F., Schoonvaere K., Schrans N., Seché A., Segers R., Severin G., Sevrin D., Slootmaekers D., Slosse W., Smeets P., Smessaert P., Smits P., Soors J., Soubry M., Souffreau C., Souffreau J., Spruytte S., Stessens C., Steuperaert J./Mels, Stoops G., Strubbe R., Students of Gembloux, Students of Mons, Tamsyn W., Terzo M., Thibau K., Thonissen K., Thys N., Toorman E., Tosquinet, Tück M., Uyttenbroeck R., Valdueza M., Van Assche J., Van Assche S., Van Asten K., Van Belleghem J., Van Cleuvenbergen R., Van de Casteele , Van de Casteele D., Van de Schoot E., Van den Berghe J., Van den Bussche S., Van den Heuvel D., Van den Heuvel G., Van den Neucker T., Van den Wyngaert G., Van der Spek E., Van der Steen K., Van Dorpe V., Van Dorsselaer P., Van Dyck B., Van Dyck V., Van Eenaeme D., Van Esbroeck G, Van Heghe G., Van Hoorick G., Van Hoovels G., Van Ingelgem S., Van Kerckhoven J.,, Van Loo T., Van Meel C., Van Passel F., Van Sanden P., Van Steenwinkel C., Van Stipdonk A., Van Tulder D., Van Wichelen J., Van Winkel J., Vanberghe K., Vandemaele W., Vanden Abeele L., Vandenbergh L., Vandenberghe K., Vandenhoudt R., Vandeput J., Vanermen L., Vanhoutte J., Vanhulle H., Vanmeerbeeck P., Vannotten W., Vanormelingen P., Vanschepdael V., Vansteenbrugge H., Vantieghem P., Vantieghem S., Velghe S., Veraghtert W., Verbruggen C., Vercruysse W., Verhelst L., Verheyde F., Verheyden W., Verheyen S., Verleysen, Vermetten W., Vermeulen T., Vermylen R., Verroken E., Verschraegen W., Verschueren T., Versigghel J., Verstraeten D., Vertommen W., Vervecken P., Vindevoghel J., Vlinderwerkgroep Taxandria, Vochten T., Volckaert D., Vray S., Walgraffe G., Wallays H., Walravens E., Warncke K., Weetjens E., WID, wilde bijenwerkgroep Aculea, Willekens M., Willems M., Windey R., Windmolders K., Winters L., Wynants G., Wyns F., Yves G., Zurings B., Zwaenepoel A.

Executive summary

Aim

The Belgian Red List of bees is an assessment of the conservation status of Belgian bee species according to the IUCN guidelines for application of the international IUCN Red List criteria at regional and national levels (IUCN 2012a, b). It identifies the extinction threat to species at this geographical scale. These results can be used to implement conservation actions to improve the threat status of species. This Red List publication summarizes the results of this exercise for all recorded Belgian bees. **Scope**

All bee species recorded in Belgium until the first half of 2017 have been included in this Red List. The geographical scope is nation-wide.

Status assessment

The status of all species was assessed using the IUCN Red List Criteria (IUCN 2012a), which is the world's most widely accepted system for extinction risk evaluation. All assessments followed the Guidelines for Application of IUCN Red List Criteria at Regional Levels (IUCN 2012b). These assessments were compiled based on the data and knowledge from a network of national bee experts. A preliminary Red List category was assigned based on the analysis of a total of 268.954 bee records belonging to 403 species. Current distribution of the species was determined with a 5 x 5 km UTM grid. Historical changes in species distributions were analysed by comparing the time periods 1900-1969 and 1970-2017. The preliminary Red List category was then discussed and reviewed during five workshops held in Mons (Belgium) as well as through email correspondence with relevant experts. Individual assessments are available in Appendix 1 and on the dedicated Atlas Hymenoptera web page (www.atlashymenoptera.net).

Results

Overall, 32.8% of bees (i.e. 113 species) are considered threatened in Belgium. Considering the Near Threatened (i.e. 26 species; 6.8%) and Regionally Extinct (i.e. 45 species; 11.8%) bees, the present study suggests that more than half (i.e. 53.3%) of the assessed species (i.e. 184 species) are (nearly) threatened or extinct in Belgium. A further 42.3% of bees (i.e. 161 species) are considered as Least Concern. Out of a total of 403 bee species that are recorded for Belgium, 22 species that were observed only once in a single specimen were assigned to the category Not Applicable (NA). It is unclear whether they ever had a population in Belgium. Consequently, they are considered as absent of the country. Another 36 species (i.e. 9.4%) were classified as Data Deficient, as there was not enough information to assess their risk of extinction.

By comparison, 57.1% of reptiles, 43.8 % of amphibians, 52.9% of ants, 50% butterflies, 33.8% of spiders, 30.6% dragonflies, 29.9 % of birds, 28.4% of mammals and 27.6% of vascular plants are assessed threatened in Belgium (Goffart et al. 2006; De Knijf 2006; Fichefet et al. 2008; Maes et al. 2012; Belgian Federal Government 2018c). Besides, 9.2% of bee species are considered threatened at the European scale (Nieto et al. 2014). However, no less than 57% of European bees are listed as Data Deficient, which implies that the proportion of really threatened species is highly uncertain. This proportion of threatened species could lie between as little as 4% and much as 60.7% (Nieto et al. 2014).

Considering the functional traits possibly associated with extinction risk, there is no major difference between opportunistic and specialised bees in threat status in Belgium. Besides a similar proportion of threatened species (i.e. 31-36%) among the three categories of sociality, (primitively) eusocial bees include a higher proportion of extinct species (i.e. 21.7%). Moreoever, bumblebees constitute the most impacted group with near 60% of Threatened or Near Threatened species as well as 20% of Regionally Extinct species. Finally, ground-nesting bees are more threatened (i.e. 32.5%) compared to bees nesting in existing cavities above ground (i.e. 23.6%), bees with specific nesting behaviours showing highly variable proportion of threatened species.

Regarding the spatial distribution of bees, the highest species richness is found in (i) the Condroz and Fagne-Famenne-Calestienne as well as Gaume regions, (ii) the Brussels-Capital area as well as Hageland and Droog Haspengouw, (iii) the sandy Flanders and (iv) the eastern Campine. Local diversity hotspots are found in particular habitats like calcareous grassland and heathlands. Southeastern Belgium (i.e. Fagne-Famenne, Lorraine, East canton), Hageland and Droog Haspengouw and Campine as well as the coastal dunes and East canton (albeit to a lesser extent), present a high diversity of threatened species.

The main threats identified in the literature are habitat loss and fragmentation due to agricultural intensification (e.g. changes in agricultural practices including the use of fertilisers and pesticides) and urban development, as well as climate change.

Attention must be paid to the 9.4% of Data Deficient species for which a taxonomic impediment was encountered (i.e. lack of taxonomic experts for species being recently recognized or species that are morphologically highly similar to other more widespread taxa as well as rare to very rare species in less-studied genera). For these, revisions of historical and present collections as well as an increase in taxonomic expertise and training among wild bee volunteers is necessary to resolves these impediments.

1. Background

1.1 The Belgian context

Belgium is a small and densely populated country, with 11,376,070 habitants for 30,528 km² in 2018 (Belgian Federal Government 2018a). Located in NW-Europe, it is a typical example of agricultural intensification and urbanization that occurred in this region during the last century. The country hosts ten geographical regions, which are from the northwest to the southeast: The Dunes, the Polders, the Sandy Loam regions, Campine, the Border Meuse Valley, the Loam region, Condroz, the Fagne-Famenne-Calestienne region, Ardenne and Lorraine (Fig. 1). Around 45% of its area is dedicated to farmland, 23% to woodland, and 21% to settlements (see Fig. 13; Belgian Federal Government 2018b).



Figure 1. Geographical situation of the different ecoregions in Belgium (adapted from Goffart et al. 2006).

Belgium holds an estimated 36.300 species of micro-organisms, plants, fungi and animals (Peeters 2014). This number represents more than 20% of the total number of species described for Europe and 2% of the species known in the world. Belgian biodiversity includes 456 species of birds (Lepage 2007), 69 species of mammals (Temple & Terry 2009), 16 species of amphibians (Temple & Cox 2009), 48 species of freshwater fish (Freyhof & Brooks 2011), 69 species of dragonflies and damselflies (De Knijf et al. 2001), 93 species of butterflies (van Swaay et al. 2010) and more than 1,400 species of vascular plants (Peeters et al. 2003). In some Belgian areas (e.g. limestone regions, ...) a relatively high proportion of species is of conservation interest.

Belgium has arguably one of the most highly fragmented landscapes of European countries, and no fraction of its land surface can be considered as wilderness. For centuries, most of its surface area has been used by humans to produce food, timber and fuel, and provide living space. Consequently, Belgian species are to a large extent dependent upon habitats created and maintained by human activity, particularly traditional, non-intensive forms of land management. These have created, in interaction with the different land cover types and hydrological conditions, a wide variety of so-called seminatural habitats, such as heathlands, various grassland types, shrublands, managed woodlands or coastal habitats providing suitable habitat for many species. These seminatural habitats are under heavy pressure from agricultural intensification, commercial forestry, urban sprawl, infrastructure development, land abandonment, acidification, drainage and eutrophication. Many species are directly affected by overexploitation, persecution, and the impact of invasive species. Moreoever, climate change is set to become an increasingly serious threat in the future.

Although some efforts have been made to protect and conserve habitats and species from the national and european level [i.e. near 13% of the country area is included in the Natura 2000 network (Blerot & Heyninck 2017)], biodiversity decline and the associated loss of ecosystem services (e.g. water purification, pollination, flood protection, and carbon sequestration) continue to be a major concern in the country.

1.2 Diversity and distribution of Belgian bees

The origin of bees traces back to 120 million years ago, when a group of wasps presumably shifted from a carnivorous diet to an herbivorous diet. Bees in the widest acknowledged sense constitute a monophyletic group which currently includes ~20,000 described species and occurs worldwide except in Antarctica (Michener 2007; Michez et al. 2011; Danforth et al. 2013; Ascher & Pickering 2019). A checklist collated by Rasmont et al. (2017a) showed that the European bee fauna encompasses an estimated 2051 species grouped in 77 genera. Belgium includes a relatively small part of this diversity as its climate is not optimal for most groups of bees (i.e. the highest bee diversity is found in the Mediterranean).

Bee research in Belgium has a very rich and well documented history. It started with the studies of Meunier (1888), Jacobs (1904), Ball (1914, 1920), Crèvecoeur & Maréchal (1935, 1938) and Lefeber & Petit (1970). From the 70's, the team of the University of Liège (Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech, Prof. J. Leclercq) and later the team from the University of Mons (Laboratory of Zoology, Prof. P. Rasmont) produced and published a lot of data, maps, keys and taxonomic revisions on the Belgian fauna but also worked at the continental scale and beyond the European boundaries (e.g. Europe and North America, Kerr et al. 2015). Belgian researchers specialized their work on specific bee groups: Pierre

- 12 -

Rasmont on bumblebees and Anthophorine bees (Rasmont 1988, 1995), Alain Pauly on Halictidae (Pauly 2019a), Michael Terzo on Xylocopinae (Terzo 2000), Sébastien Patiny on Andrenidae (Patiny 2001) and Denis Michez on Melittidae and fossil bees (Michez 2007; Michez et al. 2011). Local studies on particular habitats also contributed to the study of Belgian bees, mainly in Wallonia (Rasmont et al. 1990; Jacob-Remacle & Jacob 1990). Recently, the research programs BELBEES (Box 1) and SAPOLL (Box 2) included a larger consortium of universities (UMons, UGent, ULG, UNamur), NGO's (Natuurpunt, Natagora) as well as the Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Science (RBINS) (see Box 1). These collaborations enabled to digitize a considerable part of the historical collections of Belgian bee specimens, but also aggregated available bee records in Belgium. The last decade has seen the onset and rapid increase of citizen science through the monitoring effort of naturalist groups (exemplified by the formation of the bees and wasps study group of Natuurpunt in Flanders, "Aculea") supported by bee expert(s) at Natuurpunt and Natagora (see Box 5). They produced an important quantity of new information and data, mainly encoded and managed within the online data platform https://waarnemingen.be or https://observations.be. New entomological courses, training and field workshops are organized in Belgium and the network of bee amateurs and experts is again expanding. All these new initiatives made possible the production of a unique data base of >268,000 observations (Figure 2). From this database, a list of 403 species was established (Table 1).



Figure 2. Investigated 5 x 5 kilometer UTM squares during the periods before 1970 (A) and after 1970 (B), with the number of observations per square. Species richness categories are quantiles with an equal number of grid cells in each category.

Bee species recorded in Belgium are divided into six families: (i) Apidae and Megachilidae form the group of long-tongued bees, (ii) Andrenidae, Colletidae, Halictidae and Melittidae represent the short-tongued bees (see Table 1, Figure 3). The most prominent and species-rich family of bees in Belgium is the Apidae family (101 species) including the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*) and bumblebees (*Bombus* spp.), while the least diverse family is the Melittidae with only 9 species (Table 1).

Halictidae and Andrenidae can be the most species diverse groups encountered in the field, especially the genera *Lasioglossum* (Halictidae) and *Andrena* (Andrenidae) (e.g. Rasmont et al. 1990).

The biodiversity of bees in Wallonia (i.e. 366 species) is higher than in the two other regions of Belgium (Table 1). This relatively high species richness can be partly explained by the higher diversity of habitats and altitudes of this area and also by the lower human density and the southernmost locations.

Table 1. Species richness in bee families in Belgium and its different regions. This compiles old and contemporary data. 22 species for which the region in which they were observed is not known (i.e. Not Applicable species) were not included in the regional counts.

Class	Order	Family	Belgium	Brussels	Flanders	Wallonia
Insecta	Hymenoptera	Andrenidae	93	59	80	81
		Apidae	101	77	92	97
		Colletidae	38	16	30	31
		Halictidae	86	55	71	82
		Megachilidae	76	32	61	67
		Melittidae	9	7	7	8
Total			403	246	341	366

Box 1 - BELBEES project (Abstract)

The BELBEES project is a conservation research project funded by the Belgian Science Policy (Belspo program BRAIN-be (Belgian Research Action through Interdisciplinary Networks)). This project develops a multidisciplinary assessment of decline of the Belgian wild bees in order to adapt mitigation management.

The general goals of the project are:

- to collect and analyze data on recent changes in wild bee populations in Belgium;

- to assess the respective roles of different assumptions on the decline to identify field action combinations needed to restore pollination service in agro-ecosystems.



Box 1 - BELBEES project (Abstract)

Apart from the overall assessment of wild bee status in Belgium, focused studies were performed into the wild bee (causes of) decline and the economic value of the ecosystem service pollination. Floral resources availabilities decreased significantly threatening most of the specialist bee species and constraining the generalist ones to shift their diet to different flower species (Roger et al. 2016a; Moerman et al. 2017; Jacquemin et al. 2018, *in prep*).

This resource shift has an impact on the bee health through the vulnerability to diseases and infections or the increased consumption of pollen and nectar (Vanderplanck et al. 2014, 2018; Moerman et al. 2015; Roger 2016b). The present main agriculture crops in Belgium do not require insect pollination. However, some large areas in Vlaams Brabant and Limburg are important fruit producer that could suffer significantly from pollinator loss (Jacquemin et al. 2017). Thistles revealed as very important resources for bumblebees (Vray et al. 2017).

Climate change appeared as a main threat against bumblebees as most of them are very sensitive to heat stress as occurring in heat waves (Martinet et al. in prep). Models show that most species might disappear in the next decades (Rasmont et al. 2015). While landscape changes had a negative impact on changes in the Belgian bumblebee fauna, land use and climate change appear as linked factors (Marshall et al. 2018; Vray 2018; Vray et al. 2019).

No population structure was found at the national scale (Belgium) (Maebe et al. 2016) nor in an international sampling for seven bumblebee species at continental scale (Europe) (Maebe et al. in prep). This indicates that there are (or have been until recently) few barriers to gene flow, even not threatened species that have shown a major reduction in geographic distribution. As well, an important result was also that there was no reduction in genetic diversity in the remaining populations of rare bumblebees in southern Belgium (Maebe et al. 2016).

A careful assessment on microbial pathogens in selected wild bee species showed that they included numerous previously hitherto unknown or underscribed taxa, with few or no connection with honey bee diseases (Schoonvaere et al. 2016). A pilot study on honeybees has been conducted to test the feasibility of adopting a biomarker-driven approach for studying insecticide-induced detoxification mechanisms in bees (De Smet et al. 2017). Results indicate that two gene expression biomarkers can potentially be used as indicators for imidacloprid-induced stress under field conditions.

Box 2 - SAPOLL project (Abstract)

The Interreg France-Wallonie-Vlaanderen SAPOLL (www.sapoll.eu) (2016-2020) project aims at initiating the creation of a cross-border action plan for pollinators with operators from Wallonia, Flanders and northern France. This plan is designed to encourage the development of actions for pollinators conservation by spreading scientific, didactic and applied contexts to all - that is to say to citizens, stakeholders, business managers and managers of natural areas. This plan is adapted to the local context of each region. It was made together with the members of the cross-border territory and exposes the goals and issues for the cross-border area as well as the actions that need to be done for pollinator conservation.

The SAPOLL project also organises additional actions that are essential for the creation and the success of the cross-border action plan. These actions facilitated the sharing of skills and the homogenisation of knowledge. Indeed, scientific knowledge, expertise in awareness raising or naturalist skills are very heterogeneous on the cross-border territory.

- Awareness raising for the general public: communication and awareness raising actions were done in order to inform as many people as possible of the pollinator decline.

- Organisation of observers networks: the naturalist network in the cross-border area was interconnected and homogenised through the animation of working groups and training courses.

- Scientific monitoring of wild pollinators: a global monitoring of pollinators was conducted on the whole cross-border territory. The area of high importance for pollination service was demarcated.



SAPOLL



Figure 3. Bee families recorded in Belgium: **A**. Andrenidae, female of *Andrena fulva*; **B**. Apidae, female of *Anthophora aestivalis*; **C**. Colletidae, female and male of *Colletes cunicularius*; **D**. Melittidae, female of *Dasypoda hirtipes*; **E**. Halictidae, female of *Lasioglossum sexnotatum*; **F**. Megachilidae, female of *Osmia niveata*. Photo credit: Nicolas J. Vereecken.

1.3 Ecology of Belgian bees

Bee ecology can be basically characterized through their sociality, nesting requirements (including nesting sites and sometimes building material), food resources and (micro)climatic envelope. Many morphological traits are associated to these ecological characteristics. A table of IUCN Red List status of Belgian bees with their main behavioural and functional traits is available in Appendix 2.

Sociality

The degree of sociality is highly variable among bees. The majority of species (245 out of a total of 403 species, or 61% with additional 5 species which can be either solitary or primitively eucosial) is **strictly solitary species**. Fertilized females build their nest by themselves and eventually die without contact with their offspring. Each brood cell is provisioned with pollen, nectar and one egg laid by the female. The larva hatching from this egg feeds on the stocked food and will emerge as new adult after nymphosis (Falk 2015; Vereecken 2017).

The 46 social species (11.5% of the total with additional 5 species which can be either solitary or primitively eucosial) show more complexe interactions among related individuals. In the **(primitively) eusocial species**, the cycle begins with mated queens funding a nest, raising daughters (i.e. workers) who will then build and maintain the nest, collect resources and raise additional offspring (Goulson 2010). Differences in the free-living phase of the queen (non-existent in Honeybee) can be mentioned as well as the degree of differentiation between castes. Sometimes there is even only a communal nest without differentiation between queen and workers. This type of sociality is found among the most commonly known bees (i.e. from general public and science) such as the Honey Bee (Apidae) and the bumblebees (Apidae), but also among well-known species belonging to the Halictidae (i.e. *Halictus* and *Lasioglossum*).

A third major social category gathers bee species that exploit the nest and resources of other bees, a form of brood parasitism called kleptoparasitism. These **cuckoo bees** comprise a significant part of bee diversity (105 species in Belgium, or 26% of total species diversity). They do not collect pollen and nectar but rely on the resources collected by their host species. They have quite a narrow spectrum of hosts and some seem exclusively linked to a single host bee species (Nieto et al. 2014). Three of the six families (i.e. Apidae, Halictidae and Megachilidae) include kleptoparasitic species (Vereecken 2017).

Nesting requirements

Nesting behaviour of bees can be categorised in two broad groups (excluding kleptoparasite species): the **ground-nesting digger** species (197 out of a total of 403 species, or 49%) - to which the majority of Belgian species belongs - and the species that nest **aboveground or in existing underground cavities** (99 out of a total of 403 species, or 24.5%) (Michener 2007). As highlighted by Potts et al. (2005), many ground-nesting species have highly specific requirements concerning the ground texture, sun exposure

- 18 -

and slope of the nesting sites. The first group can be exemplified by *Andrena*, *Lasioglossum* and *Colletes* species having a preference for (e.g. *Andrena fuscipes, Panurgus calcaratus*) or even a strict dependence on well-exposed sandy sites (e.g. *Andrena argentata, Colletes cunicularius*) (Vereecken et al. 2006; Falk 2015). Regarding the non-digging species, dependent on the species they use a variety of above ground cavities, for instance by excavating their galleries in plant stems, using hollow plant stems, natural or artificial holes (e.g. dead wood, walls, rock crevices, abandoned galleries of bees or rodents, ...), bee hostels, ... (Westrich 1989; Falk 2015; Vereecken 2017). Some *Osmia* species even nest exclusively in empty snail shells (Helicidae; *Osmia andrenoides, O. aurulenta, O. bicolor, O. rufohirta and O. spinulosa*)! Besides this, some species also collect specific materials to build their nest or line the brood cells in cavities or in the soil, such as resin, pieces of masticated leaves, cut petals or leaves and even mud and small stones (Wcislo & Cane 1996, Michener 2007; Müller 2011; Vereecken 2017). Finally, bumblebees and the honeybee are known to secrete wax by their abdomen to build nest cells (Westrich 1989; Falk 2015; Vereecken 2017).

Food resources

Wild bees rely on pollen as a source of protein and lipids during larval development and on nectar as an energy source throughout their life cycle, and sometimes also on floral oils (genus Macropis) (Michener 2007). Several foraging strategies can be described based on the range of plant species from which pollen is collected to feed the larvae. While some taxa (called generalist species) forage on a wide range of plant species (i.e. variety of plant families and genera), other bee species restrict their flower visits to closely related plant taxa (i.e. called specialist species) (Dötterl & Vereecken 2010). To describe the continuum in bee foraging strategies, three terms have then been formulated (from extreme specialization to extreme generalization): (i) monolecty (only one host plant species); (ii) oligolecty (within one host plant family) and (iii) polylecty (more than one host plant family) (Cane & Sipes 2006; Müller & Kuhlmann 2008). Subcategories were also put forward for both oligolecty (i.e. Narrow oligolecty, Broad oligolecty, Eclectic oligolecty) and polylecty (i.e. Polylecty with strong preference, Mesolecty, Polylecty sensus stricto) categories to accurately characterise the different degrees of host flower specialization (proposed by Cane & Sipes (2006) and modified by Müller & Kuhlmann (2008)). A third terminology followed for the present report is the one by Müller & Kuhlmann (2008): (i) Specialised bees which gathers monolectic and oligolectic bees (i.e. Narrow, Broad and Eclectic oligolecty) (in Belgium 87 bee species, or 21.5%, Appendix 2), (ii) Opportunistic bees with strong preference which gathers polylectic bees with a strong preference for one plant clade (11 species, 2.7%) and (iii) Opportunistic bees (184 species, 45.6%) which gathers mesolecty and polylecty sensus stricto subcategories. Apart from the kleptoparasites species which have not been taken into account, the foraging strategy of 16 additionnal species is unknown.

As for nectar collection, it is generally undertaken on a wider range of plant species, but this can be influenced by flower morphology (Westrich 1989). The harvest of these two food resources requires morphological adaptations, such as the shape and the size of the body and the length and structure of the proboscis/tongue (i.e. the labio-maxillary complexe) which can be elongated in order to reach deep-lying nectar in tubular flowers (Wcislo & Cane 1996; Falk 2015). While Apidae and Megachilidae contain **long-tongued species** that are able to collect nectar from flowers with long corolla tubes, species of the other families (i.e. Andrenidae, Colletidae, Halictidae and Melittidae) have a **short tongue** and mostly collect readily accessible nectar from flowers with a short or without corolla tube (Willmer 2011). Additionally, most bee species (with the exception of kleptoparasitic species) have morphological features (i.e. **corbicula on the hind legs** of *Apis* and *Bombus*; **collecting hairs on the ventral surface** of the abdomen of Megachilidae; **collecting hairs on the hind legs** of bee species of other Apidae, Colletidae, Andrenidae, Melittidae and Halictidae; and floral resources **carried back in a particular crop to be regurgitated into the nest**) allowing them to collect and transport pollen from the flowers to the nest (Westrich 1989; Falk 2015; Vereecken 2017).

It is also important to keep in mind that both food resources and nesting site and building materials have to be close enough to each other to be situated within the flight range of the bees. If this is not the case, only a partial habitat is present and the species will be absent (Westrich 1996). The maximal foraging distance will vary according to the bee species, from a little more than 100 meters for small species to several kilometres for large and good flying species (e.g. 200m for *Chelostoma rapunculi*, 2300 m for *Bombus pascuorum*) (Gathmann & Tscharntke 2002; Chapman et al. 2003; Zurbuchen et al. 2010a). Moreover, the maximal foraging distance probably overestimates the maximal distance between foraging and nesting sites needed to maintain bee populations. Indeed, an increasing distance between both habitats has an impact on the number of offspring (Zurbuchen 2010b) which is amplified by the fact that most females usually do not forage as far as their maximal range (Zurbuchen et al. 2010a). This is presumably due to the increasing time and energy investment in the actual flight with increasing distance.

Climatic enveloppe

The climatic envelope has a large impact on the occurrence of bee species and species at the edge of their bioclimatic range often only occur in sites with very specific and suitable microclimates. For instance, bee species that are at the northern limit of their range in Belgium, like *Osmia andrenoides*, will be restricted to habitats with the warmest microclimate, such as south-facing calcareous grasslands (e.g. the "Belvédère" at Han-sur-Lesse in the Calestienne region, Pauly & Vereecken (2018)). Several bee species with a southern distribution have recently been discovered in Belgium (e.g. *Hylaeus punctatus*) or are currently expanding their range in Belgium (e.g. *Panurgus dentipes, Halictus*)

- 20 -

scabiosae), probably as a result of climate warming. On the other hand, bumblebees are typically adapted to colder climates and in the future Belgian climate may become unsuitable for species like *Bombus jonellus* and *Bombus soroeensis* (Rasmont et al. 2015).

1.4 Importance of bees in pollination

The pollination (i.e. transfer of pollen from one flower to another) carried out by insects such as bees, hoverflies, butterflies... (so-called pollinators) during their flower visits (i.e. for pollen, nectar, plant oils) can fertilize plants and enable their sexual reproduction. According to Ollerton et al. (2011), the proportion of animal-pollinated plants in temperate regions is on average 78%. Given their ubiquity and tight association with flowering plants, bees are a keystone species group in natural and agricultural ecosystems.

The value of crop production for human food, the estimated value of insect pollination to this production and the vulnerability of food production to pollinator losses for the year 2010 have recently been calculated in Belgium (Jacquemin et al. 2017). The contribution of insect pollinators to human food production was estimated at 251.6 million euros (11.1 % of the total value of Belgian plant production). The area most at risk in case of pollination losses is Northern Belgium and especially the province of Limburg. The large difference between regions are linked to the concentration of fruit and pollination-dependent vegetable production in certain regions in northern Belgium while other regions are focused on animal production or on crops that are less dependent on (animal) pollination (cereals, sugar beets, potatoes, maize).

Several studies highlighted the importance of enhanced bee pollination which can lead to multiple benefits (e.g. increased production, better crop quality and shelf life, yield stability and higher commercial value for many enthomophilous crops) in the case of strawberries (Klatt et al. 2014) and apples (Garratt et al. 2014, Garibaldi et al. 2011). While some crop plants can only be pollinated by a limited number of bees (Klein et al. 2007), it has also been shown that wild pollinators (i.e. bees, hoverflies, butterflies) are responsible for a greater proportion of the pollination service than previously thought and attributed to the Honey Bee (Garibaldi et al. 2013).

1.5 Population trends of Belgian bees

The first warning about the decline of wild bee species came from Peters (1972) in Germany and from Gaspar et al. (1975) in Belgium. These authors highlighted that several bee species formerly common were disappearing, such as *Melecta luctuosa* or *Coelioxys* spp. (Gaspar et al. 1975). Simultaneously, Leclercq (1976) reported that several bumblebee species completely disappeared from his native "Pays de Herve" (Province of Liège, Belgium). As an example, *Bombus sylvarum* was very abundant everywhere in this area before the Second World War but disappeared completely in the 1960s. Ball

(1914, 1920) and Bols (1939) recorded a Belgian bumblebee fauna that comprised about 30 species. In the 1970s, it had already become impossible to observe such diversity. All these species disappeared not only from the localised areas where naturalists made observations, but also in most parts of Belgium (Rasmont & Pauly 2010; Vray et al. 2019).

While the 1980's were marked by an involvement of various researchers to study and monitor wild bees in bordering countries of Belgium, Williams (1982) was the first to clearly quantify that habitat fragmentation was the main bee threat in South-England. A first quantitative assessment of the Belgian bumblebee fauna led to the hypothesis that the main causes of the decline was the deep modification in agriculture (Rasmont 1988; Rasmont & Mersch 1988). They pointed out the great regression of leguminous crops (e.g. clovers, alfalfa and sainfoin) in the landscape, decreasing from 163.700 ha in 1908 to less than 2.500 ha in 1985. Given the fact that these disappeared bumblebee species were mostly linked to Fabaceae, the authors made the connection with this loss of resources. In addition to this regression, the landscape composition has drastically changed since the last century namely through an increase in intensively managed grasslands (with higher livestock densities and fertilisers), an increase in planted woodlands, a strong decrease of orchards and heathlands as well as an increase in urbanization and in population density leading to the expanding of settlements and gardens (Christians 1998; Barlow & Thorburn 2000; Senapathi et al. 2015; Vray et al. 2019).

In 1993, Rasmont et al. published the first comprehensive study of the status of the whole Belgian wild bee fauna (see Appendix 1). Based on a dataset of 181.894 specimens, a comparison of the fauna distribution before and after 1950 (following the statistical method from Stroot & Depiereux 1989) allowed the authors to conclude:

- Among the 360 recorded species, 91 species were in regression (i.e. 25.2%), 145 were more or less stable (i.e. 40.2%), 39 were in expansion (i.e. 10.8%), and the status of 85 species could not be determined (i.e. 23.5%);
- Compared to the short-tongued species, the long-tongued ones suffered a much steeper decline, which is indicative of a strong regression of plants with long corollae (i.e. Fabaceae, Lamiaceae, Scrophulariaceae, Boraginaceae) and namely to the demise of leguminous crops (Rasmont & Mersch 1988);
- The kleptoparasitic species also showed a strong regression, even for species that parasitize the short-tongued bees. The authors hypothesised that this strong regression indicates an absolute numerical decrease of the wild bee fauna as a whole without a decrease of the occupied area at least for the more common host species.

In 2010 the EU PF7 STEP project (*Status and Trends of European Pollinators*) was launched and represented one of the first international initiatives to evaluate wild pollinator population trends at the continental scale. This project aimed at carrying out a comprehensive assessment of the European

Union pollinators, with a special focus on bees (Potts et al. 2015). The project resulted in (i) a Red List of European Bees (Nieto et al. 2014) to support direct conservation efforts at the national and continental level; (ii) a multi-scale as well as multi-species assessment of the shifts in pollinator populations and distribution across Europe (i.e. Bommarco et al. 2012) and Belgium (i.e. Carvalheiro et al. 2013); (iii) the identification of single threat drivers (e.g. climate change, Rasmont et al. 2015; pesticides, Sandrock et al. 2014) but also the key drivers of change (González-Varo et al. 2013). In addition, reserarch conducted in the framework of the STEP project also identified the pollinators actually pollinating crops (Riedinger et al. 2015) which allows to focus mitigation measures on taxa of the highest economic importance.

1.6 Objectives of the assessment

In line with the European Red List of bees (Nieto et al. 2014), the Belgian regional Red List assessment has four main objectives:

- To contribute to national and regional conservation action plans (e.g. the SAPOLL cross-border action plan (Folschweiller et al. 2019), Brussels Bee Atlas) through the provision of an updated dataset reporting the status of Belgian bee species following the IUCN methodology.
- To identify priority geographic areas to be conserved in order to prevent further regional extinctions and to ensure that Belgian bees reach and maintain a favourable conservation status.
- To compare the risk of extinction between taxonomic and ecological groups in order to better design mitigation strategies.
- To reinforce the experts network focused on bee conservation in Belgium in order to keep assessment information up to date and to address the highest conservation priorities.

The assessment provides three main outputs:

- This summary report on the status of all 403 bee species recorded in Belgium.
- A freely available compiled database holding the baseline data for assessing the status and distribution of Belgian bees.
- A specific section will be developed on the Atlas Hymenoptera website (http://www.atlashymenoptera.net/) showcasing data in the format of species factsheets for all Belgian bees assessed in this Red List.

The data presented in this report provide a snapshot based on the knowledge available at the time of writing (i.e. database 1900 – 2017; writing and publication 2017 – 2019). The database will continue to be updated and made freely and widely available through the different web portals (i.e. https://observations.be; https://waarnemingen.be/; http://www.atlashymenoptera.net/).

The consortium of the Belbees project will ensure wide dissemination of these data and results to relevant decision makers, NGOs, scientists and practitioners to support the implementation of conservation actions on the ground.

2. Assessment methodology

2.1 Geographic scope

The geographic scope of this Red List of bees is nation-wide (i.e. Belgium) and therefore focussed on the entire territory. Assessments were conducted at the national scale but regional situations (i.e. Wallonia, Flanders, Brussels) were reviewed in case of relevant information (e.g. defining features linked habitats and distributions in each region) and/or significant differences between regions.

2.2 Taxonomic scope

The initial species list was based on Nieto et al. (2014) updated in Rasmont et al. (2017a) who listed all bee species occurring in Europe and Belgium. We followed the taxonomic position of these two publications as well as the one of Scheuchl & Willner (2016) for species groups with taxonomic uncertainties (see 3.4 "Knowledge gaps" for details). A total of 403 bee species was considered. However, the list of assessed species does not include the new species for Belgium recorded in the last 10 years or species recorded only once in Belgium. Based on this criteria 22 species were classified as Not Applicable (NA).

2.3 Data set

National and regional datasets (Table 2) were compiled from the database *Banque de Données Fauniques de Gembloux et Mons* (BDFGM). As highlighted by Vray (2018), this dataset gathers old (e.g. the Hymenoptera collection of F. J. Ball (Ball 1914, 1920) as well as recent Belgian records (e.g. data coming from university collections, scientific monitoring and NGO initiatives with naturalist platforms (https://observations.be/ and https://waarnemingen.be/). This dataset covers the whole country and has benefited from a large increase of observations since 1970 (Figure 2; Table 2).

Type of database	Number of individuals	Number of database entries
Waarnemingen.be/observations.be	494,265	122,708
BDFGM (Rasmont P. & Haubruge E.)	255,100	127,779
DEMNA (Wallonia)	34,936	6,959
UFZ (Warncke)	6,393	6,393
RBINS	5,108	3,529
UGMD (Universiteit Gent)	1,057	1,058
UNamur	382	230
NMR (Netherlands)	298	298
Total	797,539	268,954

Table 2. Number of individuals and database entries.

2.4 Assessment protocol

Bibliographic information linked to each bee species was compiled from the European assessments of bees (Nieto et al. 2014), Atlas Hymenoptera (Rasmont & Haubruge 2002) and key literature references (e.g. Rasmont et al. 1993; Scheuchl & Willner 2016; Rasmont et al. 2017a, b; Pauly 2019a).

It concerns:

- Taxonomic classification
- European Red List Categories and criteria
- Belgian distribution (i.e. map of each species)
- Habitat preferences and primary ecological requirements
- Location in main nature reserves
- Key literature references

Five workshops were held between September 2017 and Augustus 2018 to assess the status of species in the different families and genera. Following these, further email exchanges between experts helped to resolve questions and refine assessments.

Three functional traits were considered as possibly associated with extinction risk (see results). These are the host plant range, sociality and nesting behaviour (listed in Appendix 2).

First, the bee host plant range was split in three main categories following Müller & Kuhlmann in 2008: (i) **Specialised bees**, (ii) **Opportunistic bees with strong preference** (e.g. *Colletes hederae, Bombus confusus*) and (iii) **Opportunistic bees**. As the host plant preferences vary somewhat according to the author, we followed as far as possible a single reference (Scheuchl & Willner 2016). For the remaining species that were not included (*Andrena cinerea* and some *Lasioglossum* species) Falk (2015), Nieto et al. (2014) and Pauly (2019a) were consulted.

For the next two functional traits, information come from two databases: a database developed in the scope of the EU FP6 ALARM and EU FP7 STEP projects as well as a national database based on a wide search of European bee literature but also on researcher expertise (e.g. Westrich 1989; Moretti et al. 2009). Complement of information (see Richards 2011; Pauly 2019a) were needed for the sociality of *L. monstrificum* and *Seladonia leucahenea* for which data traits were not available.

The sociality was analysed and divided in three categories: (i) **solitary**, (ii) **primitively eusocial** (excluding the eusocial *Apis mellifera*) and (iii) **kleptoparasitic** (i.e. parasites of social and solitary species) bees.

Seven categories were used to define the nesting behaviour: (i) Excavator - Ground, (ii) Excavator - Deadstems, (iii) Carder, (iv) Renter - Existing cavities above ground, (v) Renter - Existing cavities below ground, (vi) Renter - Snail shells and (vii) Mason.

2.5 Importance of time scales and compared periods

The time scale proposed by the IUCN to assess a variation in population size is 10 years (or at least 3 generations). Instead, for this Red List of Belgian bees, two time periods were compared (i.e. 1900 – 1969 versus 1970 – 2017). This is because we were mainly interested in obtaining a risk assessment based on the major changes in the Belgian bee fauna that occurred during the last century. This period corresponds to the main land use changes that occurred in more recent times in Belgium (i.e. agricultural moto-mechanization and the spread of the use of chemical fertilizers between 1930 and 1970 (Mazoyer & Roudart 2006) and its increase in urbanized areas mainly since 1970-1980) and the onset of climate change (i.e. mainly since the 1970's; IPCC 2013).

Given the absence of previous Red List versions, this work presents a baseline Red List with extinction risk assessments based on how bee species are impacted by these major land use changes as well as climate change. Next versions of the Red List may focus on risk assessments based on more recent trends. However, accurate trend calculation depends on the year-by-year generation of a sufficient number of high-quality records with large geographic coverage and/or the set-up of a monitoring network.

One aspect that has to be taken into account when comparing different time periods is the change in the number and behaviour patterns of observers through time. This leads to differences in (i) the sampling methods (e.g. sampling strategies with focus or not on hotspots and/or easily recognized species, sampling areas, sampling frequencies), (ii) the number of records (i.e. more recent data namely linked to the advent of citizen sciences) and (iii) the sampling aims (e.g. inventory of a special place, insect boxes of students, comparison with old data in a same place, research programs, looking into rare species for conservation purposes, ...).

To take into account the difference in the number of records between both time periods we used the same sampling bias control as applied by Fichefet et al. (2008) for the Red List of butterflies in Wallonia. Differences in sampling method and aim were as much as possible taken into account during the species assessments. To do so, we only compared trends in areas (1*1 km UTM square) that were sampled at least once during both two time periods.

2.6 IUCN criteria: from continental (Europe) to country (Belgian) scale

Red Lists provide a classification of species according to their extinction risk in the geographic area under consideration. The IUCN Red List Categories and Criteria provide an explicit, objective framework for Red List assessments (IUCN 2012a, b), and are followed here. In national scale Red Lists, species are classified in eleven Categories based on a set of quantitative criteria which are linked to population size, structure, trends as well as geographic range (IUCN 2012a, b; Nieto et al. 2014) (Figure 4). Threatened species are classified in three Categories [i.e. Vulnerable (VU), Endangered (EN) and Critically Endangered (CR)]. A taxon is Near Threatened (NT) when it has been evaluated and does not qualify for the three before-mentioned categories but is close to qualifying for or is likely to qualify in the near future. Species that are not threatened fall in the category Least Concern (LC). Categories Regionally Extinct (RE) and Not Applicable (NA) are specifically applied for regional or national assessments (IUCN 2012b). Species that are Regionally Extinct are considered as no longer present in



Belgium. Species that haven't been observed in Belgium since 1990, making it very unlikely

that they are still present in the country (e.g. *B. distinguendus*), were in this way included in the RE category. As the criteria should only be applied to wild populations inside their natural range (IUCN 2012b), bee species that were only observed once with one individual were assigned to the category NA in beforehand. It is unclear for those

Figure 4. The IUCN Red List categories for assessments at regional scale.

species whether they ever had a population in Belgium. As soon as there were several individuals, observation dates or locations (5 x 5 km UTM squares) in the database, the species was considered as having had a wild population in Belgium. Given the relatively low search effort for bees, more stringent criteria such as the recommended 10 consecutive years of reproduction could not be applied.

As mentioned by the IUCN (2012b) and Gärdenfors et al. (2001), regional assessments should be undertaken by, firstly, applying the *IUCN Red List Category and Criteria* (IUCN 2012a) to the regional populations in order to provide a preliminary estimate of the extinction risk. This initial category is then adjusted following information about breeding and visiting populations (e.g. presence of bordering populations, conditions within the region). Based on this, the initial category of each species can be up/downgraded.

The applied methodology for this Belgian Red List of bees has previously been used for the Red List of butterflies in Wallonia (Belgium) by Fichefet et al. (2008). In order to assign a Category to each species, five criteria can be considered (IUCN 2012a):

- A. Population size reduction
- B. Geographic range
- C. Small population size and decline
- D. Very small or restricted population
- E. Quantitative analysis of extinction risk

For this national assessment, only criteria A and B can be evaluated as appropriate data for the other categories are lacking.

Criterion A: Population size reduction between both periods (P1 et P2) based on A1 to A4

A1. Population reduction observed, estimated, inferred, or suspected in the past. This criterion supposes that all the decline causes are clearly reversible, understood and have ceased. In Belgium, these causes are multiple, not always understood and nearly always ongoing.

A2. Population reduction observed, estimated, inferred, or suspected in the past but this criterion supposes that these reduction causes may not have ceased or not be understood or not be reversible. It is most often used criterion for invertebrates (Table 3). Two indicator elements were specifically used to define A2:

A2b. An abundance index appropriate to the taxon.

A2c. Decline in area of occupancy (AOO), extent of occurrence (EOO) and/or habitat quality (HAB). The last one can't be derived from databases of species distribution but can be added following expert opinion.

A3. This criterion implies a population reduction projected, inferred or suspected in the future. This criterion is difficult to apply given a lack of studies predicting future species changes. The *Climatic Risk and Distribution Atlas of European Bumblebees* (Rasmont et al. 2015) could allow to take into account this criterion for bumblebee species at European scale but not at this national scale, given the fact that modelisations of this Atlas were made at 50 x 50 km UTM square (i.e. scale incompatibility).

A4. This criterion is based on an observed, estimated, inferred, projected or suspected population reduction in a time period including both the past and the future. It supposes that the reduction causes

may not have ceased or not be understood or not be reversible. This criterion is difficult to apply for the same reason as the previous criterion.

	Criterion A - Population size variation between both periods (P1 et P2)				
	POPULATION 1x1 km UTM squares		SURFACE 5x5 km and 10 x10 km UTM squares		AREA 10x10 km UTM squares
Measure of decline	Population number (1x1 km squares) corrected for sampling bias in both periods	OR	Area of occupancy (5x5 km and 10x10 km squares) corrected for sampling bias in both periods	OR	Extent of occurrence by comparing P1/P2 and P1/All (without sampling control)
	A2b = CR<-80% <en<-50% <vu<-30%<nt<-20%< th=""><th></th><th>A2c_AOO= CR<-80%<en<- 50% <vu<-30%<nt<-20%< th=""><th></th><th>A2c_EOO= CR<- 80%<en<-50% vu<-<br="">30%<nt<-20%< th=""></nt<-20%<></en<-50%></th></vu<-30%<nt<-20%<></en<- </th></vu<-30%<nt<-20%<></en<-50% 		A2c_AOO= CR<-80% <en<- 50% <vu<-30%<nt<-20%< th=""><th></th><th>A2c_EOO= CR<- 80%<en<-50% vu<-<br="">30%<nt<-20%< th=""></nt<-20%<></en<-50%></th></vu<-30%<nt<-20%<></en<- 		A2c_EOO= CR<- 80% <en<-50% vu<-<br="">30%<nt<-20%< th=""></nt<-20%<></en<-50%>

Table 3. Summary of the criterion A with its decision rules for this Red List.

Based on the Table 3, 5 indicators allow us to assess the threat level. As settled by IUCN (2012a), the highest category resulting from each of the 5 indicators determines the global category for criterion A.

Criteron B: Geographic range based on B1 and/or B2 and its variation over time

Proposed IUCN threshold areas for B1 and B2 cannot be applied at the national scale given the very restricted geographic area. We decided to use adapted thresholds which characterise the national situation as faithfully as possible, as already done by Fichefet et al. (2008) (Table 4).

B1. Extent of occurrence (EOO) using 10x10 km UTM squares and changes between both periods.

B2. Area of occupancy (AOO) using 1x1 km and 5x5 km UTM squares and changes between both periods.

Both sub-criteria have to meet at least two of the three following conditions:

(a) Observation of population fragmentation. This sub-criterion is not used with the number of locations which is already equivalent to B2 (1x1km). For very restricted populations, the criterion C

can be used. In the absence of fixed thresholds, a percentile logic was used to define the fragmentation (Table 3).

(b) Decline in (i) extent of occurrence, (ii) area of occupancy, (iii) area, extent and/or quality of habitat, (iv) number of locations or subpopulations, (v) number of mature individuals. While (iv) can be associated to (ii), the last sub-condition (v) can't be obtained from the database.

(c) Extreme fluctuations. This sub-criterion can't be obtained from the database. Nevertheless, it could be activated following an expert opinion.

Criterion B - Population size reduced in P2					
Reduced RANGE		FRAGMENTATION		DECLINE	
Extent of occurrence		Fragmentation index of the			
(EOO) (10x10 km)		distribution area			
B1 = CR< 5, EN< 15,		Increase of the fragmentation of		Decline of the area of	
VU< 30, NT< 50		the distribution area		occupancy (1x1, 5x5,	
squares					10x10 km)
OR		Fragmentation index of the		Decline in the number of	
	AND	occupied area	AND	observations (1x1, 5x5,	
		Increase of the fragmentation of		10x10 km)	
REDUCED AREA		the occupied area		Decline of the extent of	
Area of occupancy				occurrence (10x10 km)	
(AOO) (1x1 and 5x5		Q1 (=*), P10 (=**) and P5 (=***)			
km)					
B2 = CR< 5, EN< 15,				(b) : at least one indicator	
VU< 30, NT< 50		(a) : at least one indicator < Q1		< -20%	
squares					

Table 4. Summary of the criterion B with decision rules for this Red List.

Based on the Table 4, respectively 4 and 7 indicators allow us to assess the threat level with B1 and/or B2. As settled by IUCN (2012a), the highest threat category of the indicators determines the global category of criterion B. Both criteria analyses are processed and the more threatened status is taken on. The highest threat category for criteria A and B defines the final category of the bee species.

3. Results

3.1 Threat status

Consistently with the guidelines of IUCN (2016), we selected the mid-point figure to estimate the proportion of threatened species. This way, 32.8% of the species are considered threatened at the national scale (Table 5). Nevertheless, due to the 9.4% of species which are DD, this percentage is uncertain and could lie between 29.7% (if all the DD species are not threatened) and 39.1% (if all the DD species are threatened). Figure 5.A shows the proportion of each IUCN Red List Category for Belgian bees. In Belgium, 12.3% of bees were assessed as Critically Endangered (47 species), 8.4% are Endangered (32 species) and 8.9% as Vulnerable (34 species). A further 6.8% of bee species are considered Near Threatened (26 species). In addition, 11.8% (45 species) are regarded as Regionally Extinct (Table 6). Species classified as Regionally Extinct, threatened (Critically Endangered, Endangered and Vulnerable) or Near Threatened in Belgium represent 53.3% (184 species) by considering the mid-point value and are listed in Table 7.

In comparison, on the 360 bee species assessed in 1993, 25.2% were in regression (91 species), 40.2% were stable (145 species), 10.8% were in expansion (39 species), and 23.5% had an unknown status (85 species) in Belgium (Rasmont et al. 1993). At European scale 9.2% of bee species are considered threatened (Nieto et al. 2014; Fig. 5.B). This percentage is highly uncertain however, since no less than 57% of European bees are listed as DD (Fig. 5.B). As a result, the proportion of threatened species could potentially lie between 4% and 60.7% (Nieto et al. 2014; Table 5).

	Belgium % threat	Europe % threat
Lower bound	20.7%	40/
(CR+EN+VU) / (assessed – EX)	29.7%	4%
Mid-point		
(CR+EN+VU) / (assessed – EX – DD)	32.8%	9.2%
Upper bound		
(CR+EN+VU+DD) / (assessed – EX)	39.1%	60.7%

Table 5. Proportion of threatened species in Belgium according to the bound (i.e. lower, mid and upper bound).

IUCN Red List Categories	No. species Belgium	No. species Europe
Extinct (EX)	0	0
Extinct in the Wild (EW)	0	0
Regionally Extinct (RE)	45	0
Critically Endangered (CR)	47	7
Endangered (EN)	32	46
Vulnerable (VU)	34	24
Near Threatened (NT)	26	101
Least Concern (LC)	161	663
Data Deficient (DD)	36	1,101
Total number of species assessed	381	1,942

*This table does not include the Not Applicable species in Belgium (22).



Figure 5. A. IUCN Red List status of bees in Belgium ; **B.** IUCN Red List status of bees in Europe (Nieto et al. 2014).



Osmia cornuta (Least Concern). Maxime Drossart

Family	Species	Ree	Red List status		
ганну	Species	Belgium	Europe		
Megachilidae	Aglaoapis tridentata	RE	LC		
Andrenidae	Andrena chrysopyga	RE	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena distinguenda	RE	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena floricola	RE	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena gelriae	RE	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena limata	RE	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena marginata	RE	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena thoracica	RE	DD		
Apidae	Anthophora aestivalis	RE	LC		
Apidae	Anthophora borealis	RE	NT		
Apidae	Anthophora plagiata	RE	LC		
Apidae	Biastes truncatus	RE	VU		
Apidae	Bombus confusus	RE	VU		
Apidae	Bombus cullumanus	RE	CR		
Apidae	Bombus distinguendus	RE	VU		
Apidae	Bombus pomorum	RE	VU		
Apidae	Bombus subterraneus	RE	LC		
Apidae	Bombus wurflenii	RE	LC		
Megachilidae	Coelioxys emarginatus	RE	LC (C. emarginata)		
Melittidae	Dasypoda argentata	RE	NT		
Halictidae	Dufourea minuta	RE	NT		
Megachilidae	Hoplitis papaveris	RE	LC		
Megachilidae	Hoplitis villosa	RE	LC		
Colletidae	Hylaeus pilosulus	RE	DD		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum breviventre	RE	EN		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum interruptum	RE	LC		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum laeve	RE	EN		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum lineare	RE	DD		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum nigripes	RE	LC		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum politum	RE	LC		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum subfasciatum	RE	EN		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum subhirtum	RE	LC		
Apidae	Nomada argentata	RE	NT		
Apidae	Nomada castellana	RE	LC		
Apidae	Nomada emarginata	RE	LC		
Apidae	Nomada melathoracica	RE	LC		
Apidae	Nomada mutabilis	RE	LC		
Apidae	Nomada pleurosticta	RE	NT		
Apidae	Nomada rhe <u>nana</u>	RE	NT		
Apidae	Nomada roberje <u>otiana</u>	RE	NT		
Megachilidae	Osmia pilicornis	RE	LC		
Megachilidae	Osmia xanthomelana	RE	LC		
Halictidae	Rhophitoides canus	RE	LC		
Megachilidae	Stelis minima	RE	LC		
Megachilidae	Stelis minuta	RE	LC		

Table 7. Regionally Extinct and (near) threatened bee species at national scale (Belgium). As a comparison, status in the European Red List is also listed (Nieto et al. 2014).

Family	Species —	Re	Red List status		
Family		Belgium	Europe		
Apidae	Ammobates punctatus	CR	LC		
Andrenidae	Andrena combinata	CR	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena curvungula	CR	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena ferox	CR	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena nigriceps	CR	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena polita	CR	LC		
Andrenidae	Andrena potentillae	CR	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena similis	CR	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena synadelpha	CR	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena varians	CR	LC		
Apidae	Anthophora bimaculata	CR	LC		
Apidae	Bombus barbutellus	CR	LC		
Apidae	Bombus humilis	CR	LC		
Apidae	Bombus muscorum	CR	VU		
Apidae	Bombus ruderatus	CR	LC		
Apidae	Bombus sylvarum	CR	LC		
Apidae	Bombus veteranus	CR	LC		
Megachilidae	Coelioxys afer	CR	LC (C. afra)		
Megachilidae	Coelioxys conoideus	CR	LC (C. conoidea)		
Megachilidae	Coelioxys quadridendatus	CR	LC (C. quadridentata)		
Halictidae	Dufourea halictula	CR	NT ,		
Halictidae	Dufourea inermis	CR	NT		
Apidae	Epeolus tarsalis	CR	NT		
Halictidae	Halictus eurygnathus	CR	LC (H. compressus)		
Halictidae	Halictus quadricinctus	CR	NT ,		
Megachilidae	Hoplitis anthocopoides	CR	LC		
Megachilidae	Hoplitis ravouxi	CR	LC		
Colletidae	Hylaeus leptocephalus	CR	LC		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum costulatum	CR	NT		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum quadrinotatum	CR	NT		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum tarsatum	CR	NT		
Megachilidae	Megachile analis	CR	DD		
Megachilidae	Megachile genalis	CR	DD		
Megachilidae	Megachile lagopoda	CR	LC		
Megachilidae	Megachile maritima	CR	DD		
Megachilidae	Megachile pilidens	CR	LC		
Apidae	Melecta luctuosa	CR	LC		
Apidae	Nomada mutica	CR	NT		
Apidae	Nomada obtusifrons	CR	NT		
Apidae	Nomada piccioliana	CR	LC		
Apidae	Nomada sexfasciata	CR	LC		
Megachilidae	Osmia andrenoides	CR	LC		
Halictidae	Rophites quinquespinosus	CR	NT		
Halictidae	Seladonia leucahenea	CR	VU (H. leucaheneus)		
Halictidae	Sphecodes rubicundus	CR	NT		
Halictidae	Sphecodes rufiventris	CR	LC		
Halictidae	Sphecodes spinulosus	CR	NT		

Family	Species —	Re	Red List status		
Fairing		Belgium	Europe		
Andrenidae	Andrena agilissima	EN	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena coitana	EN	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena fulvida	EN	NT		
Andrenidae	Andrena intermedia	EN	LC		
Andrenidae	Andrena schencki	EN	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena tarsata	EN	DD		
Apidae	Anthophora retusa	EN	LC		
Apidae	Bombus cryptarum	EN	LC		
Apidae	Bombus magnus	EN	LC		
Apidae	Bombus ruderarius	EN	LC		
Apidae	Bombus rupestris	EN	LC		
Halictidae	Dufourea dentiventris	EN	NT		
Apidae	Eucera nigrescens	EN	LC		
Halictidae	Halictus simplex	EN	LC		
Colletidae	Hylaeus angustatus	EN	LC		
Colletidae	Hylaeus nigritus	EN	LC		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum brevicorne	EN	NT		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum prasinum	EN	NT		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum xanthopus	EN	NT		
Megachilidae	Megachile circumcincta	EN	LC		
Apidae	Nomada armata	EN	NT		
Apidae	Nomada distinguenda	EN	LC		
Apidae	Nomada furva	EN	DD		
Apidae	Nomada fuscicornis	EN	LC		
Apidae	Nomada opaca	EN	NT		
Apidae	Nomada similis	EN	LC		
Apidae	Nomada villosa	EN	NT		
Megachilidae	Osmia parietina	EN	LC		
Megachilidae	Osmia rufohirta	EN	LC		
Megachilidae	Osmia uncinata	EN	LC		
Halictidae	Sphecodes scabricollis	EN	DD		
Apidae	Thyreus orbatus	EN	LC		
Andrenidae	Andrena fucata	VU	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena helvola	VU	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena lapponica	VU	LC		
Andrenidae	Andrena nitidiuscula	VU	LC		
Andrenidae	Andrena pandellei	VU	LC		
Apidae	Bombus campestris	VU	LC		
Apidae	Bombus jonellus	VU	LC		
Apidae	Bombus norvegicus	VU	LC		
Apidae	Bombus soroeensis	VU	LC		
Megachilidae	Chelostoma distinctum	VU	LC		
Megachilidae	Coelioxys alatus	VU	LC (<i>C. alata</i>)		
Megachilidae	Coelioxys elongatus	VU	LC (<i>C. elongata</i>)		
Megachilidae	Coelioxys mandibularis	VU	LC		
Apidae	Eucera longicornis	VU	LC		
Halictidae	Halictus maculatus	VU	LC		

Formile .	Constitut	Re	Red List status		
Family	Species	Belgium	Europe		
Halictidae	Halictus sexcinctus	VU	LC		
Megachilidae	Hoplitis claviventris	VU	LC		
Colletidae	Hylaeus rinki	VU	LC		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum laevigatum	VU	NT		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum minutulum	VU	NT		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum monstrificum	VU	NT (<i>L. sabulosum</i>)		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum pygmaeum	VU	NT		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum quadrinotatulum	VU	NT		
Megachilidae	Megachile alpicola	VU	DD		
Megachilidae	Megachile leachella	VU	LC		
Mellitidae	Melitta tricincta	VU	NT		
Apidae	Nomada femoralis	VU	LC		
Apidae	Nomada integra	VU	LC		
Apidae	Nomada striata	VU	LC		
Halictidae	Seladonia confusa	VU	LC (H. confusus)		
Halictidae	Sphecodes marginatus	VU	LC		
Halictidae	Sphecodes niger	VU	LC		
Megachilidae	Stelis ornatula	VU	LC		
Megachilidae	Stelis signata	VU	LC		
Andrenidae	Andrena angustior	NT	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena argentata	NT	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena bimaculata	NT	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena denticulata	NT	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena fulvago	NT	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena hattorfiana	NT	NT		
Andrenidae	Andrena labialis	NT	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena lathyri	NT	DD		
Andrenidae	Andrena ovatula	NT	NT		
Andrenidae	Andrena ruficrus	NT	LC		
Andrenidae	Andrena wilkella	NT	DD		
Apidae	Bombus bohemicus	NT	LC		
Apidae	Bombus hortorum	NT	LC		
Apidae	Bombus lucorum	NT	LC		
Apidae	Bombus vestalis	NT	LC		
Megachilidae	Coelioxys rufescens	NT	LC		
Apidae	Epeolus cruciger	NT	NT		
Colletidae	Hylaeus variegatus	NT	LC		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum albipes	NT	LC		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum leucopus	NT	LC		
Halictidae	Lasioglossum rufitarse	NT	LC		
Apidae	Melecta albifrons	NT	LC		
Apidae	Nomada rufipes	NT	LC		
Megachilidae	Osmia aurulenta	NT	LC		
Megachilidae	Osmia spinulosa	NT	LC		
Megachilidae	Stelis phaeoptera	NT	DD		
3.2 Status by taxonomic group

As described in the introduction, Belgian bees belong to different families (6) and subfamilies (12). Table 8 presents the number and percentage of species in the Red List for each of these groups. This shows that the Apidae, Megachilidae and Halictidae have a relatively high proportion of threatened species (36.7%, 36.4% and 35.9% respectively), while the Melittidae have the lowest proportion (12.5%). The Near Threatened (NT) status is mainly assigned to Andrenidae (11 species, 12.6%) and Apidae (7 species, 7%). It refers to species that are clearly declining in Belgium but not enough to meet the IUCN Red List criteria. Also, the highest proportion of Regionally Extinct species is found in the Apidae (18 species, 18%), Halictidae (10 species, 12%) and Megachilidae (8 species, 11.7%). This highlights that these are the most impacted families during the last decades and during the two time periods. It is striking that both families of long-tongued species (i.e. Apidae, Megachilidae) are among the families with the highest proportion of threatened bees (60 species, 36.6%). Moreoever, long-tongued bees are better known than short-tongued species which include less studied groups such as *Micrandrena, Lasioglossum* and *Hylaeus* (see 3.6 Knowledge gaps).

Regarding the sub-families, several present no threatened species (i.e. Panurginae, Xylocopinae, Colletinae, Dasypodainae) but these families contain a limited number of species and one of the two Dasypodainae species is Regionally Extinct. Some of these species forage on common yellow-flowered composites (Panurginae, Dasypodainae, some Colletinae), are unspecialised foragers (some Colletinae) and/or seem to benefit from climate change (Xylocopinae, *Colletes hederae*). Indeed, it appears that some species like *Xylocopa violacea* have expanded their distribution northward during the last decades, possibly due to climate change (Terzo & Rasmont 2014). It is likely that the increase of suburban gardens and of dead wood may also contribute to this increase.

Other sub-families contain a significant proportion of threatened species. From highest to lowest: corbiculate Apinae (pollen basket bees – *Bombus* sp. and *Apis mellifera*; 46.7% - see Box 3 and 4), not-corbiculate Apinae (without pollen baskets; 41.2%), Megachilinae (36.4%), Halictinae (33.3%), Nomadinae (30.6%), Andreninae (29.9%), Hylaeinae (23.5%), Melittinae (16.7%). Differences between these subfamilies can be explained by differences in ecological requirements ((micro)climate, host plant range, nesting requirements, sociality), resulting in different susceptibilities to land use and climate change (see point 3.4).

The Andreninae have the highest number species (17 species) belonging to the category Data Deficient followed by the Hylaeinae (10). Several reasons can be put forward to explain this high number in these two groups: taxonomic issues and confusions (e.g. in the subgenus *Micrandrena* from Andrenidae) resulting in poor knowledge, the difficulty to sample some groups/species (e.g. *Hylaeus clypearis, H. gracilicornis*) or the lack of expertise.

- 37 -

Table 8. Red List status at Belgian level of bees by family and subfamily (as defined by Michener et al. (2007)).Percentage of threatened species were calculated based on the mid-point figures (i.e. (CR+EN+VU) / (assessed- EX - DD) in which the Extinct (EX) status is not equivalent to the Regionally Extinct (RE) status).

Order	Family	Subfamily	Total	RE	CR	EN	VU	NT	LC	DD	% threatened	NA
	Andrenidae		87	7	9	6	5	11	32	17	28.6%	6
		Andreninae	84	7	9	6	5	11	29	17	29.9%	6
		Panurginae	3	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0.0%	0
	Apidae		100	18	14	14	8	7	37	2	36.7%	1
		Apinae (corbiculate)	31	6	6	4	4	4	6	1	46.7%	0
		Apinae (not corbiculate)	17	3	3	3	1	2	5	0	41.2%	0
		Nomadinae	50	9	5	7	3	1	24	1	30.6%	0
_		Xylocopinae	2	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0.0%	1
tera	Colletidae		35	1	1	2	1	1	19	10	16.0%	3
doua		Colletinae	8	0	0	0	0	0	8	0	0.0%	1
Hyme		Hylaeniae	27	1	1	2	1	1	11	10	23.5%	2
	Halictidae		83	10	12	6	10	3	37	5	35.9%	3
		Rhophitinae	6	2	3	1	0	0	0	0	66.7%	0
		Halictinae	77	8	9	5	10	3	37	5	33.3%	3
	Megachilidae		68	8	11	4	9	4	30	2	36.4%	8
		Megachilinae	68	8	11	4	9	4	30	2	36.4%	8
	Melittidae		8	1	0	0	1	0	6	0	12.5%	1
		Dasypodainae	2	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0.0%	0
		Melittinae	6	0	0	0	1	0	5	0	16.7%	1
		Total	381	45	47	32	34	26	161	36	32.8%	22



Anthidium manicatum (Least Concern). Maxime Drossart

Box 3 – Belgian bumblebees (Bombus spp.)

Bumblebees are the best known group of wild bees in Belgium as well as in Europe (Rasmont 1988; Nieto et al. 2014; Vray et al. 2019). The Belgian bumblebee fauna has been studied for more than 100 years, starting with Meunier (1888) and particularly Ball (1914, 1920) who carried out an extensive bumblebee inventory work mainly between 1910 and 1930. After that, a detailed evaluation of species trends was produced by Rasmont & Mersch (1988), completed later by Rasmont et al. (1993; 2005) and by Vray (2018). As observed in Balls' collection (1914, 1920), 31 species of bumblebees occurred in the 1910s in Belgium but a continuing decline took place during the 20th century (i.e. between 1930 and 1970) as mentioned by Rasmont & Mersch (1998) and Rasmont et al. (1993, 2005). Several species like B. ruderarius, B. magnus and B. hortorum have shown a more recent regression (i.e. since 1990), while the list of Regionally Extinct species keeps extending (B. confusus, B. cullumanus, B. distinguendus, B. pomorum, B. subterraneus, B. wurflenii; Fig. 6.A) (Rasmont & Pauly 2010). Other species that were formerly widespread are now on the brink of extinction (e.g. B. ruderatus, B. muscorum) or geographically restricted to the (southern) Ardennes (B. veteranus, B. humilis, B. sylvarum), in one case including the coastal area (B. ruderarius). In comparison with the IUCN Red List status of Bombus spp. in Europe (Fig. 6.B), a higher proportion of species is threatened in Belgium (respectively 23.6% and 47%). Moreover, 13.3% are Near Threatened and 20% are Regionally Extinct. Given the large amount of available data, no species was classified as Data Deficient.

Several factors that negatively impact Belgian populations of bumblebees have been identified. Among these, habitat loss and fragmentation as well as the strong reduction of floral resources in relation with changes in agricultural practices (i.e. agricultural motorisation and mechanisation, regression of leguminous crops following the advent of chemical nitrogenous fertilizers, and pesticides) and other land use changes (e.g. increase of forest areas, urbanisation) have been pinpointed as the main drivers of bumblebee decline (Rasmont 1988; Rasmont & Mersch 1988, Goulson et al. 2005; Goulson et al. 2008; Rasmont et al. 2005; Ahrne et al. 2009; Vray 2018; Vray et al. 2019). This is exemplified by the fact that especially the late-flying bumblebee species with long tongues which are specialized on leguminous and other flowers with long corolla have disappeared or are threatened (Goulson et al. 2005). In addition, more and more studies point out the use of pesticides and climate change as additional threatening factors (e.g. Thompson 2001; Blacquiere et al. 2012; Rasmont & Iserbyt 2012; Kerr et al. 2015; Rasmont et al. 2015). Lastly, regulations against thistles in Belgium (i.e. legal requirement to remove *Carduus crispus, Cirsium arvense, C. palustre* and *C. vulgare*) seem to constitute a threat for several bumblebee species that mainly forage on these flowers for nectar (mainly *Cirsium* spp. and *Carduus* spp.) (Terzo & Rasmont 2007; Vray et al. 2017).

Box 3 – Belgian bumblebees (Bombus spp.)

In spite of this strong decline, some species seem to benefit (at least for now) from climate change (e.g. *B. pascuorum, B. terrestris*), from the increase of forest area (*B. hypnorum, B. sylvestris* and *B. pratorum*) (Rasmont & Mersch 1988, Rasmont & Pauly 2010; Rasmont et al. 2015; Zambra 2017) or are ubiquitous and are able to balance their diet because they forage a wide range of food plants (*B. lapidarius, B. terrestris*), including flowers in gardens. They were then assessed as Least Concern. As highlighted by Powney et al. (2019) in Great Britain, some bumblebees seem to benefit from the widespread implementation of agri-environmental schemes designed to support them in agricultural areas. Indeed, their occupancy in these areas increased by 12% between 1980 and 2013 (Powney et al. 2019). Also in Belgium (Wallonia), *B. hortorum* (NT) locally benefits from such measures (Terzo & Rasmont 2007).



Figure 6. A. IUCN Red List status of *Bombus* spp. in Belgium; B. IUCN Red List status of *Bombus* spp. in Europe (Nieto et al. 2014).



Bombus sylvarum (Critically Endangered). Nicolas J. Vereecken

Box 4 – The Honey Bee (Apis mellifera)

The Honey Bee (*Apis mellifera*) is assessed as Data Deficient (DD) on the Belgian Red List. As mentioned by Nieto et al. (2014), this species is known to occur all over Europe (except in Faeroe Islands and Northern Scandinavia) and has numerous described sub-species across the continent. The sub-species *A. mellifera mellifera*, called the Dark European Honey Bee, originally occurred in Belgium. However, bee keepers have imported and kept other sub-species during the last 150 years, such as the Carniolian Honey Bee *A. mellifera carnica* (mainly in Flanders and along the German-border), *A. mellifera ligustica*, *A. mellifera caucasica* and *A. mellifera sahariensis* (the breeding of the last three has not been maintained) as well as the multi-hybridised Buckfast honey bee (mainly in Wallonia) coming from Devon in Great-Britain. A conservatory of the Dark European Honey Bee has been established in 2004 in Chimay.

Nowadays, the majority of beehives in Belgium are occupied by the Dark European Honey Bee, the Carniolian Honey Bee and by more or less hybridised Buckfast Honey Bees. The remaining part of "local" honey bees is then likely multi-hybridised. Some colonies are also found in the wild (mostly in holes in trees or buildings) and can either come from managed colonies (i.e. swarms) or could have recovered or conserved a feral nature. However, the wild occurrence of *Apis mellifera* in Europe is debated (Nieto et al. 2014; Moritz et al. 2007) and researches are needed to improve knowledge on genetic diversity and wild population densities of *Apis mellifera* in Belgium. Indeed, the applied selection undertaken over the last century on managed honey bee populations for particular traits (e.g. more productive, less aggressive, showing some health features, ...) indicates that this species cannot be considered as natural (Nieto et al. 2014).



Apis mellifera (Data Deficient). Nicolas J. Vereecken

Box 4 – The Honey Bee (Apis mellifera)

While numerous studies (e.g. Van der Zee et al. 2013 and Brodschneider et al. 2018 in the scope of the COLOSS monitoring) highlighted a rise in the overwintering colony mortality, the number of hives globally increased in Europe (i.e. +5.5% between 2017 and 2018, European Commission 2019). At the national scale, the Honeybee valley platform (https://www.honeybeevalley.eu) gathered data on colony losses during the last winters (2016-17 and 2017-18) and showed contrasting situations according to the municipality. As well, the number of inventoried hives in Belgium is clearly in decline since 2010 (from 110.000 in 2010 to 60.000 in 2018) (CARI 2017; European Commission 2019).

Several drivers can be highlighted, such as the transfer of diseases, pathogens (e.g. *Nosema* spp.) and parasites (e.g. *Varroa destructor*), the floral depletion and the use of pesticides linked to the agricultural intensification, climate change, detrimental bee-keeping practices (e.g. De la Rúa et al. 2009; Blacquiere et al. 2012; Fürst et al. 2014) but also a parallel decline in the number of beekeepers across Europe (Moritz et al. 2007; Potts et al. 2010a; European Commission 2019). Finally, the arrival of the Asian hornet *Vespa velutina* could constitute a new enemy for *Apis mellifera* (Rortais et al. 2010).

3.3 Status by functional trait

Three functional traits are considered as possibly being associated with extinction risk: bee host plant range (i.e. specialised, opportunistic with strong preference and opportunistic *sensu lato*), sociality (i.e. solitary, primitively eusocial and kleptoparasitic) and nesting behaviour (i.e. Excavator - Ground, Excavator - Deadstems, Carder, Renter - Existing cavities above ground, Renter - Existing cavities below ground, Renter - Snail shells and Mason).

Bee host plant range

Using the mid-point calculation, 31.6% of opportunistic *s.l.* species and 31.2% of specialised bees are considered threatened (i.e. (CR+EN+VU)/(assessed – EX – DD)). Figure 7 shows the percentage of opportunistic (A) and specialised (B) bee species in each IUCN Red List Category. Regarding Belgian opportunistic bees (n= 173), 12.1% are Critically Endangered, 7.5% are Endangered and 8.7% are Vulnerable. A further 6.4% of bee species are Near Threatened. In addition, 10.4% are already Regionally Extinct at this national scale (Fig 7.A). Considering the specialised bees (n=82), 13.4% are Critically Endangered bees, 8.5% are Endangered and 7.3% are Vulnerable. A further 9.8% of bee species are Near Threatened. In addition, 9.8% are already Regionally Extinct at this national scale (Fig 7.B). Between these both main categories, opportunistic bees with strong preference (n=10) include 7 threatened or already extinct species (i.e. 3 RE, 1 CR, 2 EN, 1 VU; Appendix 2). In addition to bees assessed as Not Applicable in these three previous categories (i.e. 22 species), 12 species were not considered in this analyse given the lack of knowledge concerning their host plant range.

Taken together, this shows there is no major difference between opportunistic and specialised bees in threat status in Belgium.



Figure 7. IUCN Red List status of bees in Belgium according to the main host plant ranges: opportunistic (A) and specialised (B). This figure does not include the Not Applicable (A. 11 species; B. 5 species) as well as kleptoparasitic species.

Sociality

In addition to bees assessed as Not Applicable in these three previous categories (i.e. 22 species), 2 species were not considered in this analyse given the lack of knowledge concerning their sociality (i.e. *Halictus eurygnathus, Seladonia submediterranea*). *Apis mellifera* were also not been included in this analysis given its high degree of eusociality. As some bee species can be solitary or primitively eusocial according to the environmental context, they were then considered in both groups (i.e. *Halictus rubicundus, H. sexcinctus, Seladonia confusa* and *S. tumulorum*).

Overall, 31% of solitary species, 33.3% of primitively eusocial species and 36% of kleptoparasitic bees are considered threatened in Belgium. Figure 8 shows the percentage of solitary (A), primitively eusocial (B) and kleptoparasitic species (C) in each IUCN Red List Category. Regarding Belgian solitary bees (n=232), 11.6% are Critically Endangered, 7.3% are Endangered and 8.2% are Vulnerable. A further 6.5% of bee species are Near Threatened. In addition, 9.5% are already Regionally Extinct at national scale (Fig 8.A). Considering social bees (n=46), 10.9% are Critically Endangered, 10.9% are Endangered and 10.9% are Vulnerable. A further 8.7% of bee species are Near Threatened. In addition, 21.7% are already Regionally Extinct at national scale (Fig 8.B). Lastly for the kleptoparasitic bees (n=104), 13.5% are Critically Endangered, 9.6% are Endangered and 11.5% are Vulnerable. A further 6.7% of these bee species are Near Threatened. In addition, 12.5% are already Regionally Extinct at national scale (Fig 8.C).



The group of primitively eusocial bees gathers the highest proportion of compiled threatened bees and extinct species (Fig 8.B) among which especially bumblebees seem highly threatened (see Box 3; Fig 6A). Indeed, 46.6% of species this group are threatened, 13.3% assessed as Near Threatened and 20% already extinct (Regionaly Extinct). Kleptoparasitic bees gather a reduced proportion of Data Deficient species (i.e. 3.8%; Fig 8.C) compared to solitary species (i.e. 12.5%; Fig 8.A). It gives us a more accurate estimation of the cuckoo bees decline which seems to be related to the decline of their hosts.

Nesting behaviour

In addition to the bees assessed as Not Applicable for the Red List (i.e. 22 species), 2 species were not considered in this analyse given the lack of knowledge concerning their nesting behaviour (i.e. *Bombus cullumanus, Seladonia submediterranea*). In total, 32.5% of ground-nesting bees (i.e. Excavator – Ground) and 23.6% of species nesting in existing cavities above ground (i.e. Renter - Existing cavities above ground) are considered threatened in Belgium. Other minor specific nesting behaviours gathering less species show variable proportion of threatened species: 33.3% of species nesting existing in cavities below ground (i.e. Renter - Existing cavities and 40% of species nesting in snail shells are considered threatened.

Figure 9 shows the percentage of bees in each IUCN Red List Category in relation with the two main nesting behaviours: Excavator - Ground (A) and Renter - Existing cavities above ground (B). For ground nesting bees (n=185), 12.4% are Critically Endangered, 7.6% are Endangered and 9.2% are Vulnerable. A further 7.6% of bee species are Near Threatened. In addition, 12.4% are already Regionally Extinct at national scale (Fig 9.A). Considering bees nesting in existing cavities above ground (n=67), 4.5% are Critically Endangered, 9% are Endangered and 6% are Vulnerable. A further 3% of bee species are Near Threatened. In addition, 7.5% are already Regionally Extinct at national scale (Fig 9.B). As for minor very specific nesting behaviours, they exhibit a large proportion of (near) threatened or extinct species: bees nesting in existing cavities below ground (n=9 of which 3 RE, 2 CR, 1 VU, 1 NT), carder bees (n=6 of which 4 CR, 1 EN), bees nesting in snail shells (n=5 of which 1 CR, 1 EN, 2 NT). These minor specific nesting behaviours represent 23 species among which 20 are already extinct, threatened or near threatened.



Figure 9. IUCN Red List status of bees in Belgium according to the two main nesting behaviours: in ground (A) and in existing cavities above ground (B). This figure does not include the Not Applicable species (A. 12 species; B. 8 species) as well as kleptoparasitic species.

It has to be noted that bees nesting in cavities above ground seem to be less well-known and have the highest proportion of Data Deficient species (i.e. 17.9%; Fig 9.B).

3.4 Spatial distribution of species Species richness

The geographic distribution of bee species richness in Belgium is shown in Figure 10 and is based on all 403 bee species observed between 1980 and 2016 (i.e. comprising Regionally Extinct as well as Not Applicable species). Several main hotspots, based on cumulated species richness, can be delimited on this map. Firstly, southern Belgium, and particularly the Condroz to the south of Liège and the limestone regions of Fagne-Famenne-Calestienne and Gaume (i.e. south of the Lorraine region). Secondly, Brussels-Capital area (i.e. partly due to the long tradition of survey and the large sampling during the last years, Figure 2) as well as Hageland and Droog Haspengouw (i.e. astride between Flemish Brabant and Limburg). Thirdly the sandy Flanders close to Gent, and finally the eastern Campine around Maasmechelen. Other local areas with relatively high species richness are associated with particular habitats such as calcareous grasslands and heathlands (i.e. in the Campine, Southern sandy-silty Flanders and Eastern canton). Also, Belgian hotspots of bee diversity or of rare bees mentioned by Pauly (2019a) (i.e. Mount Saint Pieter; calcareous grasslands of Han-sur-Lesse and Treignes; the natural reserve of Torgny, western and eastern polders and the sandy heathlands of Kalmthout and Blaton) are included in these high-diversity areas. Globally, in Belgium, bee richness declines gradually towards the northwest and at the highest altitudes in the Ardennes.

As mentioned above, some regions benefited from larger samples (Figure 2), which induces a sampling bias. Indeed, several species-rich regions (e.g. Limburg) have relatively few observations compared to others (e.g. large areas such as Brussels and the Flemish Brabant or small localities such as Blaton, Mount Saint Pieter, La Calamine, De Panne, Het Zwin). Also, several areas which are less sampled (e.g. Ardenne, West Flanders) have the lowest known species richness (Figure 2, 10).



Halictus quadricinctus (Critically Endangered). Kurt Geeraerts



Figure10.Speciesrichness of Belgian bees(considering data from1980 to 2016; 5 * 5kilometre UTM squares).Speciesrichnesscategories are arbitraryand were design to stand-out the most species-richsquares.

While a number of Belgian bee species occur all over the country (e.g. *Bombus pascuorum, Andrena fulva*), others display a limited geographic distribution associated with the distribution of particular habitats and host plants (Fig 11). Examples are *Colletes halophilus* which is restricted to coastal areas where it nests in sandy areas and forages on *Aster tripolium* growing in nearby salt marshes. *Rophites quinquespinosus* is currently restricted to calcareous grasslands in nature reserves in the Fagne-Famenne-Calestienne where it forages on Lamiaceae (Fig 11) (Pauly 2019a).



Figure 11. Distribution of *Colletes halophilus* (A) and *Rophites quinquespinosus* (B) in Belgium. Occurences only before 1970 are represented in red and those after 1970 in green, per 5 x 5 kilometre UTM squares (DFF 5.1.0; Barbier et al. 2015).

Distribution of threatened species

The richness pattern of threatened bee species in Belgium is presented in figure 12. The Belgian Red List includes 113 threatened species (i.e. VU, EN, CR species), with the greatest concentration in Campine, Hageland and Droog Haspengouw as well as southeastern Belgium (i.e. Fagne-Famenne and Lorraine), and to a lesser extent in the west of the coastal dune and East canton. This pattern globally overlays the species richness pattern (Fig 12). Threatened species seem then linked to specific habitats, such as calcareous grasslands, heathlands and coastal dunes.



Figure 12. Distribution of threatened bees in Belgium, based on the number of threatened species recorded between 1980 to 2016; 5 * 5 kilometre UTM squares). Species richness categories are quantiles with an equal number of grid cells in each category.

Table 9 presents the different Red List status of each bee species as well as their known occurrence at the regional level (i.e. Brussels, Flanders, Wallonie), based on current knowledge (i.e. sampling effort is not the same in all 3 regions). As already mentioned in the table 1, 246 bee species were listed in Brussels, 341 in Flanders and 366 in Wallonia. 15 of the species recorded in Brussels are Regionally Extinct (6.1%), 21 Critically Endangered (8.5%), 18 are Endangered (7.3%) and 21 are Vulnerable (8.5%). For Flanders, 28 species are Regionally Extinct (8.2%), 39 are Critically Endangered (11.4%), 27 are Endangered (7.9%) and 33 are Vulnerable (9.7%). For Wallonia, 41 species are Regionally Extinct (11.2%), 45 are Critically Endangered (12.3%), 31 are Endangered (8.4%) and 34 are Vulnerable (9.3%).

Family	Species	Red List status in Belgium	Occurrence in Brussels	Occurrence in Flanders	Occurrence in Wallonia
Megachilidae	Aglaoapis tridentata	RE		Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena chrysopyga	RE		Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena distinguenda	RE	Yes		
Andrenidae	Andrena floricola	RE		Yes	
Andrenidae	Andrena gelriae	RE		Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena limata	RE			Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena marginata	RE		Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena thoracica	RE		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Anthophora aestivalis	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Anthophora borealis	RE		Yes	
Apidae	Anthophora plagiata	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Biastes truncatus	RE			Yes
Apidae	Bombus confusus	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus cullumanus	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus distinguendus	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus pomorum	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus subterraneus	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus wurflenii	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Coelioxys emarginatus	RE			Yes
Mellitidae	Dasypoda argentata	RE			Yes
Halictidae	Dufourea minuta	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Hoplitis papaveris	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Hoplitis villosa	RE		Yes	Yes
Colletidae	Hylaeus pilosulus	RE			Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum breviventre	RE			Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum interruptum	RE			Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum laeve	RE		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum lineare	RE	Yes		Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum nigripes	RE		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum politum	RE			Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum subfasciatum	RE			Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum subhirtum	RE			Yes
Apidae	Nomada argentata	RE		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada castellana	RE			Yes
Apidae	Nomada emarginata	RE	Yes		Yes
Apidae	Nomada melathoracica	RE		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada mutabilis	RE			Yes
Apidae	Nomada pleurosticta	RE			Yes
Apidae	Nomada rhenana	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada roberjeotiana	RE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Osmia pilicornis	RE			Yes
Megachilidae	Osmia xanthomelana	RE		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Rhophitoides canus	RE		Yes	
Megachilidae	Stelis minima	RE		Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Stelis minuta	RE		Yes	Yes

Table 9. Regional occurrence of threatened bee species and species that went extinct in Belgium since 1900.

Family	Species	Red List status in Belgium	Occurrence in Brussels	Occurrence in Flanders	Occurrence in Wallonia
Apidae	Ammobates punctatus	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena combinata	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena curvungula	CR			Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena ferox	CR		Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena nigriceps	CR		Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena polita	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena potentillae	CR			Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena similis	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena synadelpha	CR		Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena varians	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Anthophora bimaculata	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus barbutellus	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus humilis	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus muscorum	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus ruderatus	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus sylvarum	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus veteranus	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Coelioxys afer	CR		Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Coelioxys conoideus	CR		Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Coelioxys quadridendatus	CR		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Dufourea halictula	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Dufourea inermis	CR		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Epeolus tarsalis	CR		Yes	
Halictidae	Halictus eurygnathus	CR		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Halictus quadricinctus	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Hoplitis anthocopoides	CR			Yes
Megachilidae	Hoplitis ravouxi	CR		Yes	Yes
Colletidae	Hylaeus leptocephalus (bisinuatus anc.)	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum costulatum	CR			Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum quadrinotatum	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum tarsatum	CR		Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Megachile analis	CR		Yes	
Megachilidae	Megachile genalis	CR			Yes
Megachilidae	Megachile lagopoda	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Megachile maritima	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Megachile pilidens	CR		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Melecta luctuosa	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada mutica	CR			Yes
Apidae	Nomada obtusifrons	CR			Yes
Apidae	Nomada piccioliana	CR		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada sexfasciata	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Osmia andrenoides	CR			Yes
Halictidae	Rophites quinquespinosus	CR		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Seladonia leucahenea	CR		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Sphecodes rubicundus	CR		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Sphecodes rufiventris	CR		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Sphecodes spinulosus	CR	Yes	Yes	Yes

Family	Species	Red List status in Belgium	Occurrence in Brussels	Occurrence in Flanders	Occurrence in Wallonia
Andrenidae	Andrena agilissima	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena coitana	EN	Yes		Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena fulvida	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena intermedia	EN		Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena schencki	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena tarsata	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Anthophora retusa	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus cryptarum	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus magnus	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus ruderarius	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus rupestris	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Dufourea dentiventris	EN		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Eucera nigrescens	EN		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Halictus simplex	EN	Yes		Yes
Colletidae	Hylaeus angustatus	EN			Yes
Colletidae	Hylaeus nigritus	EN			Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum brevicorne	EN		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum prasinum	EN		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum xanthopus	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Megachile circumcincta	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada armata	EN		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada distinguenda	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada furva	EN		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada fuscicornis	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada opaca	EN		Yes	
Apidae	Nomada similis	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada villosa	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Osmia parietina	EN		Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Osmia rufohirta	EN			Yes
Megachilidae	Osmia uncinata	EN	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Sphecodes scabricollis	EN		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Thyreus orbatus	EN		Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena fucata	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena helvola	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena lapponica	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena nitidiuscula	VU		Yes	Yes
Andrenidae	Andrena pandellei	VU		Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus campestris	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus jonellus	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus norvegicus	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Bombus soroeensis	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Chelostoma distinctum	VU		Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Coelioxys alatus	VU		Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Coelioxys elongatus	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Coelioxys mandibularis	VU		Yes	Yes

Family	Species	Red List status in Belgium	Occurrence in Brussels	Occurrence in Flanders	Occurrence in Wallonia
Apidae	Eucera longicornis	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Halictus maculatus	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Halictus sexcinctus	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Hoplitis claviventris	VU		Yes	Yes
Colletidae	Hylaeus rinki	VU		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum laevigatum	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum minutulum	VU			Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum monstrificum	VU		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum pygmaeum	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Lasioglossum quadrinotatulum	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Megachile alpicola	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Megachile leachella	VU		Yes	Yes
Mellitidae	Melitta tricincta	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada femoralis	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada integra	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apidae	Nomada striata	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Seladonia confusa	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Sphecodes marginatus	VU		Yes	Yes
Halictidae	Sphecodes niger	VU	Yes	Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Stelis ornatula	VU		Yes	Yes
Megachilidae	Stelis signata	VU		Yes	Yes

3.5 Major threats to bees in Belgium

Several causes are pointed out by experts to explain the bee decline. While many studies confirm the negative impact of many drivers, some drivers could potentially benefit to particular bees and represent an opportunity for biodiversity, depending on the context and human management (e.g. urbanisation, quarries).

Habitat and floral resources losses and modifications

The first cause of bee decline is fragmentation, loss and alteration of their habitat, resulting partly from a reduced availability of open semi-natural areas due to agricultural intensification, urbanisation, and increased afforestation (Williams 1986; Rasmont & Mersch 1988; Carvell 2002; Goulson et al. 2008; Williams & Osborne 2009; Ahrné et al. 2009; Le Féon et al. 2010; Potts et al. 2010b; Ollerton et al. 2014).



Figure 13. Comparison of the land use in 1920, 1950, 1980 and 2010 in Belgium (Fuchs et al. 2013, 2014).

Agricultural intensification

Many of the environmental threats to bees are associated with changes in agricultural practices that occurred after the First World War and especially after the Second World War (Fig. 13). The development of agricultural mechanisation and chemical fertilizers led to an extreme simplification and homogenization of agricultural landscapes and to a complete restructuration of agricultural processes, such as: removal of hedges and trees, loss of uncultivated areas, small and diversified crops turned intolarge monocultures, extensive pasture with low livestock densities turned into intensive pastures with stocking regimes that are damaging to grasslands, and flower-rich hayfields with a in late mowing date turned into early and frequently mowed almost monospecific grasslands for intensive silage production (Christians 1998; Mazoyer & Roudart 2006, Vulliamy et al. 2006). These land use changes strongly reduced the availability of bee nesting sites and floral resources. Moreover, the spread of nitrogenous chemical fertilisers led to the replacement of leguminous (Fabaceae) crops, known to be very important for long-tongued species such as bumblebees, by other crops (e.g. sugar beet, corn) that do not constitute a food resource for these species (Rasmont & Mersch 1988, Goulson & Darvill 2004, Goulson et al. 2005, Rasmont et al. 2005, Carvell et al. 2006, Rasmont 2008). As highlighted by Rasmont et al. (2005), the regression of bees seems especially linked to the loss of long

corolla plants (i.e. Fabaceae, Lamiaceae, Scrophulariaceae, Boraginaceae). Like for bumblebees (see Box 3), the strong regression of leguminous crops and flower-rich haymeadows and pastures rich in long corolla plants could explain the decline of the whole guild of wild bees specialized on Fabaceae and other long corolla plants in Belgium (Rasmont 1988; Rasmont & Mersch 1988; Rasmont et al. 2005). Moreover, the resulting atmospherous nitrogen deposits are also responsible for the eutrophication of natural environments and associated homogenization of the flora (Rasmont 2008).

Urbanisation

Like in other European countries, urbanization and urban sprawl are one of the largest changes in land use in Belgium since the mid-20th century (Fig 13; Antrop 2004, European Environment Agency 2016). Urbanization is known to significantly reduce the availability of favourable habitats to many bees (e.g. Ahrne et al 2009, Deguines et al. 2016). However, some studies showed that gardens and urban parks may be beneficial to certain bees if they provide sufficient floral resources and nesting sites (Tommasi et al. 2004, McFrederick & LeBuhn 2006, Osborne et al. 2008; Garbuzov & Ratnieks 2014, Normandin et al. 2017; Pauly 2019b, c), especially in intensive farming areas or woodland areas (Winfree et al. 2007, Samnegård et al. 2011, Diaz-Forero et al 2013, Baldock et al. 2015). Settlements represent 8.9% (269.902 ha) of the land use in Belgium (Fig. 13), more precisely 5.8 % (98 515 ha) in the Walloon Region, 12.3% (166 489 ha) in the Flanders Region and 30.34% (4 897 ha) in the Brussel-Capital Region (Belgian Federal Government 2018b). Although a comprehensive study on urban bees and the impact of the urban landscape mosaic is still lacking, several general recommendations can be formulated based on examples from other temperate countries. For example, the mosaic of impervious surfaces and urban green spaces could be enhanced through qualitative private gardens and public greens areas, benefitting from suitable management measures (e.g. late mowning, limited use of pesticides), which could provide floral resources (e.g. flowered meadows, qualitative and native flowering plants, shrubs and trees, flowering hedges), nesting sites (e.g. modular pavements with unbound joints, nonartificialized surfaces), linear landscape structures allowing dispersion (e.g. hedges). As an example, some Lasioglossum species (e.g. L. nitidulum, L. morio and L. laticeps) could be favoured by urbanisation through the availability of nesting sites (e.g. joints in old walls) (Pauly 2019a, c). Ongoing studies in Brussels are likely to provide more detailed and evidence-based recommendations from our regions, with a potential to replicate the surveys across several of the important cities in Wallonia (e.g. Mons, Charleroi, Liège, Namur) and Flanders (e.g. Ghent, Antwerp, Hasselt).

Afforestation and wood plantation

Forest cover increased during the last century in Walloon (i.e. 396.792 ha in 1910; 556.200 ha in 2016) and Flemish (i.e. 122.469 ha in 1910; 148.185 ha in 2016) Regions (not in Brussels Region; 1955 ha in 1910 and 1735 ha in 2016), and it is still increasing today, especially in the Walloon region (Fig 13;

- 54 -

Blerot & Heyninck 2017). A high forest density generally does not favor a large diversity of bees (e.g. Winfree et al. 2007, Diaz-Forero et al. 2013), probably because most species prefer more open and flower-rich landscapes such as borders and clearings (Pauly 2019a) but also meadows and heathland (Pittioni & Schmidt 1942, Reinig 1972, Rasmont 1988). Open areas, forest edge and clearings offer stable habitats with nesting sites (e.g., trunks, dead wood, underground cavities, ...) as well as flower resources (i.e. wood plants and numerous shrubs like *Prunus sp., Cytisus scoparius, Rubus sp., Salix sp.,* ...) for some bee species (Pauly 2019a). However, less than 10% of forest edges in Wallonia are qualitative enough for biodiversity (i.e. edge hem and cord measuring 5m for each) (Pauly 2019a). Several forest-linked bee species seem to have been impacted, such as *A. lapponica* (VU), *Osima uncinata* (EN) or *Andrena ferox* (CR). Moreover, changes in woodland management (i.e. from coppice wood to dense high trees and the establishment of coniferous plantations leading to less and less small open areas in the woodlands) seem to represent one of the main factor of the disappearance of some bee species, such as *O. pilicornis* (BWARS 2019).

Heathland and moors are also important habitats for several species (Moquet et al. 2017; Pauly 2018). However, they declined sharply in Belgium and in other European countries as a result of changes in land management. The extensive grazing of heathland mainly by sheep during the 18th and 19th centuries, which limited the recolonization by trees, was replaced by drainage and enrichment of the soil with fertilizers to make them suitable for agriculture or by commercial timber plantations of conifers during the 20th century (Aerts & Heil 1993, Webb 1998). In the South-East of Belgium, coniferous plantations dominate the landscape in most regions. Their undergrowth being unfavorable for the development of a herbaceous flora, they are highly unfavorable to bees.

Other land use changes

Other habitat modifications (i.e. modifications, alterations, destructions) have also an important impact on bees. As already mentioned, some particular habitats of bees are highly impacted by human activities (e.g., urbanisation, forestry, industry). This is notably marked for sandy areas (i.e. coastal dunes; Flanders and Campine district; outcrops in Wallonia in Picardy-Brabant and along the Meuse districts) which constitute precious but highly threatened habitats for a significant part of Belgian fauna and entomofauna (Leclercq et al. 1976; Pauly 2019a). Coastal dunes (west; Fig 12) present a relatively high number of threatened species (e.g. *Lasioglossum prasinum* (EN); *Lasioglossum tarsatum* (CR)), most likely linked to the high habitat alterations and destructions, mainly resulting from urbanisation and shrub encroachment due to abandonment of grazing. As well, the remaining sand dunes of the interior of Flanders (i.e. close to Gent, Speelbos, Molsbergen) present a high inteterest to be conserved, just as the larger sandy areas of heathland in for instance Kalmthout (Pauly 2019a).

Box 4 – When human activity can positively impact on biodiversity - Quarrying

Biodiversity can be hosted in some human mining and quarrying activities. Quarries can namely lead to the creation of uncommon and favourable habitats for bees in Belgium (e.g. sandy surfaces, chalk grasslands, nutrient-poor meadows), as long as they don't destroy highly valuable bee habitat such as calcareous grassland in the first place. More than 25 quarries in Wallonia are included in the LIFE in Quarries project (http://www.lifeinquarries.eu) which aims to develop in a sustainable way their capacity for maintaining rare biodiversity, namely species like sand martin, lizards, wall lizards, natterjack toads or Characeae (i.e. algae typical of nutrient-poor environments). Several actions undertaken can benefit bees: (i) maintenance of dry and flower-rich grasslands; (ii) dynamic management of pioneer grasslands, (iii) creation and refreshing of loose cliffs and (iv) maintenance of sunny rockfaces. As highlighted by Remacle (2005; 2006) and Lemoine (2015), sandpits and guarries represent very interesting replacement spaces for ground nesting bees (i.e. majority of Belgian wild bees - see ecology of bees) and their associated kleptoparasitic bees. While Jacob-Remacle & Jacob (1990) already highlighted the interest of these quarry establishments in Wallonia (i.e. 72 bee species observed in 5 sandpits in Belgian Lorraine), many studies confirmed this assessment (e.g. 2 protected bee species observed in the quarry of Loën in Wallonia (Colart 2009); 124 bee species sampled in 24 chalk quarries in Lower Saxony in Germany (Krauss et al. 2009); 123 bee species sampled in one chalk quarry in the Netherlands (province of Zuid-Limburg), among which 41 species on their national Red List (Raemakers & Faasen, 2012)).

Specific management (i.e. avoiding reforestation or use as rubbish tip (Pauly 2019a) of old quarries is essential to conserve this particular biodiversity. It is also important to design or adapt management plans of quarries and sandpits that are still in use to allow spontaneous biodiversity in at least part of the sites (Remacle 2005). On this point, we can mention as exemple the integrated management of the sandpit of Hamel (France, Nord department) for bees, the management of the old quarry of "Haut des Loges" (Etalle, Province of Luxembourg) converted in a natural reserve by the *Ardenne & Gaume* association (Jacob & Remacle 2005) and the attention paid to bees in belgian CBR quarries (HeidelbergCement group) (Colart 2009).

Pesticides

Agricultural intensification also resulted in the development and widespread use of pesticides. By their application, phytophamaceutical products (i.e. herbicides, fungicides, insecticides, growth regulators and additives, soil disinfectant (Lievens et al. 2012) seem to impact directly or indirectly on bees (e.g. Devillers & Pham-Delègue 2003; Brittain & Potts 2011). Their uses are numerous and varied with a large range of potential users (i.e. farmers, public administrations, rail network managers, private individuals, ...) (Lievens et al. 2012).

With over 5 kg per ha of agricultural land per year, Belgium is ranked as the fourth country in the EU-28 in 2014 for the use of these products, after Malta, Cyprus and Netherlands (Eurostat 2018; Wallonie Environnement SPW 2018). While the concentration of active substances (i.e. active ingredient without formulating agent) has been reduced following the European norms (i.e. 358 in 1995, 260-270 after 2010), the sold quantities of active substances have decreased by half between 1995 and 2010 (i.e. respectively 10.872t to 5.472t) but increased again by 2015 (i.e. 6.648t) (UCL – ELI – ELIM 2017). In Belgium, sales of active substances mostly concern related to fungicides and herbicides and mainly professional users (UCL – ELI – ELIM 2017).

As most studies of the toxicological impacts of pesticides have been conducted on the honey bee and, to a lesser extent commercial Bombus, the consequences for wild bees are still poorly known (Nieto et al. 2014). Since the 2000s, more and more studies have targeted wild bees and have revealed negative effects of pesticides. It seems that pesticides can impact several aspects of bees' ecology, such as the foraging behaviour (Morandin et al. 2005, Mommaerts et al. 2006, Feltham et al. 2014), the sociality (Brittain & Potts 2011), the colony productivity (Gels et al. 2002), as well as the development and queen production in bumblebees (Whitehorn et al. 2012; Woodcock et al. 2017). Among the range of pesticides impacting bees, the most well-known are pyrethroids and neonicotinoids (Thompson & Hunt 1999, Goulson 2013). Neonicotinoids are neurotoxic pesticides causing paralysis and death of insects (Tomizawa & Casida 2005; Gradish et al. 2010 for commercial Bombus in the US). It has been shown that sub-lethal doses of both neonicotinoids Imidachloprid and thiamethoxam (the aforementioned in conjunction with the DMI fungicide propiconazole) affect respectively the foraging behaviour of commercially reared Bombus terrestris in the field and colony iniatition of this same species (Elston et al. 2013; Godfray et al. 2014; Woodcock et al. 2017). The acute toxicity of neonicotinoids is compounded by their long persistence in the soil (Goulson et al. 2015), where several bee species nest, and their accumulation in floral resources (Krupke et al. 2012; Woodcock et al. 2016). Two other less known pesticides, diflubenzuron and teflubenzuron, are also among the most toxic for bumblebees and yet widely used (Mommaerts et al. 2006). This is also the case of deltamethrin, which is well known for its high toxicity to bees (e.g. Moncharmont et al. 2003, Dai et al. 2010).

Climate change

In recent years, climate change is considered as a significant driver of bumblebee decline (Williams et al. 2007; Iserbyt & Rasmont 2012; Rasmont & Iserbyt 2012; Bartomeus et al. 2013; Kerr et al. 2015; Rasmont et al. 2015). Species that were initially common and widespread are now regressing, even in favourable habitats. We can understand this climate change effect in two distinct processes.

Firstly, extreme events such as heat waves, which seem to have an important impact on the flower resources availability and on the bumblebee populations even when in a favourable habitat (Iserbyt &

- 57 -

Rasmont 2012; Rasmont & Iserbyt 2012; Ploquin et al. 2013; Herrera et al. 2014). A rapid mortality was observed in experimental condition from 40°C or higher, as during heat waves (Martinet et al. 2015). Sub-lethal effects have also been observed on colonies at 33°c (Gérard et al. 2018; Vanderplanck et al. 2019). In addition, droughts can indirectly affect bumblebee colonies by impacting on vegetation and then reducing the floral resources availability (Brochet 1977; Thomson 2016; Ogilvie et al. 2017). Also, floods can impact bees nesting in or on the ground, namely bumblebees (Goulson et al. 2015).

Secondly, gradual and continuous increases of temperature also have dramatic impacts on bumblebees (Kerr et al. 2015; Rasmont et al. 2015). It results in geographical distribution changes and more specificaly in spatial shifts toward the North or in a concentration of the species range (Bartomeus et al. 2013; Aguirre-Gutiérrez et al. 2016). These modifications are highlighted by Rasmont et al. (2015) in the *"Climatic Risk and Distribution Atlas of European Bumblebees"* which predicts the disappearance of the majority of the remaining Belgian bumblebee fauna as well as a reduction of the range for most European bumblebee species by 2050 and/or 2100.

At the same time as the demise of more bee species with a more northern distribution, it can be expected that southern bee species will extend their geographic range north. This already seems to be ongoing with the appearance and/or spread of a number of species for which Belgium is on the northern or northwestern limit of their geographic range, such as *Megachile rotundata*, *Hylaeus punctatus* or *Halictus scabiosae* but comprehensive analyses are lacking. This seems to be the case for *Colletes hederae* which has undergone a rapid expansion towards the north during the 2000's (Roberts et al. 2011).

3.6 Knowledge gaps

Taxonomic impediment

The Red List of Belgian bees resulted in 9.4% of species being Data Deficient (Fig. 5.A, page 32). These mainly include species from the genera *Andrena*, *Hylaeus* and a few *Nomada*, *Sphecodes* and *Lasioglossum* species. Data deficient species fall into the three following categories.

1. The first category includes species being recently recognized taxonomically, which have or had an uncertain species status for a long time, or which have been split off from a former species complex, and for which the collection material has not been revised due to the lack of taxonomic experts. As a result, the historical distribution is unknown and if the taxonomic revision is recent also the present distribution may be unclear. Examples of this category are *Hylaeus dilatatus* and *H. spilotus* (*H. annularis* was recently renamed as *H. dilatatus*, while the former *H. spilotus* was recently renamed as *H. annularis*, see Notton & Datte 2008), *Hylaeus gredleri* (split from *H. brevicornis*, Dathe 1980), *Hylaeus incongruus* (recently described and originally included in *Hylaeus gibbus*, Straka and Bogusch 2011), *Andrena pilipes* (split from *A.*

nigrospina, Schmid-Egger and Scheuchl 1997; Scheuchl and Willner 2016) and *Nomada baccata* (not always recognized as a separate species from *N. alboguttata*, Sann et al. 2010).

- 2. A second category consists of species that are morphologically very similar to widespread taxa. For some species groups, the lack of taxonomic expertise prevents unequivocal identification of these species (e.g. *Andrena apicata* and *A. batava*). Most notable cases are the species of the *Micrandrena* subgenus. At the present time there is no Belgian specialist able to identify these species with certainty. As a result, they are also relatively understudied by the volunteers doing wild bee inventories, which generates undersampling and lack of data. This lack of expertise and of reference collections currently prevents us from assessing the Red List status of all *Micrandrena* except for the two most abundant species (*Andrena minutula* and *A. subopaca*).
- 3. The third category includes rare to very rare species in less-studied genera (*Hylaeus, Lasioglossum, Sphecodes*) for which the few seemingly erratic observations did not allow to make an assessment (e.g. *Lasioglossum fratellum / L. subfulvicorne*).

A revision of historical and present collections by foreign experts and an increase in taxonomic expertise and further capacity building among wild bee volunteers in Belgium will be necessary to resolve these issues. It could namely allow to (dis)confirm the presence of some species in Belgium for which revision of specimens is needed (e.g. *Andrena rufula, Coelioxys echinata, Megachile apicalis, Lasioglossum pauperatum, L. smeathmanellum*).

Threats

As highlighted by Williams et al. (2010), traits such as body size, foraging range, and food storage capacity, are highly different between bee species and thus also the potential sensitivity for direct or indirect effects of pesticides. Evidence and wide-ranging field scale studies are needed. Concerning this, UMONS (i.e. Laboratory of zoology) is taking part in the pan-european PoshBee project (www.poshbee.eu; 2018 – 2023). It represents an assessment, monitoring and mitigation of stressors on the health of bees (i.e. Honeybees, Bumblebees, wild bees). The partner consortium (i.e. 42 partners in 14 European countries) will namely "provide the first pan-European quantification of the exposure hazard of chemicals to managed and wild bees" and "determine how chemicals alone, in mixtures, and in combination with pathogens and nutrition, affect bee health" at the biological level (i.e. field observations) but also experimental scale (i.e. laboratory experiments).

Finally, research is needed to evaluate consequences of phenological shifts of bees in Belgium. Indeed, this could cause desynchronization between plants and pollinators and clear fitness losses in solitary bees (Schenk et al. 2018). A preliminary study seems indicate a strong average forward shift in the

flight period in Belgium between 1983 and 2016, mainly driven by climate change (Duchenne et al. *in prep*).

4. Conservation measures

4.1 Biodiversity change in Belgium and in Europe Evolution of the bee diversity in Belgium

As mentioned above, our study has benefitted from a consistent bee recording history over the last century. Two assessments of bee diversity have been published previously (before the advent of the IUCN and its IUCN Red List methodology): (i) Leclercq et al. in 1980 and (ii) Rasmont et al. in 1993. The latter constitutes the first comprehensive assessment of the complete Belgian wild bee fauna up to 1991. The authors revealed that 25% (i.e. 91 species) of species were already in decline or even extinct at that time (Rasmont et al. 1993; see Appendix 1). To allow a clear comparison, we inferred IUCN categories from the available trends reported in Rasmont et al. (1993) (Table 10; Appendix 3). While only 4 species were considered as Regionally Extinct (RE) in 1993, this proportion has increased tenfold by 2017. However, many rare species were assessed as Data Deficient by Rasmont et al. (1993) due to a lack of knowledge. Without doubt, some of these were already threatened or extinct at that time, which can explain the large difference between both periods.

Table 10. Summary of number of bee species within each IUCN category. IUCN categories for Rasmont et al. (1993) were inferred based on trends reported in that work: "RE" corresponding to an observed estimator since 1950 equal to 0; "threatened categories" were gathered and corresponding to species in relative regression with a highly negative trend (-***); "NT" corresponding to species in relative regression with a negative trend (-***); "LC" corresponding to species in relative expansion (+) and status quo (=); "DD" corresponding to species with an expected estimator <5 for the "since" period.

IUCN Red List Categories	No. species Belgium (Rasmont et al. 1993)	No. species Belgium (Present study)
Extinct (EX)	0	0
Extinct in the Wild (EW)	0	0
Regionally Extinct (RE)	4	45
Critically Endangered (CR)		47
Endangered (EN)	- 81	32 - 113
Vulnerable (VU)		34
Near Threatened (NT)	7	26
Least Concern (LC)	183	161
Data Deficient (DD)	71	36
Total number of species assessed	346	381

However, the number of threatened (i.e. CR, EN, VU; 113 species), regionally extinct and nearly threatened (i.e. NT; 26 species) species strongly increased since 1993. As a result, the proportion of (nearly) threatened or extinct species has doubled over the last 25 years. This regression phrenomenon seems to reach all the categories, which is especially worrying. Also, the assessment of 12% of species

assessed as Least Concern in 1993 has resulted in an upgrading of their threat status in this work (i.e. Near Threatened, Threatened or Regionally Extinct).

Regarding the status by taxonomic group, Rasmont et al. (1993) emphasized a faster decline of Apidae species and Megachilidae to a lesser extent (i.e. long-tongued bees; respectively 53.5% and 30.9%). Except for Melittidae which includes only 9 species, this Red List assesses that this decline was accentuated for all the families by taking into account the proportion of threatened species but also Regionally Extinct ones, such as for Apidae (Tables 8 and 11).

Table 11. Inferred Red List status of bees by taxonomic family and subfamily (as defined by Michener et al. (2007)) in Rasmont et al. (1993). Percentage of threatened species were calculated based on the mid-point figures (i.e. (CR+EN+VU) / (assessed - EX - DD) in which the Extinct (EX) status is not equivalent to the Regionally Extinct (RE) status). N.M refers as bee species not mentioned in Rasmont et al. 1993.

Order	Family	Subfamily	Total	RE	Threatened	NT	LC	DD	% threatened	N.M	% threatened
									(1993)		(2019)
	Andrenidae		76	0	12	0	50	14	19.4%	17	28.6%
		Andreninae	73	0	11	0	49	13	18.3%	17	29.9%
		Panurginae	3	0	1	0	1	1	50.0%	0	0.0%
	Apidae		91	4	38	1	28	20	53.5%	10	36.7%
		Apinae (corbiculate)	26	4	16	0	5	1	64.0%	5	46.7%
		Apinae (not corbiculate)	17	0	8	1	6	2	53.3%	2	41.2%
		Nomadinae	46	0	14	0	16	16	46.7%	2	30.6%
		Xylocopinae	2	0	0	0	1	1	0.0%	1	0.0%
tera	Colletidae		30	0	2	1	17	10	10.0%	8	16.0%
doua		Colletinae	7	0	0	1	4	2	0.0%	2	0.0%
Hyme		Hylaeniae	23	0	2	0	13	8	13.3%	6	23.5%
	Halictidae		72	0	11	3	46	12	18.3%	14	35.9%
		Rhophitinae	4	0	0	0	2	2	0.0%	1	66.7%
		Halictinae	68	0	11	3	44	10	19.0%	13	33.3%
	Megachilidae		70	0	17	2	36	15	30.9%	6	36.4%
		Megachilinae	70	0	17	2	36	15	30.9%	6	36.4%
	Melittidae		7	0	1	0	6	0	14.3%	2	12.5%
		Dasypodainae	1	0	0		1		0.0%	1	0.0%
		Melittinae	6	0	1		5		16.7%	1	16.7%
		Total	346	4	81	7	183	71	29.5%	57	32.8%

Considering functional traits, Rasmont et al. (1993) reported a high proportion of declining kleptoparasitic species, which is congruent with our results. In addition, we now also observe an increasing proportion of threatened species in the other ecological groups of (see 3.2 and 3.3). Compared to their analysis, we can namely highlight a more pronounced regression of bees nesting in the ground (i.e. 15.7% of threatened species in 1993; 32.5% of threatened species in the present Red List) and bees nesting in cavities above ground (i.e. 10.7% of threatened species in regression in 1993; 23.6% of threatened species in the present Red List). In addition, our results indicate in general a similar decline in opportunistic and specialised bees (i.e. respectively 31.6% and 31.2% of threatened species) as well as in the three categories of sociality (i.e. 31%, 33.3% and 36% of threatened species for solitary, primitively eusocial and kleptoparasite respectively). In this respect also the relatively high proportion of Regionally Extinct (i.e. varying from 7.5% for bees nesting in cavities above ground to 21.7% for primitively eusocial bees) and Near Threatened (i.e. varying from 3% for bees nesting in cavities above ground to 9.8% for specialised bees) species in all functional group also has to be considered. Lastly, especially bees having very specific nesting needs (i.e. bees nesting in existing cavities below ground, bees nesting in deadstems, carder bees, bees nesting in snail shells; 27 species) seem to be severely impacted with 12 threatened species, but also 3 Regionally Extinct and 5 Near Threatened species.

Assessments of the bee decline in Europe

Even if the comparison of National Red Lists or Red Data Books of Bees can be tricky, a simple comparison of the percentages of regionally extinct and threatened species of the Belgian Red List with those of other European countries shows that the Belgian bee fauna can be considered as one of the most threatened in Europe, together with that of the Czech Republic, Ireland, Germany, Netherlands and Switzerland (Table 12). In addition to these countries, Powney et al. (2019) highlighted an overall decline in bees (i.e. 25%) and syrphids (i.e. 24%) between 1980 and 2013 in Great Britain. In their study related to the European butterflies, Maes et al. (2019) indicated that the large number of Red Listed butterfly species could be linked to (i) high anthropogenic pressure (e.g. Czech Republic, Konvicka et al. 2006) and/or (ii) high nitrogen deposition in these countries (e.g. Netherlands, WallisDeVries & van Swaay 2017; Belgium, Maes & Van Dyck 2001, Maes et al. 2012) which presents a threat for the terrestrial biodiversity in Europe (Dise et al. 2011). In line with this, Rasmont et al. (2008) already highlighted a negative impact of nitrogen deposition on both nutrient-poor biotopes and the related bee fauna.

Table 12: National species diversity and red List status in European countries. "Npsec"= number of recorded species according to IUCN data (*except for Hungary, Begium, Slovenia (specific checklists) and Netherlands (recent Red List)); "NRLspec"= Number of species on national red list; "%threatened" = Proportion of threatened species based on Nspec/NRLspec (given that NDD species are not known for all Red Lists); "NREspec"= Number of species assessed as Regionnally Extinct (RE) and "NDDspec"= Number of species assessed as Data Deficient (DD). Criteria used for the Red Lists assessments: IUCN = IUCN criteria, NC= national criteria, NM= not mentioned.

Country	Nspec	NRLspec	%threatened	NREspec	NDDspec	Reference of the Red list
Czech Republic	600	242	40.3%	108	N.M	Farkac et al. (2005) ^{IUCN}
Germany	585	194	33.2%	39	15	Westrich et al. (2008; 2011) [№]
Netherlands	331*	110	33.2%	46	2	Reemer (2018) ^{NC, *}
Switzerland	633	192	30.3%	67	N.M	Amiet (1994); Cordillot & Klaus G (2011) ^{IUCN}
Ireland	101	30	29.7%	3	16	Fitzpatrick et al. (2006) IUCN
Belgium	403*	113	28.0%	36	45	Drossart et al. (2019) ^{IUCN} ; *Rasmont et al. (2017b)
Sweden	283	54	19.1%	13	3	Gärdenfors (2010) IUCN
Slovakia	586	105	17.9%	0	0	Feráková et al. (2001) IUCN
Finland	244	43	17.6%	7	0	Rassi et al. (2010) IUCN
Poland	490	84	17.1%	15	111	Głowaciński et al. (2002) IUCN
Great Britain	237	35	14.8%	10	2	Shirt (1987); Falk (1991) NM
Norway	192	26	13.5%	12	N.M	Kålås et al. (2010) ^{IUCN}
Moldova	127	10	7.9%	N.M	N.M	Timuş et al. (2017) ^{IUCN}
Belarus	124	3	2.4%	1	0	Prischchepchik (2008) MM
Latvia	195	4	2.1%	N.M	N.M	Spuris (1998); Patiny et al. (2009) [№]
Italy	897	16	2%	5	N.M	Quaranta et al. (2018) ^{IUCN}
Malta	49	1	2.0%	0	3	Schembri & Sultana (1989) ^{IUCN}
Denmark	261	5	1.9%	2	2	Windt & Pihl (2010)
Slovenia	563*	10	1.8%	N.M	N.M	Gogala (2019) ^{IUCN} ; *Gogala (2014)
Hungary	704*	12	1.7%	N.M	N.M	Sárospataki et al. (2005) ^{IUCN} ; *Jozan (2011)
Spain (mainland)	1008	8	0.8%	N.M	16	Verdú et al. (2011) ^{IUCN}
Lithuania	295	2	0.7%	1	N.M	Rašomavičius (2007) ^{IUCN}
Estonia	179	0	0.0%	5	16	CNCEAS (2008) NM

The biodiversity decline in Belgium

Apart from some highly threatened taxa (e.g. reptiles (57.1%), amphibians (43.8%), ants (52.9%)), the percentage of threatened bee species in Belgium is similar to that of other groups (e.g. beetles (24.3%), mammals (28.4%), nesting birds (29.9%), spiders (33.8%)) (Belgian Federal Government 2018c). However, when compared to, e.g. beetles (9%), mammals (6.7%), nesting birds (5.1%) and spiders

(1.5%) a larger proportion of bee species is classified as Regionally Extinct (Belgian Federal Government 2018c).

Concerning other insects, some regional Red Lists are already available in Belgium. Fichefet et al. (2008) and Maes et al. (2012) applied IUCN criteria at a smaller regional level for butterflies (respectively in Wallonia, South Belgium; and in Flanders, North Belgium). They report that 33.6% (34 species out of 103 assessed species) of butterflies in Wallonia and 37.5% (18 species out of 68 assessed species) in Flanders are threatened according to mid-point calculation. For their study, Maes et al. (2019) combined both regional Red Lists into a Belgian Red List by opting for the lowest extinction risk category of the two regions as the Belgian Red List category. As a result, 50% (55 species out of 112 assessed species) of butterflies are considered threatened following the mid-point value (i.e. substracting 2 DD species). Moreover, a high proportion of butterfly species in these Red Lists is Regionally Extinct (i.e. 17.8% (18 species) in Wallonia and 29.4% (20 species) in Flanders). The majority of threatened butterfly species are linked to semi-natural habitats under pressure (i.e. dry and wet heathlands, nutrient-poor grasslands and deciduous forests) and mostly found in the coastal dune (west) and Campine ecoregion (northeast) in Flanders (Maes et al. 2012). A correlation can also be seen between threatened butterfly species in Wallonia and their habitats: 78% of the butterfly species closely linked to calcareous grasslands are threatened as well as 50% of the forest and wet meadows butterfly species (Fichefet et al. 2008).

Concerning Odonata, Goffart et al. (2006) and De Knijf (2006) performed a Red List assessment for Wallonia and Flanders respectively. In Wallonia (57 evaluated species), 46.4% (26 species; based on the mid-point figure) are threatened and 5.2% (3 species) Regionally Extinct. The majority of threatened species are linked to habitats under pressure (i.e. running water, oligotrophic and mesotrophic pools) and mostly occur in the south (i.e. Fagne-Famenne region, Ardennes and Lorraine region) (Goffart et al. 2006). In Flanders (64 evaluated species), 29.3% (17 species; based on the midpoint figure) are threatened and 9.4% (6 species) Regionally Extinct (De Knijf 2006). Similarly as for butterflies, the two Red Lists can also be combined into a Belgian Red List following the same conservative measure of Maes et al. (2019). On the 69 dragonfly species observed in Belgium, 30.6% (19 species out of 69 assessed species) are then considered threatened at the Belgian level following the mid-point value (i.e. substracting 7 DD species).

However, because these Red List were produced several years ago and of nature restoration actions undertaken for instance within the scope of LIFE projects, we may hope that the situation has meanwhile improved for these two groups in Belgium. Lastly, the Belgian Federal Government (2018c) highlights that 423 vascular plant species out of 1530 native species are threatened (i.e. 27.6%) in Belgium, with a higher proportion in Wallonia (i.e. 31.9%) than in Flanders (i.e 18.7%). Habitat destruction and eutrophication are inferred to explain this decline. These drivers especially impacts habitat specific and localized plants (Wallonie Environnement SPW 2008). This global phenomenon could be linked to bee decline, as already reported by Powney et al. (2019), who showed that 55% of pollinators (i.e. bees and syrphids) in decline are associated with specific habitats (i.e. uplands) in Great Britain.

4.2 Nature conservation strategy at European and Belgian scale

In 2011, the European Union adopted a strategy to protect and improve the biodiversity status in Europe by 2020. Six targets addressing the main drivers of biodiversity loss have been highlighted (Table 13). Twenty focused and time-bound actions were integrated to ensure that ambitions were fully accomplished by covering the main drivers of biodiversity decline and by reducing the strongest pressures on nature. A mid-term review of these targets was conducted in 2015 (European Union 2015).

Target 1: Fully implement the	Action 1: Complete the establishment of the Natura 2000 network and
"Birds" and "Habitats"	ensure good management
Directives	Action 2: Ensure adequate financing of Natura 2000 sites
	Action 3: Increase stakeholder awareness and involvement and improve
	enforcement
	Action 4: Improve and streamline monitoring and reporting
Target 2: Maintain and	Action 5: Improve knowledge of ecosystems and their services in the EU
restore ecosystems and their	Action 6: Set priorities to restore and promote the use of green
services.	infrastructure
	Action 7: Ensure no net loss of biodiversity and ecosystem services
Target 3: increase the	Action 8: Enhance direct payments for environmental public goods in the EU
contribution of agriculture (A)	Common Agricultural Policy
and forestry (B) to	Action 9: Better target Rural Development to biodiversity conservation
maintaining and enhancing	Action 10: Conserve Europe's agricultural genetic diversity
biodiversity	Action 11: Encourage forest holders to protect and enhance forest
	biodiversity
	Action 12: Integrate biodiversity measures in forest management plans
Target 5: Combat Invasive	Action 15: Strengthen the EU Plant and Animal Health Regimes
Alien Species	Action 16: Establish a dedicated instrument on Invasive Alien Species

Table 13. EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020 (European Union 2011). Target 4 was not mentioned because notrelated to bee conservation.

Target 6: Help avert global	Action 17: Reduce indirect drivers of biodiversity loss
biodiversity loss	Action 18: Mobilise additional resources for global biodiversity conservation
	Action 19: 'Biodiversity proof' EU development cooperation
	Action 20: Regulate access to genetic resources and the fair and equitable
	sharing of benefits arising from their use

Since 2006 (update in 2013), a Belgian national biodiversity strategy was also implemented containing 15 prioritary key objectives (and 85 operational objectives) meeting CBD (i.e. Convention of Biological Diversity), European and International requirements (Belgian NFP-CBD 2013a) (Table 14).

Table 14. Belgium's National Strategy to 2020, objectives and their equivalent in the EU strategy 2020 (BelgianNFP-CBD 2013a).

National Objectives	EU strategy 2020
Objective 1: Identify and monitor priority components of biodiversity in Belgium	
Objective 2: Investigate and monitor the effects of threatening processes and	T6 Act. 17c
activities and their causes	
Objective 3: Maintain or restore biodiversity and ecosystem services in Belgium to a	T1 Act. 1bc; T2 Act.
favourable conservation status	6& 7; T5
Objective 4: Ensure and promote the sustainable use of components of biodiversity	T3; T3A; T3A Act. 9
(General; Sustainable products, Consumption and production policies; Agriculture;	& 10; T3B Act. 11 &
Fishery in marine and inland waters; Wise use of wetlands; Forestry; Hunting; Tourism	12; T4 Act. 13 & 14;
and leisure)	T4; T6; T6 Act. 17a
Objective 5: Improve the integration of biodiversity concerns into	T1 Act. 3b; T2 Act.
all relevant sectoral policies	5; T5; T6 Act. 17c
Objective 6: Promote and contribute to an equitable access to and sharing of benefits	T6 Act. 20
arising from the use of genetic resources - ABS	
Objective 7: Improve and communicate scientific knowledge on biodiversity and	T2 Action 5
ecosystem services	
Objective 8: Involve the community through communication, education, public	T1 Action 3a;b
awareness and training	
Objective 9: Strengthen the biodiversity-related regulatory framework and ensure the	T1 Action 3c
implementation of, compliance with and enforcement of biodiversity related	
legislations	
Objective 10: Ensure a coherent implementation of / and between biodiversity-	
related commitments and agreements	
Objective 11: Ensure continued and effective international cooperation for the	T6 Act. 19
protection of biodiversity	
Objective 12: Influence the international agenda within biodiversity-related	Т6
conventions	

Objective 13: Enhance Belgium's efforts to integrate biodiversity concerns into	
relevant international organisations and programmes	
Objective 14: Promote the commitment of cities, provinces and other local authorities	
in the implementation of the Biodiversity Strategy 2020	
Objective 15: Ensure the provision of adequate resources for biodiversity	T1 Act. 2; T6 Act. 18

This Belgium's National Biodiversity Strategy to 2020 gathers goals and actions of the different existing strategies developed at the four levels of government in Belgium (i.e. federal and regional levels; summarized in Belgian NFP-CBD 2013a) and integrates the main objectives (i.e. targets) of the European biodiversity strategy. It represents the first document applicable at the federal as well as the regional level.

Target 1 - *targeting threatened and rare species*: Natura 2000 constitutes the biggest network of protected areas worldwide, covering 18% (950.000 km²) of the total area of the European Union and 12.7% (3883km²) of Belgium (Blerot & Heyninck 2017). These sites were chosen following the developed list of European threatened species and habitats (based on the Birds and Habitats Directives). Each European member state is bound to propose a list of sites allowing to ensure protection of natural habitats, wild fauna and flora on its territory (Blerot & Heyninck 2017). This European and national habitat protection, comprising the associated management measures, is likely beneficial for bees. However, not a single bee species was specifically included in the Habitats Directive. The recently European red list of bees, despite the fact that many bee species are considered Data Deficient, provides an opportunity to specifically include wild bees in European nature conservation (Nieto et al. 2014). Conservation actions could then be designed to specifically target threatened bee species (e.g. LIFE bees).

Beneficial actions for bees in the framework of this European target could be namely applied at the national scale through the key objective 3 (i.e. operational objectives 3.1 and 3.4). The Action Plan currently developed with the Interreg SAPOLL project (see Folschweiller et al. 2019) comes within the scope of the operational objective 3.4 (i.e. "Develop and implement action plans so as to ensure the maintenance or rehabilitation of our most threatened species to a favourable conservation status"). Implementation of this cross-border action plan for wild pollinators is then needed.

At the regional scale, protected areas (i.e. RND – national natural reserves; RNA – certified natural reserves; ZHIB – wet areas of biological intest; RF – forest reserves) cover an area of 0.9% in Wallonia (15.600 ha) compared to nearly 3% in Flanders (i.e. 40.000 ha). While protection of 5% of the total area could ensure an adequate flora and fauna conservation, an augmentation of protected natural reserves is needed in Wallonia (i.e. aiming at the protection of more than 50.000 ha or 3% of the

- 67 -

territory) (Dufrêne 2018). Military camps namely represent remarkable natural areas with a great faunistic and floristic diversity, of which 7.000 ha have already been integrated in the Natura 2000 network and benefit from appropriate management within the scope of the LIFE Natura2MIL (e.g. Elsenborn, Lagland, Marche-en-Famenne in Wallonia). An additional regional protection is then needed in Wallonia, as in Flanders in which military camps represent 25% of protected areas (Dufrêne 2018). A protection linked to bee hotspots (see 3.4; namely heathlands, calcareous grasslands, coastal dunes)) could then be applied in order to preserve the species richness as well as threatened species. Moreoever, roadsides (e.g. shoulders, ditches, enbankments) constitue great biological passageways, covering around 20.000 ha in Wallonia and 25.000 ha in Flanders (Wallonie Environnement SPW 2012; Underwood et al. 2017). Maintenance measures like extensive mowing and prohibition of pesticides contribute to the conservation of diversity in roadsides.

Target 2 - *targeting common species providing services*: Ecosystem services can be grouped into (i) support services which enable essential ecosystem functions (e.g. hydrologic cycle, photosynthesis, oxygen production, ...), (ii) regulation services (iii) supply services and (iv) cultural services (Belgian NFP-CBD 2013a). Insect pollination is highly important for the reproduction of wild and cultivated plants. Jacquemin et al. (2017) mapped the dependency of crops on pollinators in Belgium. They highlighted that the part of plant production for human food dependent on pollination represents a value of 251.6 million euros in Belgium in 2010, which corresponds to 11.1% of the total value of plant production in terms of quantity and quality (Jacquemin et al. 2017). A high spatial variability is present, with Flanders being more dependent on pollinators (especially the southern part of Limburg and eastern Flemish Brabant with a pollination value of, respectively, 108.8 million euros and 46.8 million euros and a rate of vulnerability > 20% for both (i.e. ratio between the insect pollination economic value and the total production economic value)) than Wallonia. This contrast is mostly due to the differences in crops between Provinces. While Limburg and Flemish Brabant are the main regions for fruit production (i.e. apple, pears, cherries), Hainaut and West Flanders for instance are dominated by cereals (Jacquemin et al. 2017).

Beneficial actions for bees of this European target could be namely applied at the national level through the key objective 3 (i.e. operational objective 3.3), 5 (i.e. operational objective 5.11) and 7 (i.e. operational objectives 7.2, 7.4, 7.6). The study of Jacquemin et al. (2017) comes within the scope of the operational objective 7.4 (i.e. "*Mapping ecosystem services in Belgium and assessing their values*"). More research is needed improve our knowledge on biodiversity and ecosystem services to carry out adapted conservation measures.

Target 3: Agricultural lands represent 45% of Belgium's surface area, woodlands 23% (Belgian Federal Government 2018b). Agricultural changes and modifications represent one of the major driver of bee decline (see 3.5 Major threat to bees).

Benefitial actions for bees of this European target could be namely applied at the national level through key objective 4 (i.e. operational objectives 4c.1-8) and should be connected with the key objective 3. Measures have urgently to be taken to mitigate the negative impact of intensive agriculture on bees (e.g. consideration of bees in agroenvironmental measures (i.e MAE in Wallonia) such as the reduction of pesticides or the setting-up of floral strips). The entire bee biodiversity as well as species needs could also be taken into account in woodland management (i.e. operational objectives 4f.1 & 2). A serious transformation of agriculture and sylviculture is needed to achieve targets 1 & 2. A part of the recommended actions (see 5.1) aims to mitigate bee decline in these areas.

Target 5: Invasive alien species (especially plants and insects) can directly or indirectly impact native bees. Impacts of alien plants seem to vary according the plant taxa (e.g. melliferous or not), the functional traits of the bees (e.g. specialist or generalist species) as well as the ecological context (e.g. flower-rich or flower-poor environment) (Stout & Morales 2009). While some bee species might suffer from these invasions (e.g. replacement of native host plants of specialist species, or low diet quality of invasive plants for some generalist bees, Roger et al. 2016a)), other bees could incorporate with benefit invasive plants in their diet (e.g. opportunistic generalist species, such as *Bombus terrestris* and *Bombus pascuorum* (Kleijn & Raemakers 2008; Roger et al. 2016a)). Several studies highlighted that the removal of a valuable diet resource (e.g. *Buddleia davidii, Impatiens glandulifera, Senecio inaequidens*) in forage-depleted environments could negatively impact these generalist bees (e.g. Rasmont et al. 1990; Saad et al. 2009; Drossart et al. 2017; Davis et al. 2018). Moreover, invasion of alien plants could also indirectly impact on bees through their competition with native plants, especially for specialist bees that display low diet plasticity (e.g. for nutrients, light, ware, space, pollination) (Chittka & Schürkens 2001; Müller et al. 2006; Stout & Morales 2009).

Direct and indirect impacts of invasive insects on bees are numerous and varied (Stout & Morales 2009). Main impact of invasive insects could be linked to (i) the competition for resources and nesting sites; (ii) transmission of pathogens and (iii) reproductive disruption through interspecific mating (Goulson 2003; Traveset & Richardson 2006; Morales 2007). Indirect impacts could also occur on native bees through modification of plant communities induced by invasive insects. Stout & Morales (2009) highlighted that worldwide circa 20 bee species (mainly *Apis mellifera, Bombus* spp, *Osmia* spp, *Megachile* spp, ...) have been introduced out of their native range, namely as part of economical

activities. For example, *Megachile sculpturalis* currently constitutes a new invader in Europe (Geslin et al. 2017). This species could be the first alien bee to invade Belgium.

Benefitial actions for bees of this European target could be namely applied at the national level through the key objective 3 (i.e. operational objective 3.7) and 5 (i.e. operational objective 5.7) of Belgium's National strategy (Table 14).

4.3 Conservation of bee species in the European Union and Belgium

In the European Union, the LIFE projects (LIFE + Nature and Biodiversity) aim at restoring target habitats of species (i.e. through the Birds and Habitat Directives) in Natura 2000 sites to halt biodiversity loss. Among the three main pollinator groups (i.e. bees, hoverflies, butterflies), only butterflies are directly targeted in projects which aim at the restoration of populations of threatened butterflies as well as their habitats (e.g. LIFE papillons, LIFE Nardus). Nevertheless, also other LIFE projects (e.g. LIFE Helianthème, LIFE Bocage, LIFE Herbage, LIFE Pays Mosan, LIFE in Quarries) are beneficial to pollinators through the restoration of natural, semi-natural and even anthropic habitats (e.g. calcareous lawns, meadows, pastures, quarries, ...), of which many are of prime importance for wild bees. As already mentioned (i.e. point 4.2 – target 1), the integration of bees and hoverflies in the Natura 2000 species lists could allow specific conservation actions for these groups.

Moreoever, the European Commission proposed on the 1 June 2018 the first-ever EU initiatives to address the decline of wild pollinators. Thanks to growing research at the European (i.e. European Red Lists of bees and butterflies, ALARM and STEP projects) and national (e.g., Rasmont et al. 2005; Biesmeijer et al. 2006; Vray 2018) level, our understanding of their trends, threats they face and consequences of their loss has improved. This has resulted in increasing pollinator initiatives in the EU Member states (Underwood et al. 2017). Three priorities were set by EU and its Member states to tackle the pollinator decline: (i) Improving knowledge of pollinator decline, its causes and consequences; (ii) Tackling the causes of pollinator decline and (iii) Raising awareness, engaging society-at-large and promoting collaboration (European Commission 2018).

In Belgium, the study of wild bees is mainly undertaken by academic institutions (e.g. UMONS, UGENT, ULB, ULiège Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech, ...) as well as two non-governmental nature organisations (Natuurpunt, Natagora).

Since 2016, the Interreg "France-Wallonie-Vlaanderen" SAPOLL project aims to develop a cross border action plan for wild pollinators (Folscwheiller et al. 2019; www.sapoll.eu). Including local actors in each region, this plan is adapted to regional context and regulations. It is also based on scientific studies at the regional scale (i.e. in the scope of BELBEES). Within SAPOLL, partners namely aim the above-mentioned bee inventory effort through (i) sampling campaigns in under-sampled areas in Belgium;

- 70 -

and (ii) mobilizing naturalist networks to recruit new entomologists specialized in wild bees (by means of training, working group animations, citizen science (for more information see box 5)). An atlas of the cross-border area for bumblebees (*Bombus*) is also planned. While bumblebees constitute the best studied group in Belgium and Northern France, the knowledge on the other groups is less complete and additional inventories are needed to better understand their ecology and current geographical distribution.

A second Interreg project "Vlaanderen-Netherlands" (Meer natuur voor pittig fruit) has been launched in 2016 and gathers 5 regional landscape/nature organisations (3 Flemish and 2 Dutch), the Province of Vlaams-Brabant and an international research institute for fruit farming. It focuses on increasing wild bee populations orchards and benefits from the collaboration of more than 100 fruit farmers as well as land and water managers around farms (i.e. municipalities, water boards).

These Interreg projects also include a raising awareness through varied actions for citizens (e.g. encourage the bee-friendly gardens with bee hostels and natural nesting sites in soil, cross-border traveller exhibition, information species sheets on common bees, events, ...). In recent years, public awareness has markedly grown through public and NGO initiatives and campaigns (e.g. bee hotels, general public "bee" events like "Week van de bij" in Flanders, "Semaine de l'abeille & des pollinisateurs" in Wallonia) (Underwood et al. 2017).

Box 5 – The arrival of citizen science in Belgium

The last decades have seen a large increase in citizen science data in Belgium, as in other countries (e.g. UK (Roy et al. 2016)). This recent rise through the monitoring of emblematic insect groups (e.g. butterflies, bees) as well as the volunteers' interest in this research task is due to the fact that the development of several new knowledge dissemination and species occurrence recording tools for naturalists. First is the creation of online platforms where naturalists can post their observations, even directly in the field using apps, and in return get a real-time overview of which species are recorded and their distribution. Most commonly used in Belgium is the naturalist platform (https://observations.be (FR) and https://waarnemingen.be (NL)), which is used by tens of thousands of users. A team of administrators guards the data quality by record validation, mostly through pictures. A recent advance is an automatic species identification tool based on machine learning using validated pictures. In parallel, digital photograpy partially replaces the need for collection since pictures can increasingly be used to communicate and validate observations. Fueled by the above there has also been a steady demand for and increase in expertise of wild bee field and picture-based recognition among naturalists, supported by bee specialists.

Box 5 – The arrival of citizen science in Belgium

This knowledge is rapidly spread through common activities (often by the Aculea working group) and social media. This has also resulted in the publication of new identification keys and even field guides for the broader public in the last years. Those keys are well-illustrated and written in Dutch and French, thus reducing the distance between professional taxonomists and naturalists.

In spite of significant biases in records (for instance towards the more striking species, and species that are identifiable in the field), citizen science seems very effective to map the occurrence of rare as well as invasive species (Dickinson et al. 2010; Ward 2014). Moreover, it can also provide useful data on the occurrence of common species, as proved with this Red List. In the last few years and more recently within the scope of collaborative projects (i.e. BELSPO-project BELBEES; Interreg France-Wallonie-Vlaanderen SAPOLL project), two of the biggest nature conservation organizations in Belgium (i.e. Natuurpunt and Natagora) have mobilized their volunteers (e.g. through the working group *Aculea* in Flanders) to increase the number of observations of pollinators (i.e. especially in syrphids and bees) in under-sampled areas. Indeed, involving volunteers allows a larger sampling of data at larger scale and with a finer resolution (Hochachka et al. 2012). Collected data coming from citizen science in Belgium have been included in the dataset used to produce this Red List (Table 2).

Several action plans and initiatives have been proposed and undertaken by governments at different levels in Belgium (i.e. federal, regional, local). However, most of them are focussed on the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*), at least in Wallonia and Flanders, and none is focusing on the conservation of wild bees. However, indirect measures (e.g. protected areas, mass flower crops, agri-environment schemes, ...) initiated for other threatened groups (e.g. birds) tend to benefit to pollinators (Nieto et al. 2014).

Belgium

The Belgian federal authority acts at different levels to preserve bees, mainly honeybees. Two successive bee plans have been developed: the first (2012-2014) aimed to establish a federal and national "Bee" governance allowing the implementation of tangible actions (see www.info-abeilles.be; Cuypers 2013); the second one (2017-2019) aims to help beekeepers as much as possible, improving knowledge on honeybee decline, better risk management as well as mobilising concerned actors (Auwers 2017). As highlighted by Underwood et al. (2017), policy competence for most relevant areas linked to the conservation of wild pollinators depends on regional governments, which have not yet developed regional strategies focused on wild pollinators (but see next chapters).

In parallel, a federal working group (i.e. the "Pollinators Working Group", previously the "Bee Working Group") was founded in 2012 and gathers federal, regional and local authorities and entities. It constitutes an expert group created and mandated by the Coordination Committee for International
Environmental Policy to inform and advise on policies affecting pollinators and pollination. It gathers scientific experts, civil society organisations, government administrations, universities and associations. A list of additional actions/measures for bees (i.e. wild and honey bees) was elaborated by this working group in 2012:

- Development of a permanent monitoring tool for wild bees;
- Development of a honey bee tool, such as "honey bee, sentinel of health and environement";
- Development of an integrated tool of a monitoring of bees' exposure to neonicotinoids;
- Developing a legal protection for endangered wild bee species in Flanders and Brussels;
- Consideration of bees in agroenvironmental measures (MAE);
- Establishing a Bee Coalition (i.e. developing a stable WG "bees").

Given the favourable context (e.g. gain of attention for pollinators; Belgium being a member of the Coalition of the Willing on Pollinators, future Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) and the regional/federal elections, ...), a pollinator strategy will be formulated compiling ongoing and new actions/measures for pollinators in 2019. Main axes of the new action list will be (i) a favourable common agricultural policy, (ii) the conservation of natural areas for pollinators, (iii) an extensive management and green network in favour of pollinators, (iv) a better beekeeping policy, (v) education and awareness.

Within the scope of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) beyond 2020, the working group has also recommended in particular to:

- Incorporate in the rules on conditionality all the basic legal requirements that are part of the EU regulatory framework providing safeguards for the environment andbiodiversity.
- Encourage the inclusion of the conservation and sustainable use of pollinators in the possible eco-schemes proposed by the Member States.
- Implement the pollinator indicator that is in development under EU Pollinators Initiative.

Lastly, the NAPANprogram (2018-2022) is a national action plan which aims at reducing the pesticide use as well as their impact on environment and health through implemented actions by federal and regional authorities (i.e. regional action plans in Wallonia, Flanders ans Brussel-Capital). Pesticide use in public areas are then planned to be banned in the three Regions according to their action plan and timeframe (e.g. ban of pesticide use in amenity areas from 2019 in Wallonia; prohibition of pesticides uses in 2015 in Flanders for public places offering a public service to vulnerable groups like hospitals, schools, churches, ...) but many towns have already either stopped the use of pesticides or significantly reduced their use (Underwood et al. 2017).

At the Flemish level

The Flemish Region has adopted a program for beekeeping (i.e. Bijenteeltprogramma 2017 – 2019) which aims to improve conditions for apicultural production and commercialization of beehive products (Auwers 2017). In parallel, Natuurpunt (i.e. the largest Flemish nature conservation organization) undertakes every year several local (i.e. small-scale) wild bee projects aiming to (1) make general inventories of wild bees or search for a specific bee species (e.g. Andrena hattorfiana) (often in collaboration with volunteers - see below); (2) suggest recommendations for wild bee-friendly management based on these inventories, and (3) increase knowledge and awareness of wild bees of the public and local administrations. Several municipalities and provinces have then been inventoried (e.g., Aalst, Merelbeke, Beersel, Leuven, Zaventem, some sites in Flemish Brabant and in Limburg, ...), namely in the scope of the Interreg SAPOLL project during which more data have been gathered in East- and West-Flanders. For instance, 109 bee species were discovered in a joint effort of professionals and volunteers in Leuven (i.e. an urban area) (D'Haeseleer 2014). Moreover, several intensively mown nutrient-poor lawns were transformed in extensive flower-rich haymeadows. A similar project led in Beersel has resulted in the discovery of 141 wild bee species (D'Haeseleer et al. 2015; Veraghtert et al. 2017). Like for the city of Leuven, a blueprint for wild bee-friendly management of the bee hotspots in the township was made. The investigated areas for all inventories combined include townships, nature reserves, green areas but also companies, orchard landscapes, sown flower strips, recreational areas, gardens, ... These result in both a better knowledge of the current distribution of wild bees in Flanders (more information at natuurpunt.be, section "publicatie"), but in at least several cases also in real management actions for wild bees (only a few of municipalities used the toolkit of recommandations propoposed (Underwood et al. 2017)).

At the Walloon level

The Walloon Region has launched in 2011 the MAYA plan which aims to protect bees and other pollinators in order to positively impact on the environment, biodiversity and our food (Marot 2015). This plan primilary focusses on honeybees as well as wild pollinators in a lesser extent and is designed for citizens, beekeepers, municipalities but also provinces. Through its actions, the MAYA plan promotes (i) the augmentation of the food resources availability (e.g. creation of flowering meadows, use of 2/3 of melliferous plants in hedges and plantation of orchards); (ii) the implementation of late mowing; (iii) the research on diseases, viruses and contaminations resulting from the use of pesticides; (iv) the training support for new beekeepers and (v) the development of wild bee-friendly managements. The Provinces as well as 211 municipalities are involded in this plan.

Moreoever, samplings and bee inventories are undertaken in the Walloon Region by the Zoology lab (UMONS) (e.g. in terrils, natural reserves, agricultural areas) and the Agroecology lab (ULB) in the

Walloon Brabant (20 sites, orchard/arable pilot project monitored by CRA-W) and in the Luxembourg Province (15 sites, LIFE Herbages project).

At the Brussels-Capital level

Historical bee data of the twenty last years were compiled at this regional scale in the scope of the BRUBEES project financed by Brussels Environment. It also aimed to raise awareness of citizens (i.e. citizen sciences), firemen and green space managers.

Structured surveys conducted since 2015 by the Agroecology lab (ULB) are yielding their first results, illustrating that certain categories of urban green spaces such as community gardens (i.e. urban agriculture) are of particularly high conservation value in urban areas. Standardized samplings by the Agroecology lab have also been undertaken in parallel of the BELBEES project in Brussels (40 sites, urban wild bees). Based on the BRUBEES project experience, the WildBnB project (2018-2020) aims to produce an atlas of the bees of Brussels-Capital Region as well as a regional Red List. This project is led by the Agroecology lab (ULB) with active collaboration by IRSNB/RBINS, Natuurpunt and Natagora.

Box 6 - Regulatory framework for wild bee conservation in Belgium

Wallonia

The law of the Nature Conservation of the 12th July 1973, updated with the Decree of the 6th December 2001 (appendix IIb) includes a list of 47 species of wild bees which are strictly protected. The publication of this Red List highlights the necessity to bring this list of protected species up to date. While some of these protected species were assessed as Least Concern (LC) (i.e. *Andrena fuscipes, Anthidium punctatum, Colletes cunicularius, Dasypoda hirtipes, Epeoloides coecutiens, Macropis spp., Nomada obscura, Osmia bicolor, Panurgus spp. and Trachusa byssina*), others were assessed as Regionally Extinct (RE) (i.e. *Andrena marginata, Anthophora aestivalis, Anthophora plagiata, Bombus distinguendus*) since they seem to have disappeared from this country. This protection implies a ban on sampling, disrupting or destroying specimens, as well as having, carrying, exchanging, collecting, selling or buying sampled/ pinned specimens, but also altering sites where populations of these species occur (Goffart et al. 2006).

Flanders

No bee species occurring is currently under legal protection. A regional Red List has firstly to be produced and be evaluated by INBO (Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek). After that, threatened species can potentially be added to the list of protected species in Flanders.

Brussels-Capital

No bee species is currently under legal protection.

5. Recommendations

5.1 Recommended actions

The scientific results of the BELBEES project (Rasmont et al. 2019) show a tangible impact of current human practices on wild bees in Belgium. This includes factors such as habitat loss, pesticides, food resource depletion and climate change. We should thus adapt our practices at several levels (regional, federal and European) in order to reduce the negative impact of human practices on wild bees. We could even imagine that some fields of action, such as agriculture, could become leverages for wild bees' conservation. To do so, new regulations, promotion of good practices that already exist and new management practices (farming, public spaces, industries, green spaces, ...) are needed. Plus, awareness raising and promotion of good practices are needed to stimulate and valorise the actions taken. Finally, scientific research and wild bee inventories and monitorings have to be maintained or implemented in Belgium in order to fill the remaining knowledge gaps.

The next recommendations are of great importance for wild bee conservation. As already mentioned, a first study on the pollination service in Belgium (Jacquemin et al. 2017) concluded that the majority of crop production in Belgium does not depend on wild pollinators. Nevertheless, this study also estimates the value of the pollination service for pollination-dependent crops at 251 million euros per year in Belgium which issubstantial. This is especially the case for provinces like Flemish Brabant and Limburg. The further recommendations are thus essential to durably maintain food quality and food security in Belgium.

Recommended actions for wild bees' conservation in Belgium

The following recommendations are a synthesis from two main sources: the BELBEES final report (Rasmont et al. 2019) and the SAPOLL action plan (Folschweiller et al. 2019). More precisely, we had a close look at the scientific results of BELBEES, a recent project (2014-2018) that tackled the causes of wild bee decline in Belgium. From the outcomes of this project we proposed conservation actions for wild bees that are in coherence with the action plan for wild pollinators of Belgium and north of France (SAPOLL project).

First, we will summarize the consequences of factors causing wild bee decline and address the associated conservation measures that are needed. These will be followed by more specific recommendations (action 1-5) and complementary actions such as awareness raising and scientific monitoring (action 6-7).

1. Floral resources depletion

Scientific studies show a shift in floral resources exploited by Belgian wild bees (Roger et al. 2016a) with possible nutritional impacts (diets quality and quantity, health and development – Vanderplanck et al. 2014, 2018; Moerman et al. 2015; Roger 2016b; Drossart al. 2017) and also inducing changes in the plant-bee's networks (Jacquemin et al. in prep). It appears that some generalist bee species such as bumblebees may be able to compensate and shift their diet if suitable flower resources are available (Moerman et al. 2017). However, generalist species might be impacted if they have to shift to poornutrient resources, such as Asteraceae (Vanderplanck et al. 2018). In regard, specialist species seem less able to shift their diet and are more threatened by the disappearance of their floral resources (Jacquemin et al. 2018).

Thus, it is critically important to increase the floral resources availability and quality in the landscape in order to provide for the nutritional needs of wild bees and to improve their health and resilience to other decline factors.

More precisely, we recommend the following actions:

- Restoration of (semi-)natural habitats and small-scale landscape elements that provide floral resources in the landscape. It is important to increase the proportion of areas and habitats that provide flower resources (see actions n°26 to 32 from Folschweiller et al. 2019) on a landscape scale in order to enhance the resilience and maintenance of wild bee communities, and provide a source of wild pollinators for adjacent croplands. This is especially important in areas that suffer great variations in flower resources through space and/or time, such as agricultural areas with crops or orchards (Quinet et al. 2016) or natural areas like heathlands (Moquet et al. 2017; Pauly 2018).

- **Promote the best resource plants for wild bees in (sub)urban areas**. This can be done through a list, or database, of recommended plants taking into account their importance for specialist and generalist bees, their nutritional value, the local context (i.e. climate and soil) and land use (i.e. public areas, municipal flowerbeds, agricultural areas, citizen's gardens, ...). This could lead to a beneficial change in flower resources, especially in urban or suburban landscapes. Plus, this would be a good support to encourage an adequate local plant production (i.e. indigenous, high-quality and non-treated plants - see action n°22 from Folschweiller et al. 2019).

- Improve the availability of flowering plants that benefit to some target bee species that are declining, rare or ecologically important. This can be done through programs to restore population of indigenous plants that declined during last century, through ecological or agricultural measures such as MAE schemes as well as through cities, green spaces and garden flowering. The flower resources

- 77 -

have to be enhanced in quantity and quality (flower species choices) and availability (adapted to the bee's phenology and geographical range).

- **Promote good practices for the management of flowering plants in all types of areas**. This would allow spontaneous and managed flowering plants to express their whole potential as food resources for wild bees (quantity, quality and availability). This implies to adapt management practices such as pesticides use, mowing and pruning calendars and to integrate wild bees' requirements in all green spaces managements (actions n° 21 to 32 in Folschweiller et al. 2019).

- **Review the law regarding thistle removal**. Thistles are important plants for wild bees (Pauly & Coppée 2017) and particularly for bumblebee males (Vray et al. 2017). The current laws making thistle removal mandatory could negatively affect the bumblebee populations that are already threatened by global environmental changes. We thus recommend to abrogate or limit the law to some thistle species and/or to some specific areas such as crop hedges (see action n°24 in Folschweiller et al. 2019).

2. Habitat fragmentation

The Belgian landscape dramatically changed during last century, especially through drivers like urbanisation, industrialisation and agricultural intensification with severe impacts on land use and degree of fragmentation. These landscape changes in Belgium were shown to have a negative effect on bumblebees' assemblages (Vray 2018, Vray et al. 2019) and we suspect that other wild bees, with smaller dispersion abilities or higher habitat requirements, are probably even more at risk. At this stage more studies are still needed to better understand the effects of habitats fragmentation on wild bees. Nevertheless, in this context it is important to maintain some key elements for wild bees' conservation: (i) to provide all ecological requirements within the flight range of bees (resource plants, nesting sites, nesting material in a suitable microclimate); (ii) to maintain population connectivity.

These first results bring us to strongly recommend to improve the wild bee habitat availability and quality in the landscape to provide nesting (nesting sites, nesting material, ...) and floral resources to bees and to allow bee communities to thrive in the Belgian landscape. We also recommend to ensure wild bee population connectivity to avoid any future genetic pauperization and to improve wild bee resilience to other decline factors.

More precisely, we recommend the following actions:

- **Protect and restore (semi-)natural wild bee habitats**. Attention must be paid to key (semi-)natural habitats on which bees, and pollinators in general, are highly dependent (e.g. uplands, nutrient-poor grasslands, dry and wet heathlands, deciduous forests...) through protection, suitable management and restoration actions (see actions n° 26 to 32 from Folschweiller et al. 2019). This would allow to create safe areas (no pesticides use, adapted management practices, ...) providing ecological

requirements to wild bees (flower and nesting resources). A list of interesting habitats, taking into account the geographic region, the plant and bee communities associated, ... would be of great help in order to prioritise habitat conservation for wild bees. As an example, Svensson et al. (2000) investigated the habitat preferences of nest-seeking bumblebees in an agricultural landcape in Sweden. They seemed to prefer forest and field boundaries as well as open uncultivated areas and landscapes. Quality and connectivity of these preserved habitats should be included in their management plans. Indeed, several studies highlighted the importance of hedgerows and artificial linear landscape features for bees (i.e. bumblebees but also less common species) and plants which depend on them for pollination in intensive agricultural landscapes (Cranmer et al. 2012; Morandin & Kremen 2013). As well, many studies (e.g. Mallinger et al. 2016) emphasized the importance of diverse landscapes, such as flower-rich grasslands and orchards, for bees by providing food resources throughout the entire foraging period and other species' requirements (e.g. nest sites). Also, we suggest to create natural reserves in Belgium in sites hosting wild bee communities of regional or national importance.

- Increase the suitability of urban and agricultural areas for wild bees. These places have a potential for hosting wild bee communities and an adequate management could act as a leverage for wild bee conservation on a large part of the Belgian territory. As a general rule preserving undisturbed elements in the landscape such as hedgerows, micro-reliefs and embankments and respecting the spontaneity of wildlife will help providing natural nesting and flower resources. Also a general management of risks for wild bees (pesticides, mowing and pruning calendar...) and improvement of floral resources offer can have a positive effect on wild bees. Finally, bee-friendly practices need to be implemented and tested in urban areas (differential management, melliferous planting, ...) and in agriculture (agro-ecology, precision agriculture, flowering crops like leguminous grops, crop rotations, flower margins, ...).

- Have a dynamic conservation approach for wild bees. Indeed, bees are able to disperse by flying and seem to be able to quickly colonize new habitats fitting their floral and nesting requirements. In the current context of global change (climate and landscape), a dynamic conservation of wild bees through time (e.g. climatic sanctuaries) and space (e.g. urban wildernesses moving around the city) seems necessary for their sustainable conservation in Belgium. This dynamic conservation infers to identify the future protection areas and to plan bee conservation. Dynamic conservation also implies to better understand wild bee dispersal abilities in the landscape to contribute to habitats connectivity and thus allow gene flow between populations (see action n°2 from Folschweiller et al. 2019).

3. Disease emergence

Metagenomic surveys targeting bee pathogens have been conducted on wild bees in Belgium and highlighted the fact that wild bee pathogens are very poorly known. Also, wild bees carry very specific sets of viruses and parasites such as microsporidias and trypanosomes (Schoonvaere et al. 2016). More research is needed to better describe the pathogenosphere of wild bees and to study the pathogenicity of newly described viruses and parasites.

These first results bring us to strongly recommend to apply the precaution principle regarding diseases in managed and wild bee species in order to limit diseases transmission and propagation.

More precisely, we recommend the following actions:

- Study the pathogenicity of wild bee parasites and viruses in bumblebees, *Osmia* spp., and other wild bees. In order to do so, more research should be performed on these diseases (see action n° 3 from Folschweiller et al. 2019).

- Evaluate the effect of management practices on disease prevalence in wild bee populations. Indeed, we currently lack information regarding the effect of some management practices on the prevalence of some diseases in wild bee populations. Measures that increase the proximity of pollinators (such as proximity of hives, insect hostels, ...) might enhance the risk of infection and disease transmission (see action n° 3 from Folschweiller et al. 2019). Sanitary rules might come out of such evaluations and allow the improvement of wild bee management practices.

- Implement the observation and monitoring of the pollinator trade in Belgium. The trade of managed pollinators such as honey bees (*Apis mellifera*) and more recently bumblebees (*Bombus terrestris, Bombus* sp.), *Osmia* spp. (*Osmia cornuta, Osmia bicornisi*) and *Mechachile rotundata*) is increasing in the world and in Europe. The movement of these managed pollinators breed in other countries will inevitably bring along the genetic contamination of local populations and new diseases in Belgium. Invasive species (e.g. potentially *M. sculpturalis* in Belgium) can also represent a vector of novel pathogens for native species (Stout & Morales 2009). Since we are currently not able to screen for the diseases of wild bee species, we recommend to apply the precaution principle by monitoring the importation of pollinators in Belgium (keep records of the trades and organize traceability of the bees) and to elaborate pest controls in parallel (see action n° 25 from Folschweiller et al. 2019).

4. Pesticide development and fertilizers

Lethal effects of pesticides used in Belgium are egenerally tested on honey bees (*Apis mellifera*) but there still is a lack of knowledge regarding their effect on bumblebees and other wild bees as well as on their sublethal and chronic effects. Exploratory studies exist but more researchis needed on the effect of pesticides on bumblebees and other wild bees, for instance through the development of

- 80 -

biomarkers. Moreoever, few studies have addressed the impact of cocktails of agrochemicals on bees which could interact synergetically (Goulson et al. 2015).

These preliminary results bring us to strongly recommend to apply the precaution principle and to limit wild bee exposure to pesticides in order to avoid sublethal and lethal negative effects and to enhance the health and resilience of wild bee populations to other causes of decline.

Plus, multiple effects (e.g. photochemical smog, acidification, eutrophication) can be caused by a single nitrogen atom via the series of chemical transformations that it undergoes throughout its progression in the environment (called "nitrogen cascade") (Galloway & Cowling 2002; Galloway et al. 2003; Gruber & Galloway 2008). Since 1950, the sudden increase in the concentration of available nitrogen induced changes in the specific composition, productivity, dynamic and diversity of ecosystems (Matson et al. 2002; Guber & Galloway 2008; Tylianakis et al. 2008). In particular, the eutrophication of ecosystems has led to the disappearance of former oligotrophic biotopes and their replacement by current eutrophic biotopes (Robinson & Sutherland 2002; Rasmont et al. 2005; Rasmont 2008). At the same time, the pollinating fauna dependent on these plant species (e.g. bumblebees, solitary bees) would also appear to be negatively influenced (Rasmont et al. 1993; Rasmont et al. 2005). However, the impact of eutrophication on bees is still poorly understood, although this issue could be a major cause of the decline in apifauna (Rasmont 2008; Le Féon et al. 2010).

More precisely, we recommend the following actions:

- **Develop biomarkers for pesticide intoxications for bees**. The development of a specific biomarker in honey bees (*Apis mellifera*) would allow us to monitor the pesticide exposure risks in Belgium. In parallel, studies on pesticide toxicity and biomarker development are essential to understand the effect of pesticide mixes and pesticide molecules on solitary bees and bumblebees (see action n°3 from Folschweiller et al. 2019).

- Test the relative diagnostic potential of solitary and social bee species to track the presence of pesticides in the environment. Preliminary results by the Agroecology lab (project URBEESTRESS, funded by Bruxelles Environnement and in collaboration with UGent) indicate that solitary bees that collect pollen in bee hotels can be reliably used to monitor the presence of pesticides across urban green spaces in urban environments; parallel experiments in Wallonia led by CRA-w and Agroecology lab suggest that honeybees and solitary bees are complementary for this analytical approach and should therefore be used together to provide a more detailed evaluation of pesticide residues in the environment. Finally, the Agroecology lab has also led a pilot study (ToxiFlore, funded by Bruxelles Environnement and in collaboration with UGent) providing evidence of the presence of pesticides in

leaves, flowers and pollen of horticultural plants available in garden shops to the public. This might therefore represent another route of exposition to pesticides for wild bees in urban habitats.

- **Promote good sanitary practices and adapt the regulatory framework for pesticides use**. Currently some first measures could be implemented on the field to reduce the risks for pollinators through the control of pesticide use. This would imply to change the regulatory framework of currently used pesticides, veterinary products and biocides (see action n°21 from Folschweiller et al. 2019).

- Promote alternatives for pesticides to farmers and other land managers. New management practices are needed in agricultural areas and green spaces in order to stop, or greatly limit the pesticides use in Belgium (see action n°21 from Folschweiller et al. 2019). In agricultural areas we recommend to accompany farmers into a transition toward different farming practices (ex: crop diversification, agroforestry, agroecology, organic farming, ...). In non-agricultural areas (ex: road edges, public green spaces, citizen's gardens, ...) adapted practices need to be more broadly applied (organic treatments, differentiated management, ...).

- **Study the impact of nitrate inputs in different anthropogenic systems.** Following the European Directive (91/676/EEC) concerning the protection of waters against pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources, strategies to reduce nitrate inputs were settled and applied by federal and regional authorities in Belgium (i.e. 277kg/ha in 1990 to 165kg/ha in 2008 in arable lands, Belgian Federal Government 2008). However, few studies focussed on direct impact of these inputs with long residence time (from decades to centuries according to the soil type, Galloway et al. 2003) on pollinators (e.g. bees, Le Féon et al. 2010). In order to do so, more research should be performed on this topic.

5. Climate change

The current studies on climate change focused on global warming scenarios (Rasmont et al. 2015) as well as punctual extreme temperature events like heat waves. The consequences of these climate displays on wild bees' ecology, morphology and physiology (heat-stress resistance, phenological shifts, body size changes, ...) are resulting research domains. Also, we need to better understand the interactions with other global changes such as landscape change (Marshall et al. 2018) and habitat fragmentation. Climate change should then be studied in a dynamic way (i.e. integrating other environmental factors). Nevertheless, some functional consequences have already been shown on plant-pollinators networks (Schleuning et al. 2016), heat-resistance (Martinet et al. in prep), body size (Gérard et al. 2018) ... As a general trend, specialist species or species with a narrow climatic niche seem to be more at risk.

These results bring us to strongly recommend to support programs for climate change mitigation and to take actions to reduce climatic risks for wild bees.

More precisely, we recommend the following actions:

- Study further the effects and mechanisms of climate change (in synergy with other global changes) on wild bees. A better understanding of the effects and mechanisms of climate change - and its' synergies with other decline factors - is crucial to implement mitigation measures for wild bees (see action n°3 from Folschweiller et al. 2019). Further research is needed on wild bees and host plants phenological shifts. Furthermore, modelling the future climatic wild bees' sanctuaries would help to better plan sustainable wild bees' conservation (see action n°2 from Folschweiller et al. 2019).

- Focus on reducing all the other causes of decline for wild bees. Climate change is a global issue for which mitigation cannot be totally managed at Belgian scale. In this context, focusing on other decline causes (i.e. floral resources depletion, habitat regression, pesticides, diseases, ...) that can be managed at the national level is important. For example, Vanderplanck et al. (2019) showed that a high-quality diet reduces the impact of heatstress on *Bombus terrestris*. For more information on how to achieve this goal, you can refer on the previous paragraphs and to the SAPOLL action plan for wild pollinators (Folschweiller et al. 2019).

6. Awareness raising and promotion of good practices

In previous paragraphs we suggested different measure or actions to achieve wild bees' preservation in Belgium. These measures can be implemented at various scales, with different actors and need to evolve as our knowledge on wild bee conservation improves. To do so, the planning of actions is necessary, for instance through national or regional action plans (e.g. the Action Plan developed in the scope of the Interreg SAPOLL project- Folschweiller et al. 2019). In parallel, information (naturalist, scientific and technical) needs to be spread among people that are willing to take adequate actions for wild bee conservation.

This context brings us to consider the valorization of scientific results and dissemination of information as essential in order to initiate targeted field actions.

More precisely, we recommend the following actions:

- **Support dissemination of scientific research in general audience**. Scientific results need to be shared and made understandable for society actors and stakeholders. Technical or financial supports (partnerships between universities and associations for instance) would improve the dispersion of scientific results amongst the civil society (see action n°10 from Folschweiller et al. 2019).

- **Raise awareness among the broad public**. Raising awareness amongst citizens is necessary for a large scale understanding of the pollinators' decline issue which is crucial to bring everyone to take actions. This can be done through various media such as citizen science programs, conferences, films and movies, social or outdoor events, ... (see action n°10 from Folschweiller et al. 2019). The content of the citizen science message should evolve in consideration with the context and the target audience.

-**Promote biodiversity and wild bees in school programs**. Schools would certainly be the most efficient gateway to raise awareness amongst Belgian citizens (see action n°10 from Folschweiller et al. 2019). Also, basic pollinator courses should be available for future professionals having a link with land management such as farmers, landscape gardeners, horticulturists, ... in order to help them integrate pollinators issues and adapt their practices in favor of wild bees (see action n°17 from Folschweiller et al. 2019).

- **Support the elaboration and promotion of good practice guidelines**. Indeed, good technical support is needed in order to bring people and professionals to take actions for pollinators (e.g. see Vereecken et al. 2017; Gosselin et al. 2018). These documents should provide information that are adapted to their context (profession, administrative and bioclimatic region, ...) (see actions n°17 and 18 from Folschweiller et al. 2019). These good practices guidelines would be of greater impact if accompanied by some exemplary pilot projects (e.g. experimental farms, ideal garden for wild bees, ...) (see actions n°34 and 35 from Folschweiller et al. 2019).

- **Support the development and implementation of a pollinator indicator**. A simple and comprehensive pollinator indicator would allow to rate and follow the health and evolution of pollinator communities within the Belgian territory. It would also help prioritize actions or adapt managements and would facilitate communication toward local stakeholders and decision makers.

7. Scientific monitoring and wild bees' monitoring

All previous recommendations rely on a general context of scientific survey and wild bee inventory and monitoring in order to keep improving our knowledge on wild bees and their decline. The scientific monitoring should be a long term, standardized and organized monitoring. Plus, wild bee fauna databases need to be connected, managed and made available.

These facts bring us to recommend standardized monitoring of wild bees to allow a precise follow-up of populations health and decline. We also suggest an efficient and coordinated management of wild bee databases to allow the sustainability of wild bee inventories and monitoring and the progresses of research.

More precisely, we recommend the following actions:

- **To organize wild bee data collection, digitization and distribution in concertation at the country scale**. In order to standardize bee inventories at the regional or national scale, concertation between stakeholders is necessary (see action n°7 and 8 from Folschweiller et al. 2019). Some factors such as exchange format, protocols and data management need to be commonly applied.

- Ensure the durability of wild bee databases in Belgium. Currently wild bee databases are managed by different structures and people. At present time data sharing takes place in the framework of specific projects and is not permanent or financially sustainable. Wild bee databases would be more consistent and lasting with country scaled data management and subventions.

- Engage a transition toward open data for a better data valorization. Wild bee conservation would benefit from the data sharing that could bring more sustainability and create more research and collaboration opportunities. It could lead to more scientific publications in relation with Belgian wild bees, or help taking wild bees into consideration in management projects by local actors.

- Develop a bee monitoring programme on the regional or national level, based on a standardized protocol applied on a representative number of locations. The occurrence records resulting from bee inventories that presently constitute the wild bee database(s) are suitable for assessing (changes in) the distribution of our wild bee species, but do not allow to monitor changes in the abundance of common bee species. Common bee and total bee abundance might have declined greatly over the past decades (as is the case for other insect groups) but there are not data available to test this, while it is also of very high importance for the pollination service which depends on a high enough abundance of mainly generalist and common bee species.

5.2 Future work

Mobilising a network of national bee experts in the scope of the BELBEES project, this Red List greatly benefitted from the contribution of NGO partners of the Interreg SAPOLL project (i.e. Natagora, Natuurpunt) which lead and animated the Belgian naturalist networks and citizen sciences programs (www.observations.be/www.waarnemingen.be) over the past 10 years. This work also greatly benefitted from the spatial data made available by the global database developed in the scope of the BELBEES project. However, the compilation of data for this Red List has revealed a number of knowledge gaps (see 3.6 Gap in knowledge). Significant geographic and taxonomic biases have been identified, namely in the quality of data available on the distribution and status of species.

As mentioned in the previous point (see 5.1 Recommendations), key challenges for the future are to improve knowledge, raise awareness, continue wild bee inventories (comprising data quality) as well as data openness and dissemination, and setting up bee monitoring. Based on these, conservation actions could be developed as solid a scientific basis as possible (Nieto et al. 2014).

It is hoped that by presenting this assessment, regional research will be stimulated to provide new data and to further improve data quality (Nieto et al. 2014). The Red List of Threatened Species constitutes a powerful tool for conservation planning, management, monitoring and decision making (Rodrigues et al. 2006). It is namely used to guide management of natural resources, national development policies and legislation as well as multilateral agreements (e.g., the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (i.e. CITES)) (Rodrigues et al. 2006).



Coelioxys alatus (Vulnerable). Kurt Geeraerts

6. References

Aerts R. & Heil G.W. 1993. Heathlands: patterns and processes in a changing environment. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.

Aguirre-Gutiérrez J., Kissling W.D., Carvalheiro L.G., WallisDeVries M.F., Franzén M. & Biesmeijer J.C., 2016. Functional traits help to explain half-century long shifts in pollinator distributions. *Scientific Reports* 6, 24451.

Ahrne K., Bengtsson J. & Elmqvist T. 2009. Bumble bees (*Bombus* spp) along a gradient of increasing urbanization. *PloS one*, 4(5), e5574.

Amiet F. 1994. Liste rouge des abeilles menacées de Suisse, in: Duelli, P. (réd.). Listes rouges des espèces animales menacées de Suisse. Ed.: Office fédéral de l'environnement, des forêts et du paysage, Berne. L'environnement pratique: pp. 38–44.

Antrop M. 2004. Landscape change and the urbanization process in Europe. Landscape and urban planning, 67(1-4), 9-26.

Ascher J. S. & Pickering J. 2019. Discover Life bee species guide and world checklist (Hymenoptera: Apoidea: Anthophila) Draft-51. [http://www.discoverlife.org/mp/20q? guide=Apoidea_species; last accessed on June 22, 2019].

Auwers T. (eds). 2017. Plan federal Abeilles 2017-2019. D/2017/2196/21. 32pp.

Baldock K. C., Goddard M. A., Hicks D. M., Kunin W. E., Mitschunas N. et al. 2015. Where is the UK's pollinator biodiversity? The importance of urban areas for flower-visiting insects. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 282:20142849.

Ball F.J. 1914. Les Bourdons de la Belgique. *Annales de la Société Entomologique de Belgique*, 58: 77-108, pl. 1.

Ball F.J. 1920. Notes supplémentaires sur les bourdons de la Belgique. *Annales de la Société entomologique de Belgique*, 60: 31-43.

Barbier Y., Rasmont P. & Dufrêne M. 2015. Data Fauna-Flora.

Barlow T. & Thorburn R. (eds). 2000. Balancing conservation and production in grassy landscapes: proceedings of the Bushcare Grassy Landscapes Conference Clare, South Australia 19–21 August 1999. Environment Australia, Canberra.

Bartomeus I., Ascher J. S., Gibbs J., Danforth B. N., Wagner D. L. et al. 2013. Historical changes in northeastern US bee pollinators related to shared ecological traits. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(12), 4656-4660.

Bees, Wasps & Ants Recording Society (BWARS).2019.Osmia pilicornis. http://www.http://www.bwars.com/bee/megachilidae/osmia-pilicornis. 22th Augustus 2019.

Belgian Federal Government. 2008. Agricultural statistics, http://www.statbel.fgov.be.

Belgian Federal Government. 2018a. Statistical data from the National Institute of Statistics (NIS – INS), http://www.statbel.fgov.be [Accessed on the 21th November 2018].

Belgian Federal Government. 2018b. Utilisation du sol en Belgique à partir de 1990. *Estimations Direction générale Statistique (STATBEL) -Statistics Belgium sur base des données du SPF Finances (Cadastre), de la DG Statistique (Recensement agricole) et litérature.* https://statbel.fgov.be [Accessed on the 21th November 2018].

BelgianFederalGovernment.2018c.Biodiversité : Etat de la faune et de la florebelges (2017) ; Part des espèces menacées, parrégion (dernière évaluation disponible aumoment de la publication en 2017) ; Evolutionde la part des espèces menacées en Belgique.EstimationsDirectiongénéraleStatistique(STATBEL)-StatisticsBelgium.

https://statbel.fgov.be [Accessed on the 28th March 2018].

Belgian National Focal Point to the Convention
on Biological Diversity (Belgian NFP-CBD) (ed.).
2013a. Biodiversity 2020 – Update of Belgium's
National Biodiversity Strategy. Royal Belgian
Institute of Natural Sciences, Brussels, 148 pp.

Belgian National Focal Point to the Convention on Biological Diversity (Belgian NFP-CBD) (ed.).
2013b. Executive summary and overview, Biodiversity 2020, Update of Belgium's National Strategy. Institut royal des Sciences naturelles de Belgique, Bruxelles, 10 pp.

Biesmeijer J. C., Roberts S. P., Reemer M., Ohlemüller R., Edwards M. et al. 2006. Parallel declines in pollinators and insectpollinated plants in Britain and the Netherlands. *Science*, 313, 351–354.

Blacquiere T., Smagghe G., Van Gestel C. A. & Mommaerts V. 2012. Neonicotinoids in bees: a review on concentrations, side-effects and risk assessment. *Ecotoxicology*, 21(4), 973-992.

Blerot P. & Heyninck C. 2017. Le grand livre de la Forêt, Forêt Nature. Belgique. p.294. ISBN: 978-2-9601945-1-7.

Brittain C. & Potts S. G. 2011. The potential impacts of insecticides on the life-history traits of bees and the consequences for pollination. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 12(4), 321-331.

Bols J. H. 1939. Un remarquable terrain d'hivernation de Bombus et de Psithyrus près de Louvain, à Lubbeek, en Belgique. *VIIth Int. Kongr. Entom.*, 1938: 1048-1060, pls 1-2. [L'auteur a relaché de] "nombreuses femelles B. lapidarius marquées artificiellement d'une tache rouge sur le thorax [...]. Une centaine de normales marquées sont déjà loin au large clans la région, et [...] même, ce 10 juillet, 36 déjà me sont revenues par la Poste, de distances variant entre 10 et 15 kilomètres du nord de Lubbeek." Bommarco R., Lundin O., Smith H. G. & Rundlöf M. 2012. Drastic historic shifts in bumblebee community composition in Sweden. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 279: 309-315.

Brochet P. 1977. La secheresse 1976 en france: aspects climatologiques et consequences / The 1976 drought in France: climatological aspects and consequences. *Hydrological Sciences Bulletin* 22: 393–411.

Brodschneider R., Gray A., Adjlane N., Ballis A., Brusbardis V. et al. 2018. Multi-country loss rates of honey bee colonies during winter 2016/2017 from the COLOSS survey. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, 57(3), 452-457.

Cane J. H. & Sipes S. 2006. Floral specialization by bees: analytical methodologies and a revised lexicon for oligolecty. In: Waser, N. and Ollerton, J. (eds.) Plant-Pollinator Interactions: From Specialization to Generalization. *Univ. Chicago Press*, 99-122.

CARI. 2017. Campagne européenne de dénombrement des ruches 2017. http://butine.info/campagne-europeenne-de-denombrement-des-ruches-2017/ [Accessed on the 10th July 2019].

Carvalheiro L.G., Kunin W.E., Keil P., Aguirre-Gutiérrez J., Ellis W.N. et al. 2013. Species richness declines and biotic homogenization have slowed down for NW-European pollinators and plants. *Ecology Letters*, 16: 870-878.

Carvell C. 2002. Habitat use and conservation of bumblebees (*Bombus* spp.) under different grassland management regimes. *Biological conservation*, 103(1), 33-49.

Carvell C., Roy D. B., Smart S. M., Pywell R. F., Preston C. D. & Goulson D. 2006. Declines in forage availability for bumblebees at a national scale. *Biological conservation*, 132(4), 481-489. Chapman R. E., Wang J. & Bourke A. F. G. 2003. Genetic analysis of spatial foraging patterns and resource sharing in bumble bee pollinators. *Molecular Ecology*, 12(10), 2801-2808.

Chittka L. & Schürkens S. 2001. Successful invasion of a floral market. *Nature*, 411(6838), 653.

Christians C. 1998. Quarante ans de politique agricole européenne commune et d'agriculture en Belgique. *Bulletin de la Société géographique de Liège*, 35, 41-55.

Colart D. 2009. Étude écologique de la carrière CBR de Loën. CBR/HeidelbergCement, 86 p.

Commission for Nature Conservation of the Estonian Academy of Sciences (CNCEAS). 2008. Red Data Book of Estonia. 2008. http://elurikkus.ut.ee/prmt.php?lang=eng.

Cordillot F. & Klaus G. 2011. Espèces menacées en Suisse. Synthèse des listes rouges, état 2010. Office fédéral de l'environnement, Berne. Etat de l'environnement n° 1120: 111 p.

Cranmer L., McCollin D. & Ollerton J. 2012. Landscape structure influences pollinator movements and directly affects plant reproductive success. *Oikos*. 121:562–568.

Crèvecoeur A. & Maréchal P. 1935. Catalogue des Hyménoptères de Belgique, V. *Bulletin et Annates de la Société entomologique Belgique*, 75, 395-412.

Crèvecoeur A. & Maréchal P. 1938. Matériaux pour servir à l'établissement d'un nouveau catalogue des Hyménoptères de Belgique. VIII. In *Bulletin et Annales de la Société entomologique de Belgique* (Vol. 78, No. 12, pp. 475-508).

Cuypers D. (eds). 2013. La santé des abeilles, notre santé aussi 2012-2014. D/2013/2196/37. 76pp.

Dathe H. H. 1980. Die Arten der Gattung *Hylaeus* F. in Europa (Hymenoptera: Apoidea, Colletidae). Mitteilungen aus dem Zoologische Museum Berlin, 56, 2: 207–297.

Davis E. S., Kelly R., Maggs C. A. & Stout J. C. 2018. Contrasting impacts of highly invasive plant species on flower-visiting insect communities. *Biodiversity and conservation*, 27(8), 2069-2085.

Devillers J. & Pham-Delègue M. H. (Eds.). 2003. Honey bees: estimating the environmental impact of chemicals. CRC Press.

D'Haeseleer J. 2014. Wilde bijen in Leuven. Onderzoek naar voorkomen van wilde bijensoorten in het Leuvense stadscentrum. Rapport Natuurpunt Studie 2014/17, Mechelen.

D'Haeseleer J., Veraghtert W. & De Grave D. 2015. BIJvriendelijk Beersel. Wilde bijen in Beersel: diversiteit, hotspots & behoud. Rapport Natuurpunt Studie 2015/14, Mechelen.

Dai P. L., Wang Q., Sun J. H., Liu F., Wang X. et al. 2010. Effects of sublethal concentrations of bifenthrin and deltamethrin on fecundity, growth, and development of the honeybee *Apis mellifera ligustica*. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal*, 29(3), 644-649.

Danforth B. N., Cardinal S., Praz C., Almeida E. A. & Michez D. 2013. The impact of molecular data on our understanding of bee phylogeny and evolution. *Annual review of Entomology*, 58, 57-78.

Deguines N., Julliard R., De Flores M. & Fontaine C. 2016. Functional homogenization of flower visitor communities with urbanization. *Ecology and evolution*, 6(7), 1967-1976.

De Knijf G. 2006. De Rode Lijst van de libellen in Vlaanderen. In: De Knijf G., Anselin A., Goffart P. & Tailly M. (eds.) De libellen (Odonata) van België: verspreiding - evolutie - habitats. Libellenwerkgroep Gomphus ism Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel. pp. 241-257.

De Knijf G., Anselin A. & Goffart P. 2001. Trends in dragonfly occurrence in Belgium (Odonata). Proceedings 13th international colloquium European Invertebrate Survey, Leiden, 2-5 September 2001.

De la Rúa P., Jaffé R., Dall'Olio R., Muñoz I. & Serrano J. 2009. Biodiversity, conservation and current threats to European honeybees. *Apidologie*, 40(3): 263-284.

De Smet L., Hatjina F., Ioannidis P., Hamamtzoglou A., Schoonvaere K. et al. 2017. Stress indicator gene expression profiles, colony dynamics and tissue development of honey bees exposed to sub-lethal doses of imidacloprid in laboratory and field experiments. *PLoS One* 12, e0171529.

Diaz-Forero I., Kuusemets V., Mänd M., Liivamägi A., Kaart T. & Luig J. 2013. Influence of local and landscape factors on bumblebees in seminatural meadows: a multiple-scale study in a forested landscape. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 17:113–125.

Dickinson J. L., Zuckerber B. & Bonter D. N. 2010. Citizen science as an ecological research tool: challenges and benefits. *Ann Rev Ecol Evol Syst*, 41:149–172.

Dise N. B., Ashmore M., Belyazid S., Bleeker A., Bobbink R. et al. 2011. Nitrogen as a threat to European terrestrial biodiversity. In: Sutton MA et al (eds) The European nitrogen assessment. *Cambridge University Press*, Cambridge, pp 463–494

Dötterl S. & Vereecken N. J. 2010. The chemical ecology and evolution of bee-flower interactions: a review and perspectives. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 88: 668-697.

Drossart M., Michez D. & Vanderplanck M. 2017. Invasive plants as potential food resource for native pollinators: a case study with two invasive species and a generalist bumble bee. *Scientific reports*, 7(1), 16242.

Duchenne F. et al. *In prep.* Combined effects of global change on temporal responses of belgium bees.

Dufrêne M. 2018. Les aires protégées en Wallonie ... et en Flandre. Carnet des espaces naturels – revue de conservation de la nature et de gestion durable des espaces naturels en Wallonie, ISSN: 2593-7596.[http://www.ardenne-et-gaume.be/wp content/uploads/2018/10/AG_CEN_01_octobr e_2018_web.pdf]

Elston C., Thompson H. M., & Walters K. F. 2013. Sub-lethal effects of thiamethoxam, a neonicotinoid pesticide, and propiconazole, a DMI fungicide, on colony initiation in bumblebee (Bombus terrestris) micro-colonies. *Apidologie*, 44(5), 563-574.

European Commission. 2018. Pollinating insects: Commission proposes actions to stop their decline. Press release (1 June 2018). IP/18/3989.

European Commission. 2019. Agriculture and rural development – Beekeeping and Honey. https://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/honey_en [Accessed on the 09th July 2019].

European Environment Agency. 2016. Urban Sprawl in Europe: Joint EEA-FOEN report. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. 140 pp.

European Union. 2011. The EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020. Luxembourg, 28 p. ISBN 978-92-79-20762-4.

European Union. 2015. The mid-term review of the eu biodiversity strategy to 2020. Luxembourg, 19 p. COM/2015/0478 final.

Eurostat. 2018. The Statistical Office of the European Unio. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat [Accessed on the 27th November 2018].

Falk S. J. 1991. A review of the scarce and threatened bees, wasps and ants of Great Britain (No. 35). Nature Conservancy Council for England.

Falk S. J. 2015. Field guide to the bees of Great Britain and Ireland. British Wildlife Publishing.

Farkač J., Král D. & Škorpík M. [Eds.] 2005. Červený seznam ohrožených druhů České republiky. Bezobratlí. List of threatened species in the Czech Republic. Invertebrates. – Agentura ochrany přírody a krajiny ČR, Praha, 760 pp.

Feltham H., Park K. & Goulson D. 2014. Field realistic doses of pesticide imidacloprid reduce bumblebee pollen foraging efficiency. *Ecotoxicology*, 23:317–323.

Feráková V., Maglocký Š. & Marhold K. 2001. Červený zoznam papraďorastov a semenných rastlín Slovenska. in: Baláž, D., Marhold, K., Urban, P. (Eds.), Červený zoznam rastlín a živočichov Slovenska, Dchr. Prir. 20 (Suppl.): pp. 48-81.

Fichefet V., Barbier Y., Baugnée J. Y., Dufrêne M., Goffart P. et al. 2008. Papillons de jour de Wallonie (1985-2007). Publication du Groupe de Travail Lépidoptères *Lycaena* et du Département de l'Etude du Milieu Naturel et Agricole (SPW-DGARNE), Série « Faune – Flore – Habitat » n°4, Gembloux, 320pp.

Fitzpatrick U., Murray T. E., Byrne A., Paxton R. J. & Brown M. J. F. 2006. Regional red data list of Irish Bees. National Parks and Wildlife Service (Ireland) and Environment and Heritage Service (N. Ireland).

Folschweiller M., Drossart M., D'Haeseleer J., Marescaux Q., Rey G. et al. 2019. Plan d'action transfrontalier en faveur des pollinisateurs sauvages. Projet Interreg V SAPOLL – Sauvons nos pollinisateurs – Samenwerken voor pollinators. 136 p. **Freyhof J. & Brooks E. 2011.** European Red List of Freshwater Fishes. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Fuchs R., Herold M., Verburg P.H., Clevers J. G. P.W. & Eberle J. 2014. Gross changes in reconstructions of historic land cover/use for Europe between 1900-2010, *Global Change Biology*, doi: 10.1111/gcb.12714.

Fuchs R., Herold M., Verburg P.H. & Clevers J.G.P.W. 2013. A high-resolution and harmonized model approach for reconstructing and analysing historic land changes in Europe, Biogeosciences, 10(3), 1543-1559, doi:10.5194/bg-10-1543-2013 [online] Available from: http://www.biogeosciences.net/10/1543/2013 /.

Fürst M.A., McMahon D.P., Osborne J.L., Paxton R.J. & Brown M.J.F. 2014. Disease associations between honeybees and bumblebees as a threat to wild pollinators. *Nature*, 506: 364-366.

Galloway J. N. & Cowling E. B. 2002. Reactive nitrogen and the world: 200 years of change. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*, 31(2), 64-72.

Galloway J. N., Aber J. D., Erisman J. W., Seitzinger S. P., Howarth R. W., et al. 2003. The nitrogen cascade. *Bioscience*, 53(4), 341-356.

Garbuzov M. & Ratnieks F.L.W. 2014. Quantifying variation among garden plants in attractiveness to bees and other flower-visiting insects. *Functional Ecology*, 28:364–374.

Gärdenfors U. 2010. Red listed species in Sweden 2010. Art Databanken, Uppsala.

Gärdenfors U., Hilton-Taylor C., Mace G. M., & Rodrígue, J. P. 2001. The application of IUCN Red List criteria at regional levels. *Conservation Biology*, 15(5), 1206-1212.

Garibaldi L. A., Steffan-Dewenter I., Kremen C., Morales J. M., Bommarco R. et al. 2011. Stability of pollination services decreases with isolation from natural areas despite honey bee visits. *Ecology Letters*, 14: 1062–1072.

Garibaldi L.A., Steffan-Dewente I., Winfree R., Aizen M.A., Bommarco R. et al. 2013. Wild pollinators enhance fruit set of crops regardless of honey bee abundance. *Science*, 340(6127): 1608-1611.

Garratt M.P.D., Breeze T.D., Jenner N., Polce C., Biesmeijer J.C. & Potts S.G. 2014. Avoiding a bad apple: Insect pollination enhances fruit quality and economic value. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 184: 34-40.

Gaspar C., Leclercq J. & Wonville C. 1975. Examen synoptique des 784 premières cartes de l'Atlas Provisoire des insectes de Belgique. *Annales*.

Gathmann A. & Tscharntke T. 2002. Foraging ranges of solitary bees. *Journal of animal ecology*, 71(5), 757-764.

Gels J. A., Held D. W. & Potter D. A. 2002. Hazards of insecticides to the bumble bees Bombus impatiens (Hymenoptera: Apidae) foraging on flowering white clover in turf. *Journal of economic entomology*, 95(4), 722-728.

Gerard M., Michez D., Debat V., Fullgrabe L., Meeus I. et al. 2018. Stressful conditions reveal decrease in size, modification of shape but relatively stable asymmetry in bumblebee wings. *Scientific reports*, 8(1), 15169.

Geslin B., Gauzens B., Baude M., Dajoz I., Fontaine C. et al. 2017. Massively introduced managed species and their consequences for plant–pollinator interactions. In *Advances in Ecological Research* (Vol. 57, pp. 147-199). Academic Press.

Głowaciński Z. & Nowacki J. 2009. Polish Red Data Book of Animals.

Gogala A. 2014. Čebele Slovenije. Založba ZRC, ZRC SAZU, Ljubljana, 179 pp.

Gogala A. 2019. Threatened bee species of Europe in Slovenia/Ogrožene čebele Evrope v Sloveniji. *Folia biologica et geologica*, 59(2), 21-43.

González-Varo J.P., Biesmeijer J.C., Bommarco R., Potts S., Schweiger O. et al. 2013. Combined effectsof global change pressures on animal-mediated pollination. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 28: 524-530.

Godfray H. C. J., Blacquiere T., Field L. M., Hails R. S., Petrokofsky G. et al. 2014. A restatement of the natural science evidence base concerning neonicotinoid insecticides and insect pollinators. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1786), 20140558.

Goffart P., De Knijf G., Anselin A. & Tailly M. (eds), 2006. Les libellules (Odonata) de Belgique: répartition, tendances et habitats. Publication du Groupe de Travail Libellules Gomphus et du Cnetre de Recherche de la Nature, des Forêts et du Bois (MRW-DGRNE), Série « Faune – Flore – Habitat » n°1, Gembloux. 398pp.

Gosselin M., Moerman R., Terzo M., Vereecken N. & Rasmont P. 2018. Abeilles sauvages, bourdons et autres insectes pollinisateurs. Collection Agrinature n°9. Service Public de Wallonie (SPW), Direction générale de l'Agriculture, des Ressources naturelles et de l'Environnement.

Goulson D. 2003. Effects of introduced bees on native ecosystems, *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. System*. 34, 1–26.

Goulson D. & Darvill B. 2004. Niche overlap and diet breadth in bumblebees; are rare species more specialized in their choice of flowers?. *Apidologie*, 35(1), 55-63.

Goulson D., Hanley M. E., Darvill B., Ellis J. S. & Knight M. E. 2005. Causes of rarity in

bumblebees. *Biological conservation*, 122(1), 1-8.

Goulson D., Ly, G. C. & Darvill B. 2008. Decline and conservation of bumble bees. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, 53, 191-208.

Goulson D. 2010. Bumblebees: behaviour, ecology, and conservation. 2nd edition. *Oxford University Press*, Oxford, UK.

Goulson D. 2013. An overview of the environmental risks posed by neonicotinoid insecticides. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50(4), 977-987.

Goulson D., Nicholls E., Botías C. & Rotheray E. L. 2015. Bee declines driven by combined stress from parasites, pesticides, and lack of flowers. *Science*, 347(6229), 1255957.

Gradish A. E., Scott-Dupree C. D., Shipp L., Harris C. R. & Ferguson G. 2010. Effect of reduced risk pesticides for use in greenhouse vegetable production on Bombus impatiens (Hymenoptera: Apidae). *Pest Management Science: formerly Pesticide Science*, 66(2), 142-146.

Gruber N. & Galloway, J. N. 2008. An Earthsystem perspective of the global nitrogen cycle. *Nature*, 451(7176), 293.

Herrera J.M., Ploquin E.F., Rodríguez-Pérez J. & Obeso J.R. 2014. Determining habitat suitability for bumblebees in a mountain system: A baseline approach for testing the impact of climate change on the occurrence and abundance of species. *Journal of Biogeography*, 41:700–712.

Hochachka W.M., Fink D., Hutchinson R. A., Sheldon D., Wong W.-K. & Kelling S. 2012. Dataintensive science applied to broad-scale citizen science. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. 27(2):130–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2011.11.006.

IPCC. 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I

to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1535 pp.

Iserbyt S. & Rasmont P. 2012. The effect of climatic variation on abundance and diversity of bumblebees: a ten years survey in a mountain hotspot. *Annales de la Société Entomologique de France*, 48, 261–273.

IUCN. 2012a. IUCN Red List Categories and Criteria: Version 3.1. Second edition. Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK: IUCN. iv + 32pp.

IUCN. 2012b. Guidelines for Application of IUCN Red List Criteria at Regional and National Levels: Version 4.0. Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK: IUCN. iii + 41pp.

IUCN. 2016. Guidelines for appropriate uses of IUCN Red List Data. Incorporatng, as Annexes, the 1) Guidelines for Reporting on Proportion Threatened (ver. 1.1); 2) Guidelines on Scientific Collecting of Threatene Species (ver. 1.0); and 3) Guidelines for the Appropriate Use of the IUCN Red List by Business (ver 1.0). Version 3.0. Adopted by the IUCN Red List Committee.

Jacobs J. C. 1904. Catalogue des apides de Belgique. In *Annales de la Société entomologique de Belgique* (Vol. 48, pp. 190-203).

Jacob J.-P. & Remacle A. 2005. La gestion des carrières en faveur de l'entomofaune : le cas de la carrière du Haut des Loges à Vance (province de Luxembourg, Belgique). *Notes fauniques de Gembloux*, 57, pp. 59-66.

Jacob-Remacle A. & Jacob J.-P. 1990. Intérêt faunistique des sablières de Lorraine belge : l'exemple des Hyménoptères Apoïdes solitaires. *Notes fauniques de Gembloux*, 21, pp. 13-22. Jacquemin F., Violle C., Rasmont P. & Dufrêne M. 2017. Mapping the dependency of crops on pollinators in Belgium. *One Ecosystem*, 2: e13738.

Jacquemin F., Violle C., Coppée T., Folschweiller M., Drossart M. et al. 2018. Spatio-temporal floral resource shifts in Belgium. EURBEE 8 - 8th Congress of Apidology, Ghent University, Belgium, 18-20/09/2018. Poster.

Jacquemin F., Violle C., Munoz F., Mahy G., Rasmont P. et al. *In prep.* Shift in bee-plant interactions: decrease of specialization in present vs. past networks. Under review in *Basic and Applied Ecology*.

Józan Z. 2011. Checklist of Hungarian Sphecidae and Apidae species (Hymenoptera, Sphecidae and Apidae). *Natura Somogyiensis*, 19, 177-200.

Kålås J. A., Viken Å., Henriksen S. & Skjelseth S. 2010. The 2010 Norwegian red list for species. Norwegian Biodiversity Information Centre, Norway.

Kerr J. T., Pindar A., Galpern P., Packer L., Potts S. G. et al. 2015. Climate change impacts on bumblebees converge across continents. *Science*, 349(6244): 177-180.

Klatt B. K., Klaus F., Westphal C. & Tscharntke T. 2014. Enhancing crop shelf life with pollination. *Agriculture & Food Security*, 2014, 3:14.

Kleijn D. & Raemakers I. 2008. A retrospective analysis of pollen host plant use by stable and declining bumble bee species. *Ecology*, 89(7), 1811-1823.

Klein A-M., Vaissiere B.E., Cane J.H., Steffan-Dewenter I., Cunningham S.A. et al. 2007. Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B, Biological Sciences*, 274(1608): 303-313.

Konvicka M., Fric Z. & Beneš J. 2006. Butterfly extinctions in European states: do

socioeconomic conditions matter more than physical geography? *Glob Ecol Biogeogr,* 15:82– 92. https ://doi. org/10.1111/j.1466-822X.2006.00188.x

Krauss J., Alfert T. & Steffan-Dewenter I. 2009. Habitat area but not habitat age determines wild bee richness in limestone quarries. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 46, pp. 194-202.

Krupke C., Hunt G., Eitzer B., Andino G. & Given K. 2012. Multiple Routes of Pesticide Exposure for Honey Bees Living Near Agricultural Fields. *PLoS one*, 7:e29268.

Leclercq J., Gaspar C., Lajoinie M. & Thirion C. 1976. Piégeage de l'entomofaune printanière dans trois sablières de Chaumont-Gistoux (Brabant wallon). *Bulletin des Recherches agronomiques de Gembloux*, 11:169–182.

Leclercq J., Gaspar C., Marchal J.-L., Verstraeten C. & Wonville C. 1980. Analyse des 1600 premières cartes de l'Atlas provisoire des Insectes de Belgique et première liste rouge d'insectes menacés dans la faune belge. *Notes fauniques de Gembloux*, 4: 1-104.

Lefeber F. V. & Petit J. 1970. Note sur les Hyménoptères aculéates d'une halde calaminaire. Natuurhist Genoot Limburg Natuurhist Maandbl.

Le Féon V., Schermann-Legionnet A., Delettre Y., Aviron S., Billeter R. et al. 2010. Intensification of agriculture, landscape composition and wild bee communities: a large scale study in four European countries. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 137(1-2), 143-150.

Lemoine G. 2015. Les carrières de sable : une opportunité pour les abeilles solitaires. Établissement Public Foncier Nord – Pas de Calais & UNPG, Paris, 140 p.

Lepage D. 2007. Checklist of birds of Belgium. Bird Checklists of the World. Avibase. Retrieved 26 April 2007. Lievens E., Janssens L. & Bragard C. 2012. Estimation quantitative des utilisations de produits phytopharmaceutiques par les différents secteurs d'activité en Wallonie. ELIM-ELI-UCL 2010-2012. Projet financé par le Service public de Wallonie, Direction Générale Opérationnelle de l'Agriculture, des Ressources Naturelles et de l'Environnement. 221p.

Maebe K., Meeus I., Vray S., Claeys T., Dekoninck W. et al. 2016. A century of temporal stability of genetic diversity in wild bumblebees. *Scientific reports*, 6, 38289.

Maebe K., Karise R., Vray S., Rasmont P., Mänd M. & Smagghe G. *In prep.* Patterns of population structure and genetic diversity in European bumblebees. *Molecular Ecology*.

Maes D. & Van Dyck H. 2001. Butterfly diversity loss in Flanders (north Belgium): Europe's worst case scenario? *Biological Conservation*, 99:263– 276. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006 -3207(00)00182 -8.

Maes D., Vanreusel W., Jacobs I., Berwaerts K. & Van Dyck H. 2012. Applying IUCN Red List criteria at a small regional level: a test case with butterflies in Flanders (north Belgium). *Biological Conservation*, 145(1), 258-266.

Maes D., Verovnik R., Wiemers M., Brosen, D., Beshkov S. et al. 2019. Integrating national Red Lists for prioritising conservation actions for European butterflies. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 23(2), 301-330.

Mallinger R. E., Gibbs J. & Gratton C. 2016. Diverse landscapes have a higher abundance and species richness of spring wild bees by providing complementary floral resources over bees' foraging periods. *Landscape ecology*, 31(7), 1523-1535.

Marot J.-M. (eds), « PDF Plan Maya, un bon plan pour nos abeilles », SPW Editions, 2015.

Marshall L., Biesmeijer J.C., Rasmont P., Vereecken N.J., Dvorak L. et al. 2018. The interplay of climate and dynamic land use land cover changes affects the distribution of EU Bumblebees. *Global Change Biology*, 24, 101-116.

Martinet B., Lecocq T., Smet J., Rasmont P., Chown S. & Valterová I. 2015. A Protocol to Assess Insect Resistance to Heat Waves, Applied to Bumblebees (Bombus Latreille, 1802). *PLOS ONE* 10:e0118591.

Martinet B., Zambra E., Przybyla K., Brasero N., Michez D. & Rasmont P. *In prep*. High interspecific and no intraspecific variations of hyperthermic resistance highlight global threat for bumblebees.

Matson P., Lohse K. A. & Hall S. J. 2002. The globalization of nitrogen deposition: consequences for terrestrial ecosystems. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*, 31(2), 113-120.

Mazoyer M. & Roudart L. 2006. A History of World Agriculture: From the Neolithic Age to the Current Crisis. New York: Earthscan.

McFrederick Q. S. & LeBuhn G. 2006. Are urban parks refuges for bumble bees *Bombus* spp. (Hymenoptera: Apidae)? *Biological Conservation*, 129:372–382.

Meunier F. 1888. Tableau dichotomique des Espèces, variétés Belges du Genre Bombus, Latreille. *Naturalista Siciliano*, 7(7):173-176.

Michener C. D. 2007. The bees of the world. Second edition. Baltimore, 913 pp.

Michez D. 2007. Monographic revision of the Melittidae s.l. (Hymenoptera: Apoidea: Dasypodaidae, Meganomiidae, Melittidae). Thèse de doctorat, Université de Mons-Hainaut, Mons, 72 p. Michez D., Vanderplanck M. & Engel M. S. 2011. Fossil bees and their plant associates. In Evolution of Plant-Pollinator Relationships (Ed. Patiny S.). Cambrige University press, Special volume 81, 103-164.

Moerman R., Vanderplanck M., Roger N., Decleves S., Wathelet B. et al. 2015. Growth rate of bumblebee larvae is related to pollen amino acids. *Journal of economic entomology*, 109(1), 25-30.

Moerman R., Vanderplanck M., Fournier D., Jacquemart A. L. & Michez D. 2017. Pollen nutrients better explain bumblebee colony development than pollen diversity. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, 10(2), 171-179.

Mommaerts V., Sterk G. & Smagghe G. 2006. Hazards and uptake of chitin synthesis inhibitors in bumblebees *Bombus terrestris*. *Pest Management Science*, 62:752–758.

Moncharmont F.-X. D., Decourtye A., Hennequet-Hantier C., Pons O. & Pham-Delègue M.-H. 2003. Statistical analysis of honeybee survival after chronic exposure to insecticides. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 22: 3088–3094.

Moquet L., Vanderplanck M., Moerman R., Quinet M., Roger N., et al. 2017. Bumblebees depend on ericaceous species to survive in temperate heathlands. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, 10(1), 78-93.

Morales C.L. 2007. Introducción de abejorros (Bombus) no nativos: causas, consecuencias ecológicas y perspectivas, *Ecol. Austral* 17, 51–65.

Morandin L. A., Winston M. L., Franklin M. T. & Abbott V. A. 2005. Lethal and sub-lethal effects of spinosad on bumble bees (*Bombus impatiens* Cresson). *Pest Management Science*, 61:619–26.

Morandin L. A. & Kremen C. 2013. Hedgerow restoration promotes pollinator populations

and exports native bees to adjacent fields. *Ecological Applications*, 23, 829–839.

Moretti M., De Bello F., Roberts S. P. M. & Potts S. G. 2009. Taxonomical vs. functional responses of bee communities to fire in two contrasting climatic regions. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 78(1), 98–108.

Moritz R. F., Kraus F. B., Kryger P. & Crewe R. M. 2007. The size of wild honeybee populations (*Apis mellifera*) and its implications for the conservation of honeybees. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 11(4): 391- 397.

Müller A., Diener S., Schnyder S., Stutz K., Sedivy C. & Dorn S. 2006. Quantitative pollen requirements of solitary bees: implications for bee conservation and the evolution of bee– flower relationships. *Biological Conservation*, 130(4), 604-615.

Müller A. & Kuhlmann M. 2008. Pollen hosts of western palaearctic bees of the genus Colletes (Hymenoptera: Colletidae): the Asteraceae paradox. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 95: 719-733.

Müller A. 2011. Palaearctic Osmiine Bees. ETH Zürich. http://blogs.ethz.ch/osmiini.

Nieto A., Roberts S. P., Kemp J., Rasmont P., Kuhlmann M. et al. 2014. European red list of bees. Luxembourg: Publication Office of the European Union, 98.

Normandin É., Vereecken N. J., Buddle C. M. & Fournier V. 2017. Taxonomic and functional trait diversity of wild bees in different urban settings. *PeerJ*, 5:e3051.

Notton D. G. & Dathe H. H. 2008. William Kirby's types of *Hylaeus* Fabricius (Hymenoptera, Colletidae) in the collection of the Natural History Museum, London. *Journal of Natural History*, 42 (27-28):1861-1865.

Ogilvie J. E., Griffin S. R., Gezon Z. J., Inouye B. D., Underwood N. et al. 2017. Interannual bumble bee abundance is driven by indirect climate effects on floral resource phenology. *Ecology Letters*, 20: 1507–1515.

Ollerton J., Winfree R. & Tarrant S. 2011. How many flowering plants are pollinated by animals?. *Oikos*, 120(3), 321-326.

Ollerton J., Erenler H., Edwards M. & Crockett R. 2014. Extinctions of aculeate pollinators in Britain and the role of large-scale agricultural changes. *Science*, 346(6215), 1360-1362.

Osborne J. L., Martin A. P., Shortall C. R., Todd A. D., Goulson D. et al. 2008. Quantifying and comparing bumblebee nest densities in gardens and countryside habitats. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 45:784–792.

Patiny S. 2001. Monographie des Panurginae de l'ancien monde (Hymenoptera: Apoidea, Andrenidae). PhD, Faculte universitaire des Sciences agronomiques de Gembloux.

Patiny S., Rasmont P. & Michez D. 2009. A survey and review of the status of wild bees in the West-Palaearctic region. *Apidologie*, 40(3), 313-331.

Pauly A. 2018. Les Abeilles sauvages de la lande de Streupas (Hymenoptera: Apoidea). *Belgian Journal of Entomology*, 60: 1-36

Pauly A. 2019a. Abeilles de Belgique et des Régions limitrophes (Insecta: Hymenoptera: Apoidea). Famille Halictidae. Faune de Belgique, 513 pp.

Pauly A. 2019b. Les abeilles sauvages du Jardin Botanique "Jean Massart" à Bruxelles (Hymenoptera: Apoidea). *Belgian Journal of Entomology*, 78: 1-86.

Pauly A. 2019c. Contribution à l'inventaire des abeilles sauvages de la Région Bruxelloise et de la Forêt de Soignes (Hymenoptera: Apoidea). *Belgian Journal of Entomology*, 79: 1-160.

Pauly A. & Coppée I. 2017. Abeilles et chardons. Bulletin de la Société royale belge d'Entomologie, 153 (2): 155-159.

Pauly A. & Vereecken N. 2018. Les abeilles sauvages des pelouses calcaires de Han-sur-Lesse (Hymenoptera: Apoidea). *Belgian Journal of Entomology*, 61, 1-39.

Peters G. 1972. Ursachen für den Rückgang der seltenen heimischen Hummelarten (Hym., *Bombus* et *Psithyrus*). *Entomologische Berichte*, Berlin, 9: 85-90.

Peeters M., Franklin A., & van Goethem J. L. (Eds.). 2003. Biodiversity in Belgium. Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, Brussels: 416 pp.

Peeters M. (coord.). 2014. Fifth National Report of Belgium to the Convention on Biological Diversity. Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, Brussels: 141 pp. (https://www.cbd.int/doc/world/be/be-nr-05en.pdf).

Pittioni B. & Schmidt R. 1942. Die Bienen dessüdöstlichenNiederdonau.Podaliriidae,XylocopidaeNiederdonau,Natur und Kultur, 19:1–69.

Ploquin E. F., Herrera J. M. & Obeso J. R. 2013. Bumblebee community homogenization after uphill shifts in montane areas of northern Spain. *Oecologia*, 173:1649–1660.

Potts S.G., Vulliamy B., Roberts S., O'Toole C., Dafni A. et al. 2005. Role of nesting resources in organising diverse bee communities in a Mediterranean landscape. *Ecological Entomology*, 30, 78-85.

Potts S.G., Roberts S.P.M., Dean R., Marris G., Brown M. et al. 2010a. Declines of managed honeybees and beekeepers in Europe. *Journal* of Apicultural Research, 49: 15-22.

Potts S. G., Biesmeijer J. C., Kremen C., Neumann P., Schweiger O. & Kunin W. E. 2010b. Global pollinator declines: trends, impacts and drivers. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 25(6), 345-353.

Potts S. G., Biesmeijer K., Bommarco R., Breeze T., Carvalheiro L. et al. 2015. Status and trends of European pollinators. Key findings of the STEP project, Pensoft Publishers, Sofia, 72 pp., ISBN: 978-954-642-762-5.

Powney G. D., Carvell C., Edwards M., Morris R. K., Roy H. E. et al. 2019. Widespread losses of pollinating insects in Britain. *Nature Communications*, 10(1), 1018.

Prischchepchik P. 2008. Red Book of Belarus.

Quaranta M., Cornalba M., Biella P., Comba M., Battistoni A. et al. (compilatori). 2018. Lista Rossa IUCN delle api italiane minacciate. 68p.

Quinet M., Mabeluanga T., Moquet L. & Jacquemart A. L. 2016. Introduction of new tools to improve pollination in European pear orchards. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 213, 5-12.

Raemakers I. & Faasen T. 2012. Bijzondere planten en insecten in de Curfsgroeve. *Natuurhistorisch Maandblad,* Jaargang 101/4, pp. 63-73.

Rasmont P. 1988. Monographie écologique et zoogéographique des Bourdons de France et de Belgique (Hymenoptera, Apidae, Bombinae). Thèse de doctorat en Sciences Agronomiques, Faculté des Sciences agronomiques de l'Etat, Gembloux, 310 + LXII pp.

Rasmont P. 1989. Espèces de bourdons en expansion en Belgique (Hymenoptera, Apidae). *Notes fauniques de Gembloux*, 18, 57-64.

Rasmont P. 1995. Les Anthophores de France du sous-genre Lophanthophora Brooks avec la redescription de trois espèces au statut confus (Hymenoptera, Apoidea, Anthophoridae). *Annales de la Société Entomologique de France* (N.S.), 31(1):3-20.

Rasmont P. 2008. La régression massive des espèces d'abeilles sauvages et de bourdons

d'Europe: un effet de la perturbation mondiale du cycle de l'azote. In *Actes Colloq. Insectes et Biodiversité* (Vol. 6, pp. 43-60).

Rasmont P. & Mersch P. 1988. Première estimation de la dérive faunique chez les Bourdons de la Belgique (Hymenoptera, Apidae). *Annls Soc. r. Zool. Belg.*, 118(2): 141-147.

Rasmont P. & Haubruge E. 2002. Atlas Hymenoptera.

http://www.atlashymenoptera.net.

Rasmont P. & Pauly A. 2010. Les bourdons de la Belgique. Atlas Hymenoptera, Mons, Gembloux.

http://www.zoologie.umh.ac.be//hymenopter a/page.asp?ID=160.

Rasmont P. & Iserbyt S. 2012. The Bumblebees Scarcity Syndrome: Are heat waves leading to local extinctions of bumblebees (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Bombus)?. In *Annales de la Société entomologique de France* (Vol. 48, No. 3-4, pp. 275-280). Taylor & Francis Group.

Rasmont P., Barbier Y. & Pauly A. 1990. Etude préliminaire de la faunistique des Hyménoptères Apoïdes de deux terrils du Hainaut occidental. *Notes fauniques de Gembloux*, 21: 39-58.

Rasmont P., Leclercq J., Jacob-Remacle A., Pauly A. & Gaspar C. 1993. The faunistic drift of Apoidea in Belgium (Ed. Bruneau E.) 65-87 (Commission of the European Communities, 1993).

Rasmont P., Pauly A., Terzo M., Patiny S., Michez D. et al. 2005. The survey of wild bees (Hymenoptera, Apoidea) in Belgium and France, p. 18, *Food and Agriculture Organisation*, Rome.

Rasmont P., Franzén M., Lecocq T., Harpke A., Roberts S. P. M. et al. 2015. Climatic Risk and Distribution Atlas of European Bumblebees. Biorisk 10 (Special Issue), 246 pp. Rasmont P., Devalez J., Pauly A., Michez D. & Radchenko V. G. 2017a. Addition to the checklist of IUCN European wild bees (Hymenoptera: Apoidea). In *Annales de la Société entomologique de France* (NS), (Vol. 53, No. 1, pp. 17-32). Taylor & Francis.

Rasmont P., Genoud D., Gadoum S., Aubert M.,DufrèneE.,etal.2017b.HymenopteraApoideaGallica:liste des abeillessauvages de Belgique, France, Luxembourg etSuisse.Atlas Hymenoptera, Université de Mons,Mons, Belgium, 15 p.

Rasmont P., Boevé J.-L., de Graaf D., Dendoncker N., Dufrêne M., Smagghe G. and collaborators. 2019. BELBEES Project: Multidisciplinary assessment of BELgian wild BEE decline to adapt mitigation management policy. Final Report. Brussels: Belgian Science Policy 2018 – 37 p. (BRAIN-be - (Belgian Research Action through Interdisciplinary Networks).

Rašomavičius V. (Ed.). 2007. Red Data Book of Lithuania (Lietuvos Raudonoji Knyga). pp. 800. Ministry of Environment of the Republic of Lithuani: Vilnius.

Rassi P., Hyvärinen E., Juslén A. & Mannerkoski I. (Eds.). 2010. The 2010 Red List of Finnish species. Ministry of the Environment and Finnish Environment Institute: Helsinki.

Reemer M. 2018. Basisrapport voor de Rode Lijst Bijen. EIS2018-06. 174p.

Reinig W. F. 1972. Ökologische Studien an mittel- und südeuropäischen Hummeln (*Bombus* Latr., 1802, Hym., Apidae). *Mitteilungen der Münchner Entomologischen Gesellschaft*, 60:1–56.

Remacle A. 2005. L'inventaire des carrières de Wallonie (Belgique). Présentation générale et aspects entomologiques in Actes de la 9e journée entomologique de Gembloux du 11 décembre 2004. *Notes fauniques de Gembloux*, 57, pp. 73-81

Remacle A. 2006. Les potentialités d'accueil de la vie sauvage en milieux rocheux et souterrain, partim « anciennes carrières ». État de l'environnement wallon. Région wallonne et Faculté universitaire des sciences agronomiques de Gembloux, 29 p.

Richards M. H. 2011. Colony social organisation and alternative social strategies in the eastern carpenter bee, Xylocopa virginica. *Journal of insect behavior*, 24(5), 399-411.

Riedinger V., Mitesser O., Hovestadt T., Steffan-Dewenter I. & Holzschuh A. 2015. Annual dynamics of wild bee densities: attractiveness and productivity effects of oilseed rape. *Ecology*, 96 (5): 1351-1360.

Roberts S., Potts S., Biesmeijer K., Kuhlmann M., Kunin W., & Ohlemüller R. 2011. Assessing continental-scale risks for generalist and specialist pollinating bee species under climate change. *BioRisk*, 6, 1.

Robinson R. A. & Sutherlan W. J. 2002. Post-war changes in arable farming and biodiversity in Great Britain. *Journal of applied Ecology*, 39(1), 157-176.

Rodrigues A. S., Pilgrim J. D., Lamoreux J. F., Hoffmann M., & Brooks T. M. 2006. The value of the IUCN Red List for conservation. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 21(2), 71-76.

Roger N., Moerman R., Carvalheiro L. G., Aguirre-Guitiérrez J., Jacquemart A. L. et al. 2016a. Impact of pollen resources drift on common bumblebees in NW Europe. *Global change biology*, 23(1), 68-76.

Roger N., Michez D., Wattiez R., Sheridan C., & Vanderplanck M. 2016b. Diet effects on bumblebee health. *Journal of insect physiology*, 96, 128-133.

Rortais A., Villemant C., Gargominy O., Rome Q., Haxaire J. et al. 2010. A new enemy of honeybees in Europe: The Asian hornet *Vespa velutina*. In: Settele, J. (ed.). Atlas of Biodiversity Risks-from Europe to globe, from stories to maps. Pensoft: Sofia and Moscow. 11 pp.

Roy H. E., Baxter E., Saunders A. & Pocock M. J. O. 2016. Focal Plant Observations as a Standardised Method for Pollinator Monitoring: Opportunities and Limitations for Mass Participation Citizen Science. *PLoS one* 11(3): e0150794. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0150794.

Saad L., Jacquemart A. L., Cawoy V., Vanparys V., Vervoort A. et al. 2009. Les plantes exotiques envahissantes en Belgique ont-elles des impacts?. *Parcs et Réserves*, 64(4), 10-16.

Samnegård U., Persson A. S. & Smith H. G. 2011. Gardens benefit bees and enhance pollination in intensively managed farmland. *Biological Conservation*. 144:2602–2606.

Sandrock C., Tanadini M., Tanadini LG., Fauser-Misslin A., Potts S.G. & Neumann P. 2014. Impact of chronic neonicotinoid exposure on honeybee colony performance and queen supersedure. *PLoS one* 9(8): e103592.

Sann M., Gerth M., Venne C., Tiedemann R. &Bleidorn C. 2010.MolekulareundmorphologischeUntersuchungenzumStatusdes Nomadaalboguttata(Apiformes)Artkomplexes.Ampulex 2 | 2010: 65-72.

Sárospataki M., Novák J. & Molnár V. 2005. Assessing the threatened status of bumble bee species (Hymenoptera: Apidae) in Hungary, Central Europe. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 14(10), 2437-2446.

Schembri P.J. & Sultana J. (Eds.) 1989. Red data book for the Maltese Islands. Department of Information.

Schenk M., Krauss J. & Holzschuh A. 2018. Desynchronizations in bee–plant interactions cause severe fitness losses in solitary bees. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 87(1), 139-149.

Scheuchl E. & Willner W. 2016. Taschenlexikon der Wildbienen Mitteleuropas: Alle Arten im Porträt. Quelle et Meyer Verlag. ISBN 978-3-494-01653-5.

Schleuning M., Fruend J., Schweiger O., Welk E., Albrecht J. et al. 2016. Ecological networks are more sensitive to plant than to animal extinction under climate change. *Nature Communications*, 7, 13965.

Schmid-Egger C. & Scheuchl E. 1997. Illustrierte Bestimmungstabellen der Wildbienen Deutschlands und Österreichs unter Berücksichtigung der Arten der Schweiz. Band III: Andrenidae. Eigenverlag, Velden.

Schoonvaere K., De Smet L., Smagghe G., Vierstraete A., Braeckman B. P. & de Graaf D. C. 2016. Unbiased RNA shotgun metagenomics in social and solitary wild bees detects associations with eukaryote parasites and new viruses. *PLoS one*, 11(12), e0168456.

Senapathi D., Carvalheiro L. G., Biesmeijer J. C., Dodson C. A., Evans R. L. et al. 2015. The impact of over 80 years of land cover changes on bee and wasp pollinator communities in England. Proceedings of the *Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1806), 20150294.

Shirt D. B. 1987. British Red Data Books - Insects. Nature Conservancy Council: Peterborough.

Spuris Z. D (ed.). 1998. Red Data Book of Latvia. Rare and threatened species of plants and animals. Vol. 4 – Invertebrates. Institute of Biology University of Latvia: Riga.

Stout J. C. & Morales C. L. 2009. Ecological impacts of invasive alien species on bees. *Apidologie*, 40(3), 388-409.

Straka J. & Bogusch P. 2011. Contribution to the taxonomy of the *Hylaeus gibbus* species group in Europe (Hymenoptera, Apoidea and Colletidae). *Zootaxa*, 2932:51-67.

Stroot P. & Depiereux E. 1989. Proposition d'une Méthodologie pour établir des Listes Rouges

d'Invertébrés Menacés. *Biological Conservation*, 48: 163-179.

Svensson B., Lagerlöf J.G. & Svensson B.G. 2000. Habitat preferences of nest-seeking bumble bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae) in an agricultural landscape. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment,* 77, 247–255.

Temple H. J. & Cox N. A. 2009. European Red List of Amphibians. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.

Temple H.J. & Terry A. 2009. The status and distribution of European mammals. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.

Terzo M. 2000. Classification phylogénétique des Cératines du monde et monographie des espèces de la région ouest-paléarctique et de l'Asie Centrale (Hymenoptera, Apoidea, Xylocopinae, Ceratina Latreille). Thèse de Doctorat, Université de Mons-Hainaut, 263 + XXIII pp.

Terzo M. & Rasmont P. 2007. MALVAS, suivi, étude et vulgarisation sur l'interaction entre les MAE et les abeilles sauvages. Région Wallonne Direction Générale de l'Agriculture et Université de Mons. 77 p.

Terzo M. & Rasmont P. 2014. Atlas of the European Bees: genus Xylocopa. STEP Project, Atlas Hymenoptera, Mons, Gembloux. http://www.zoologie.umh.ac.be/hymenoptera /page.asp?ID=214.

Timuş A., Baban E. & Calestru L. 2017. Insects included in the red book of Moldova: limitation factors and protection measures. *Current Trends in Natural Sciences*. 6(11), 174-182.

Thompson H. M. 2001. Assessing the exposure and toxicity of pesticides to bumblebees (Bombus sp.). *Apidologie*, 32(4), 305-321.

Thompson H. M. & Hunt L. V. 1999. Extrapolation from honeybees to bumblebees in pesticide risk assessment. *Ecotoxicology*, 8:147–166.

Thomson D. M. 2016. Local bumble bee decline linked to recovery of honey bees, drought effects on floral resources. *Ecology Letters*, 19:1247-1255.

Tomizawa M. & Casida J. E. 2005. Neonicotinoid Insecticide Toxicology: Mechanisms of Selective Action. *Annual Review Pharmacoogy and Toxicology*, 45:247–68.

Tommasi D., Miro A., Higo H. A. & Winston M. L. 2004. Bee diversity and abundance in an urban setting. *Canadian Entomologist*, 136:851–869.

Traveset A. & Richardson D. M. 2006. Biological invasions as disruptors of plant reproductive mutualisms, *Trends Ecol. Evol.*, 21, 208–216.

Tylianakis J. M., Didham R. K., Bascompte J. & Wardle D. A.2008). Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology letters*, 11(12), 1351-1363.

UCL – ELI – ELIM. 2017. Estimation quantitativedesutilisationsdeproduitsphytopharmaceutiquesparlesdifférentssecteurs d'activité. Rapport final. Etude réaliséepour le compte du SPW – DGO3 –DEMNA &DEE.169p.Enligne.http://etat.environnement.wallonie.be.

Underwood E., Darwin G. & Gerritsen E. 2017. Pollinator initiatives in EU Member States: Success factors and gaps. Report for European Commission under contract for provision of technical support related to Target 2 of the EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020 – maintaining and restoring ecosystems and their services ENV.B.2/SER/2016/0018. Institute for European Environmental Policy, Brussels.

Vanderplanck M., Moerman R., Rasmont P., Lognay G., Wathelet B. et al. 2014. How does pollen chemistry impact development and feeding behaviour of polylectic bees? *PloS one*, 9(1), e86209. Vanderplanck M., Decleves S., Roger N., Decroo C., Caulier G. et al. 2018. Is non-host pollen suitable for generalist bumblebees? *Insect science*, 25(2), 259-272.

Vanderplanck M., Martinet B., Carvalheiro L. G., Rasmont P., Barraud A. et al. 2019. Ensuring access to high-quality resources reduces the impacts of heat stress on bees. *Scientific Reports*, 9:12596.

Van der Zee R., Gray A., Holzmann C., Pisa L., Brodschneider R. et al. 2013. Standard survey methods for estimating colony losses and explanatory risk factors in *Apis mellifera*. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, 52(4), 1-36.

Van Swaay C., Cuttelod A., Collins S., Maes D., López Munguira M. et al. 2010. European Red List of Butterflies. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.

Verdú J. R., Numa C. & Galante E. 2011. Atlas y Libro Rojo de los Invertebrados amenazados de España (Especies Vulnerables). Dirección General de Medio Natural y Política Forestal, Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, Medio rural y Marino: Madrid, pp. 1318 2 vols.

Vereecken N., Toffin E., Gosselin M. & Michez D. 2006. Observations relatives à la biologie et à la nidification de quelques abeilles psammophiles d'intérêt en Wallonie. 1. Observations printanières. *Parcs & Réserves,* 61(1): 8-13.

Vereecken N. 2017. Découvrir & protéger nos abeilles sauvages. Glénat.

Vereecken N., Appeldoorn M. & Colomb P. 2017. Vers un fleurissement favorable aux pollinisateurs, Collection ESPACES VERTS N° 2, Service Public de Wallonie (SPW), Direction des Espaces Verts. Disponible à l'adresse : http://environnement.wallonie.be/publi/fleuris sement-vf.pdf

Veraghtert W., De Grave D. & D'Haeseleer J. 2017. BIJvriendelijk Beersel (2). Meer kennis en draagvlak voor een betere bescherming. Rapport Natuurpunt Studie 2017/26, Mechelen.

Vray S., Lecocq T., Roberts S. P. & Rasmont P. 2017. Endangered by laws: potential consequences of regulations against thistles on bumblebee conservation. In *Annales de la Société entomologique de France* (NS), (Vol. 53, No. 1, pp. 33-41). Taylor & Francis.

Vray S. 2018. Cent ans de déclin des bourdons en Belgique : influence du climat et de l'occupation du sol. Thèse de doctorat. Université de Mons & Université de Namur, Mons & Namur, 490pp. ISBN : 978-2-9602170-0-1.

Vray S., Rollin O., Rasmont P., Dufrêne M., Michez D. & Dendoncker N. 2019. A century of local changes in bumblebee communities and landscape composition in Belgium. *Journal of Insect* https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-019-00139-9.

Vulliamy B. G. Potts S. G. & Willmer P. 2006. The effects of cattle grazing on plant-pollinator communities in a fragmented Mediterranean landscape. *Oikos*, 114(3), 529-543.

WallisDeVries M.F. & van Swaay C.A.M. 2017. Anitrogen index to track changes in butterflyspecies assemblages under nitrogen deposition.BiolConserv,212:448–453.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioco n.2016.11.029.

Wallonie Environnement SPW. 2008. Rapportanalytique sur l'état de l'environnement wallon2006-2007 ; Chapitre 12 – la faune, la flore etles habitats - FFH16 Les plantes vasculaires. 720pp.Availableonlineathttp://etat.environnement.wallonie.be

Wallonie Environnement SPW. 2012. La vie sauvage emprunte aussi nos routes. SPW editions. 22p.

Wallonie Environnement SPW. 2018. Le Programme Wallon de Réduction des Pesticides 2018-2022 (PWRP II). SPW editions. 82p.

Ward D. F. 2014. Understanding sampling and taxonomic biases recorded by citizen scientists. *Journal of insect conservation*, 18(4), 753-756.

Webb N. R. 1998. The traditional management of European heathlands. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 35:987–990.

Westrich P. 1989. Die Wildbienen Baden-Württembergs. Ulmer, Stuttgart.

Westrich P. 1996. Habitat requirements of central European bees and the problems of partial habitats. The Conservation of Bees: 1–16.

Westrich P., Frommer U., Mandery K., Riemann H., Ruhnke H. et al. 2008. Rote Liste der Bienen Deutschlands (Hymenoptera, Apidae) - (4. Fassung, Dezember 2007). *Eucera*: 33-87

Westrich P., Frommer U., Mandery K., Riemann H., Ruhnke H. et al. 2011. Rote Liste und Gesamtartenliste der Bienen (Hymenoptera, Apidae) Deutschlands - (5. Fassung, Dezember 2011) [Red List and complete species list of bees in Germany]. In: Bundesamt für Naturschutz (ed.), Rote Liste der gefährdeter Tiere, Pflanzen und Pilze Deutschlands. Band 3: Wirbellose Tiere (Teil 1) [Red List of threatened animals, plants and fungi of Germany]: 371-416. Bonn.

Wcislo W. T. & Cane J. H. 1996. Floral resource utilization by solitary bees (Hymenoptera: Apoidea) and exploitation of their stored foods by natural enemies. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 41: 257-286.

Whitehorn P. R., O'connor S., Wackers F. L., & Goulson D. 2012. Neonicotinoid pesticide reduces bumble bee colony growth and queen production. *Science*, 336(6079), 351-352.

Williams P.H. 1982. The distribution and decline of British bumble bees (*Bombus* Latr.). *Journal of Apicultural Research*, 21(4): 236-245.

Williams P. H. 1986. Environmental change and the distributions of British bumble bees (*Bombus* Latr.). *Bee world*, 67(2), 50-61.

Williams P. H., Araújo M. B., Rasmont P. 2007. Can vulnerability among British bumblebee (*Bombus*) species be explained by niche position and breadth? *Biological Conservation*, 138:493–505.

Williams P. H., & Osborne J. L. 2009. Bumblebee vulnerability and conservation world-wide. *Apidologie*, 40(3), 367-387.

Williams N. M., Crone E. E., Roulston T. H., Minckley R. L., Packer L. & Potts S. G. 2010. Ecological and lifehistory traits predict bee species responses to environmental disturbances. *Biological Conservation*, 143:2280–2291.

Willmer P. 2011. Pollination and floral ecology. Princeton University Press.

Wind P. & Pihl S. (Eds.) 2004. The Danish Red List. - The National Environmental Research Institute, Aarhus University. redlist.dmu.dk (updated April 2010).

Winfree R., Griswold T. & Kremen C. 2007. Effect of human disturbance on bee communities in a forested ecosystem. *Conservation Biology*, 21:213–223.

Woodcock B. A., Isaac N. J., Bullock J. M., Roy D. B., Garthwaite D. G. et al. 2016. Impacts of neonicotinoid use on long-term population changes in wild bees in England. *Nature Communications*, 7, 12459.

Woodcock B. A., Bullock J. M., Shore R. F., Heard M. S., Pereira M. G. et al. 2017. Country-specific effects of neonicotinoid pesticides on honey bees and wild bees. *Science*, 356(6345), 1393-1395.

Zambra E. 2017. Le syndrôme de stress hyperthermique chez les bourdons

(Hymenoptera : Apidae) sub-boréaux de Belgique.

Zurbuchen A., Landert L., Klaiber J., Müller A., Hein S. & Dorn S. 2010a. Maximum foraging ranges in solitary bees: only few individuals have the capability to cover long foraging distances. *Biological Conservation*, 143 (2010) 669–676.

Zurbuchen A., Cheesman S., Klaiber J., Müller A., Hein S. & Dorn S. 2010b. Long foraging distances impose high costs on offspring production in solitary bees. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 79, 674–681.

7. Appendix

Appendix 1: Red List status of Belgian bees. Legal protection status in Wallonia are mentioned as well as bee trends in 1991 ("-" for
species in relative regression / "=" for species in relative status quo / "+" for species in relative expansion / "DD" for Data Deficient
species; Rasmont et al. 1993). Red List status at European scale are also indicated.

Taxonomy	Protected in Wallonia	Trends in 1991 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Category (Europe)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Europe)
ANDRENIDAE						
Andrena agilissima	Yes	-	EN	A2bc; B2ab(iv)	DD	
Andrena alfkenella	No	Not mentioned	DD		DD	
Andrena angustior	No	+	NT	A2bc	DD	
Andrena anthrisci	No	DD	DD		LC	
Andrena apicata	No	=	LC		DD	
Andrena argentata	No	=	NT	A2bc; B1ab(iii)	DD	
Andrena assimilis	No	Not mentioned	NA		DD	
Andrena barbareae	No	Not mentioned	NA		DD	
Andrena barbilabris	No	+	LC		DD	
Andrena bicolor	No	+	LC		LC	
Andrena bimaculata	No	DD	NT	A2c	DD	
Andrena carantonica	No	+	LC		DD	
Andrena chrysopus	No	Not mentioned	DD		DD	
Andrena chrysopyga	No	-	RE		DD	
Andrena chrysosceles	No	+	LC		DD	
Andrena cineraria	No	=	LC		LC	
Andrena cinerea	No	Not mentioned	LC		DD	
Andrena clarkella	No	=	LC		DD	
Andrena coitana	No	=	EN	B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	DD	
Andrena combinata	No	-	CR	A2bc	DD	
Andrena curvungula	Yes	=	CR	A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	DD	
Andrena decipiens	No	Not mentioned	NA		DD	
Andrena denticulata	No	-	NT	A2c	DD	
Andrena distinguenda	No	Not mentioned	RE		DD	
Andrena dorsata	No	=	LC		DD	
Andrena falsifica	No	=	DD		DD	
Andrena ferox	No	DD	CR	B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	DD	
Andrena flavipes	No	+	LC		LC	
Andrena florea	No	=	LC		DD	

Taxonomy	Protected in	Trends in 1991	IUCN Red List	IUCN Red List Criteria	IUCN Red List Category	IUCN Red List Criteria (Europe)
	Wallonia	(Rasmont et al. 1993)	Category (Belgium)	(Belgium)	(Europe)	
Andrena floricola	No	Not mentioned	RE		DD	
Andrena fucata	No	+	VU	A2bc	DD	
Andrena fulva	No	+	LC		DD	
Andrena fulvago	No	=	NT	A2bc	DD	
Andrena fulvata	No	Not mentioned	NA		DD	
Andrena fulvida	No	-	EN	A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	NT	
Andrena fuscipes	Yes	=	LC		DD	
Andrena gelriae	No	DD	RE		DD	
Andrena gravida	No	=	LC		DD	
Andrena haemorrhoa	No	+	LC		LC	
Andrena hattorfiana	No	=	NT	A2bc; B1ab(i,iii) +2ab(i,iii)	NT	
Andrena helvola	No	+	VU	A2c	DD	
Andrena humilis	No	=	LC		DD	
Andrena intermedia	No	DD	EN	B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	LC	
Andrena labialis	Yes	=	NT	A2bc	DD	
Andrena labiata	No	=	LC		DD	
Andrena lapponica	No	=	VU	B1ab(ii,iii,iv) +2ab(ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Andrena lathyri	No	=	NT	A2b	DD	
Andrena limata	No	DD	RE		DD	
Andrena marginata	Yes	-	RE		DD	
Andrena minutula	No	+	LC		DD	
Andrena minutuloides	No	=	DD		DD	
Andrena mitis	No	=	LC		DD	
Andrena nana	No	DD	DD		LC	
Andrena nanula	No	Not mentioned	NA		DD	
Andrena nigriceps	No	DD	CR	B1ab(ii,iii,iv) +2ab(ii,iii,iv)	DD	
Andrena nigroaenea	No	+	LC		LC	
Andrena nigrospina	No	Not mentioned	DD		LC (A. pilipes)	
Andrena nitida	No	+	LC		LC	
Andrena nitidiuscula	No	DD	VU	B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	LC	
Andrena nitidula	No	Not mentioned	NA		DD	
Andrena niveata	No	DD	DD		DD	
Andrena nycthemera	No	DD	LC		DD	
Andrena ovatula	No	-	NT	A2c	NT	
Andrena pandellei	No	=	VU	B2ab(iii)	LC	

Taxonomy	Protected in	Trends in 1991	IUCN Red List	IUCN Red List Criteria	IUCN Red List Category	IUCN Red List Criteria (Europe)
	Wallonia	(Rasmont et	Category	(Belgium)	(Europe)	
Andrena pilipes	No	- -	DD		LC	
Andrena polita	No	=	CR	A2bc;	LC	
				B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)		
Andrena notentillae	No	חח	CR	+2ab(1,11,111,117) B1ab(iji)	חח	
			en	+2ab(iii)		
Andrena praecox	No	=	LC		LC	
Andrena propinqua	No	Not mentioned	DD		DD	
Andrena proxima	No	=	LC		DD	
Andrena pusilla	No	Not mentioned	DD		DD	
Andrena rosae	No	-	LC		DD	
Andrena ruficrus	No	=	NT	A2b	LC	
Andrena schencki	No	-	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	DD	
Andrena semilaevis	No	=	DD		DD	
Andrena similis	No	=	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	DD	
Andrena spreta	No	=	DD		DD	
Andrena strohmella	No	=	DD		LC	
Andrena subopaca	No	+	LC		DD	
Andrena synadelpha	No	+	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	DD	
Andrena tarsata	No	-	EN	A2bc	DD	
Andrena thoracica	No	DD	RE		DD	
Andrena tibialis	No	=	LC		LC	
Andrena trimmerana	No	Not mentioned	DD		DD	
Andrena vaga	No	=	LC		LC	
Andrena varians	No	=	CR	A2bc	LC	
Andrena ventralis	No	=	LC		DD	
Andrena viridescens	No	Not mentioned	LC		DD	
Andrena wilkella	No	=	NT	A2c	DD	
Panurgus banksianus	Yes	=	LC		LC	
Panurgus calcaratus	Yes	-	LC		LC	
Panurgus dentipes	Yes	DD	LC		LC	
APIDAE						
Ammobates punctatus	Yes	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Anthophora aestivalis	Yes	-	RE		LC	
Anthophora bimaculata	Yes	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	

Taxonomy	Protected in	Trends in 1991	IUCN Red List	IUCN Red List Criteria	IUCN Red List Category	IUCN Red List Criteria (Europe)
	Wallonia	(Rasmont et al. 1993)	Category (Belgium)	(Belgium)	(Europe)	
Anthophora borealis	No	Not mentioned	RE		NT	1
Anthophora furcata	No	-	LC		LC	
Anthophora plagiata	Yes	-	RE		LC	
Anthophora plumipes	No	+	LC		LC	
Anthophora quadrimaculata	No	-	LC		DD	
Anthophora retusa	Yes	-	EN	A2c	LC	
Apis mellifera	No	Not mentioned	DD		DD	
Biastes truncatus	No	DD	RE		VU	B2ab(i,ii,v)
Bombus barbutellus	No	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Bombus bohemicus	No	+	NT	A2bc	LC	
Bombus campestris	No	-	VU	A2bc	LC	
Bombus confusus	No	-	RE		VU	A2c+3c+4c
Bombus cryptarum	No	Not mentioned	EN	A2bc	LC	
Bombus cullumanus	No	DD	RE		CR	A2c
Bombus distinguendus	Yes	-	RE		VU	A2c
Bombus hortorum	No	-	NT	A2bc	LC	
Bombus humilis	Yes	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Bombus hypnorum	No	+	LC		LC	
Bombus jonellus	Yes	-	VU	A2bc	LC	
Bombus lapidarius	No	-	LC		LC	
Bombus lucorum	No	Not mentioned	NT	A2bc	LC	
Bombus magnus	No	Not mentioned	EN	A2bc	LC	
Bombus muscorum	Yes	-	CR	A2bc	VU	A2c
Bombus norvegicus	No	DD	VU	B1ab(i,ii) +2ab(i,ii)	LC	
Bombus pascuorum	No	+	LC		LC	
Bombus pomorum	No	-	RE		VU	A2c
Bombus pratorum	No	+	LC		LC	
Bombus ruderarius	No	-	EN	A2bc	LC	
Bombus ruderatus	No	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Bombus rupestris	No	-	EN	A2bc	LC	
Bombus soroeensis	No	-	VU	A2bc	LC	
Bombus subterraneus	No	-	RE		LC	
Bombus sylvarum	Yes	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Bombus sylvestris	No	+	LC		LC	
Bombus terrestris	No	Not mentioned	LC		LC	
Bombus vestalis	No	-	NT	A2bc	LC	
Bombus veteranus	Yes	-	CR	A2bc	LC	
Taxonomy	Protected in Wallonia	Trends in 1991 (Rasmont et	IUCN Red List Category	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Category (Europe)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Europe)
----------------------------	-----------------------------	----------------------------------	------------------------------	--	---------------------------------------	------------------------------------
Bombus wurflenii	No	DD	RE		LC	
Ceratina cvanea	No	=	LC		LC	
, Epeoloides coecutiens	Yes	DD	LC		LC	
' Epeolus cruciger	Yes	=	NT	A2c	NT	
Epeolus tarsalis	No	Not mentioned	CR	B1ab(i,ii,iii) +2ab(i,ii,iii)	NT	
Epeolus variegatus	Yes	=	LC		LC	
Eucera longicornis	Yes	=	VU	A2bc; B1ab(i,iii) +2ab(i,iii)	LC	
Eucera nigrescens	Yes	=	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,iii)	LC	
Melecta albifrons	No	+	NT	A2c	LC	
Melecta luctuosa	Yes	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Nomada alboguttata	No	=	LC		LC	
Nomada argentata	No	DD	RE		NT	
Nomada armata	No	=	EN	B1ab(i,ii,iii) +2ab(i,ii,iii)	NT	
Nomada baccata	No	DD	DD		NT	
Nomada bifasciata	No	-	LC		LC	
Nomada castellana	No	DD	RE		LC	
Nomada conjungens	No	=	LC		LC	
Nomada distinguenda	No	-	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii) +2ab(i,ii,iii)	LC	
Nomada emarginata	No	=	RE		LC	
Nomada fabriciana	No	=	LC		LC	
Nomada facilis	No	Not mentioned	LC		LC	
Nomada femoralis	No	-	VU	A2bc	LC	
Nomada ferruginata	No	=	LC		LC	
Nomada flava	No	+	LC		LC	
Nomada flavoguttata	No	=	LC		LC	
Nomada flavopicta	No	-	LC		LC	
Nomada fucata	No	-	LC		LC	
Nomada fulvicornis	No	=	LC		LC	
Nomada furva	No	DD	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	DD	
Nomada fuscicornis	No	-	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Nomada goodeniana	No	-	LC		LC	
Nomada guttulata	No	DD	LC		LC	
Nomada integra	No	-	VU	A2bc	LC	
Nomada lathburiana	No	=	LC		LC	
Nomada leucophthalma	No	-	LC		LC	
Nomada marshamella	No	=	LC		LC	

Taxonomy	Protected in Wallonia	Trends in 1991 (Rasmont et	IUCN Red List Category	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Category (Europe)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Europe)
Nomada melathoracica	No	al. 1993)	(Belgium)			
Nomada mutabilis	No		RE			
Nomada mutica	No	מס	CR	B1ab(i ii iii iv) +	NT	
Nomada matica	NO	UU	CN	2ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +		
Nomada obscura	Yes	=	LC		LC	
Nomada obtusifrons	No	DD	CR	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	NT	
Nomada opaca	No	DD	EN	B1ab(ii,iii) + 2ab(ii,iii)	NT	
Nomada panzeri	No	=	LC		LC	
Nomada piccioliana	No	DD	CR	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Nomada pleurosticta	No	DD	RE		NT	
Nomada rhenana	No	DD	RE		NT	
Nomada roberjeotiana	No	-	RE		NT	
Nomada ruficornis	No	-	LC		LC	
Nomada rufipes	No	=	NT	A2c	LC	
Nomada sexfasciata	No	-	CR	A2bc	LC	
Nomada sheppardana	No	-	LC		LC	
Nomada signata	No	-	LC		LC	
Nomada similis	No	=	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Nomada stigma	No	DD	LC		LC	
Nomada striata	No	=	VU	A2c	LC	
Nomada succincta	No	Not mentioned	LC		LC	
Nomada villosa	No	DD	EN	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	NT	
Nomada zonata	No	DD	LC		LC	
Thyreus orbatus	Yes	-	EN	A2bc	LC	
Xylocopa violaceae	No	DD	LC		LC	
Xylocopa virginica	No	Not mentioned	NA		-	
COLLETIDAE						
Colletes cunicularius	Yes	-	LC		LC	
Colletes daviesanus	No	+	LC		LC	
Colletes fodiens	No	=	LC		VU	B2ab(ii,iii)
Colletes halophilus	No	+	LC		NT	
Colletes hederae	No	Not mentioned	LC		LC	
Colletes hylaeiformis	No	Not mentioned	NA		LC	
Colletes marginatus	No	DD	LC		LC	
Colletes similis	No	DD	LC		LC	
Colletes succinctus	No	=	LC		NT	

Taxonomy	Protected	Trends in 1991	IUCN Red	IUCN Red List Criteria	IUCN Red List	IUCN Red List Criteria (Europe)
	Wallonia	(Rasmont et al. 1993)	Category (Belgium)	(Belgium)	(Europe)	(Lurope)
Hylaeus angustatus	No	DD	EN	B1ab(iii) + 2ab(iii)	LC	
Hylaeus annularis	No	+	DD		DD	
Hylaeus annulatus	No	Not	NA		DD	
		mentioned				
Hylaeus bifasciatus	No	DD	NA		DD	
Hylaeus brevicornis	No	=	DD		LC	
Hylaeus clypearis	No	DD	DD		LC	
Hylaeus communis	No	+	LC		LC	
Hylaeus confusus	No	=	LC		LC	
Hylaeus cornutus	No	=	LC		LC	
Hylaeus difformis	No	DD	LC		LC	
Hylaeus dilatatus	No	Not mentioned	DD		LC	
Hylaeus gibbus	No	=	DD		LC	
Hylaeus gracilicornis	No	DD	DD		LC	
Hylaeus gredleri	No	Not mentioned	DD		LC	
Hylaeus hyalinatus	No	+	LC		LC	
Hylaeus incongruus	No	Not mentioned	DD		DD	
Hylaeus leptocephalus	No	-	CR	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Hylaeus nigritus	No	DD	EN	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Hylaeus paulus	No	Not mentioned	DD		LC	
Hylaeus pectoralis	No	=	LC		DD	
Hylaeus pictipes	No	=	LC		LC	
Hylaeus pilosulus	No	=	RE		DD	
Hylaeus punctulatissimus	No	=	LC		DD	
Hylaeus punctatus	No	Not mentioned	LC		LC	
Hylaeus rinki	No	=	VU	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Hylaeus signatus	No	=	LC		LC	
Hylaeus sinuatus	No	DD	DD		LC	
Hylaeus styriacus	No	DD	LC		DD	
Hylaeus variegatus	No	-	NT	A2bc	LC	
HALICTIDAE						
Dufourea dentiventris	No	=	EN	A2bc	NT	
Dufourea halictula	No	DD	CR	A2bc; B1ab(ii,iv) +2ab(ii,iv)	NT	
Dufourea inermis	No	=	CR	A2bc; B1ab(ii,iv) +2ab(ii,iv)	NT	

Taxonomy	Protected	Trends in	IUCN Red	IUCN Red List	IUCN Red List	IUCN Red List Criteria
	in Wallonia	1991 (Rasmont et	List	(Belgium)	Category (Europe)	(Europe)
	vvalionia	al. 1993)	(Belgium)	(Deigiuin)	(Europe)	
Dufourea minuta	No	-	RE		NT	
Halictus eurygnathus	No	DD	CR	A2bc;	LC (<i>H</i> .	
				B1ab(i,ii,iv)	compressus)	
Indiature maguilature	No			+2ab(i,ii,iv)		
Halictus macaicinctus	NO	-	VU CP	AZDC		
Halictus quadricificius	No	_		AZDC		
Halictus radiosae	No	_				
Halictus sevenetus	No	_	VU	Albe		
Halictus simpley	No	-	V U E N	A2bc: $B2ab(ii iv)$		
Lasioglossum albines	No	_		A2bc, $D2ab(11,17)$		
Lasioglossum hrevicorne	No	_	EN	A2bc: B2ab(ii iv)	NT	
Lasioglossum breviventre	No	-	RE		EN	B2ab(i ii v)
Lasioglossum previventie	No	+				0200(1,11,17)
Lasioglossum catulatum	No	' חח	CR	B1ab(i ji jij jij)	NT	
Lusiogiossum costulutum	NO		CN	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)		
Lasioglossum fratellum	No	=	DD		LC	
Lasioglossum fulvicorne	No	=	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum glabriusculum	No	Not	NA		LC	
	Na	mentioned	DE			
	NO		KE	A 2 h a		
Lasiogiossum laevigatum	NO	=	VU	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv)	IN I	
Lasioglossum laticeps	No	=	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum lativentre	No	-	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum laeve	No	DD	RE		EN	B2ab(i,ii,iv)
Lasioglossum leucopus	No	=	NT	A2bc	LC	
Lasioglossum leucozonium	No	=	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum lineare	No	=	RE		DD	
Lasioglossum lucidulum	No	=	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum majus	No	Not mentioned	LC		NT	
Lasioglossum malachurum	No	=	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum minutissimum	No	=	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum minutulum	No	=	VU	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	NT	
Lasioglossum monstrificum	No	Not mentioned	VU	A2c	NT (L. sabulosum)	
Lasioglossum morio	No	=	LC		ĹĊ	
Lasioglossum nigripes	No	Not mentioned	RE		LC	
Lasioglossum nitidiusculum	No	=	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum nitidulum	No	+	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum pallens	No	Not mentioned	LC		LC	

Taxonomy	Protected in Wallonia	Trends in 1991 (Rasmont et	IUCN Red List Category	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Category (Europe)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Europe)
Lasioalossum parvulum	No	al. 1993) =	LC		LC	
Lasioalossum pauxillum	No	=				
Lasioalossum politum	No	DD	RF			
Lasioglossum prasinum	No	=	FN	B1ab(i ii iii iv)	NT	
Lasioalossum	No	+				
punctatissimum	110	·	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum puncticolle	No	Not mentioned	NA		LC	
Lasioglossum pygmaeum	No	-	VU	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	NT	
Lasioglossum quadrinotatulum	No	=	VU	A2c	NT	
Lasioglossum quadrinotatum	No	=	CR	A2bc	NT	
Lasioglossum rufitarse	No	=	NT	A2bc	LC	
Lasioglossum semilucens	No	=	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum sexnotatum	No	-	LC		NT	
Lasioglossum sexstrigatum	No	=	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum subfasciatum	No	Not mentioned	RE		EN	B2ab(i,ii,v)
Lasioglossum subfulvicorne	No	Not mentioned	DD		LC	
Lasioglossum subhirtum	No	Not mentioned	RE		LC	
Lasioglossum tarsatum	No	DD	CR	B2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	NT	
Lasioglossum villosulum	No	=	LC		LC	
Lasioglossum xanthopus	No	-	EN	A2bc	NT	
Lasioglossum zonulum	No	=	LC		LC	
Rhophitoides canus	No	Not mentioned	RE		LC	
Rophites quinquespinosus	Yes	DD	CR	A2bc B1ab(i)	NT	
Seladonia confusa	No	=	VU	A2c	LC (H. confusus)	
Seladonia leucahenea	No	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	VU (H. leucaheneus)	B2ab(iii,v)
Seladonia subaurata	No	Not mentioned	NA		LC (H. subauratus)	
Seladonia tumulorum	No	+	LC		LC (H. tumulorum)	
Sphecodes albilabris	No	-	LC		LC	
Sphecodes alternatus	No	Not mentioned	DD		LC	
Sphecodes crassus	No	+	LC		LC	
Sphecodes ephippius	No	+	LC		LC	
Sphecodes ferruginatus	No	=	LC		LC	
Sphecodes geoffrellus	No	+	LC		LC	
Sphecodes gibbus	No	=	LC		LC	
Sphecodes hyalinatus	No	=	LC		NT	

Taxonomy	Protected in Wallonia	Trends in 1991 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Category (Europe)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Europe)
Sphecodes longulus	No	=	LC		LC	
Sphecodes majalis	No	Not mentioned	DD		NT	
Sphecodes marginatus	No	=	VU	B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	LC	
Sphecodes miniatus	No	=	LC		LC	
Sphecodes monilicornis	No	=	LC		LC	
Sphecodes niger	No	DD	VU	B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	LC	
Sphecodes pellucidus	No	+	LC		LC	
Sphecodes puncticeps	No	=	LC		LC	
Sphecodes reticulatus	No	-	LC		LC	
Sphecodes rubicundus	No	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,,iii,iv)	NT	
Sphecodes rufiventris	No	DD	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv) A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	LC	
Sphecodes scabricollis	No	-	EN	A2bc	DD	
Sphecodes spinulosus	No	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	NT	
MEGACHILIDAE						
Aglaoapis tridentata	No	DD	RE		LC	
Anthidiellum strigatum	No	=	LC		LC	
Anthidium manicatum	No	=	LC		LC	
Anthidium oblongatum	No	=	LC		LC	
Anthidium punctatum	Yes	-	LC		LC	
Chelostoma campanularum	No	=	LC		LC	
Chelostoma distinctum	No	=	VU	A2c; B1ab(ii,iii)	LC	
Chelostoma florisomne	No	=	LC		LC	
Chelostoma rapunculi	No	+	LC		LC	
Coelioxys afer	Yes	DD	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	LC (<i>C. afra</i>)	
Coelioxys alatus	Yes	DD	VU	B1ab(iii) + 2ab(iii)	LC (<i>C. alata</i>)	
Coelioxys aurolimbatus	Yes	-	LC		LC (<i>C</i> . aurolimbata)	
Coelioxys conoideus	Yes	-	CR	A2bc; B1(i,ii,iii,iv,v)	LC (C. conoidea)	
Coelioxys echinatus	Yes	Not mentioned	DD		LC (<i>C. echinata</i>)	
Coelioxys elongatus	Yes	=	VU	A2bc; B1ab(iii) + 2ab(iii)	LC (<i>C. elongata</i>)	
Coelioxys emarginatus	Yes	DD	RE		LC (C. emarginata)	
Coelioxys inermis	Yes	=	LC		LC	

Taxonomy	Protected in Wallonia	Trends in 1991 (Rasmont et	IUCN Red List Category	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Category (Europe)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Europe)
		al. 1993)	(Belgium)	12	1.0	
Coelioxys mandibularis	Yes	=	VU	A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Coelioxys quadridendatus	Yes	=	CR	A2bc; B1ab (i,ii,iv) +2ab (i,ii,iv)	LC (C. quadridentata)	
Coelioxys rufescens	Yes	-	NT	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii)	LC	
Heriades truncorum	No	+	LC		LC	
Hoplitis adunca	No	-	LC		LC	
Hoplitis anthocopoides	No	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Hoplitis claviventris	No	=	VU	A2bc	LC	
Hoplitis leucomelana	No	=	LC		LC	
Hoplitis mitis	No	DD	NA		LC	
Hoplitis papaveris	No	-	RE		LC	
Hoplitis ravouxi	No	=	CR	A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv)	LC	
Hoplitis tridentata	No	Not mentioned	LC		LC	
Hoplitis villosa	No	-	RE		LC	
Megachile alpicola	No	=	VU	A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	DD	
Megachile analis	No	DD	CR	A2bc; B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	DD	
Megachile centuncularis	No	=	LC		LC	
Megachile circumcincta	No	-	EN	A2bc	LC	
Megachile ericetorum	No	=	LC		LC	
Megachile genalis	No	DD	CR	A2bc; B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	DD	
Megachile lagopoda	No	-	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Megachile lapponica	No	+	LC		DD	
Megachile leachella	No	=	VU	A2bc; B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	LC	
Megachile ligniseca	No	-	LC		DD	
Megachile maritima	No	=	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	DD	
Megachile octosignata	No	Not mentioned	NA		DD	
Megachile pilidens	No	DD	CR	B2ab(iii)	LC	
Megachile pyrenaea	No	-	LC		DD	
Megachile rotundata	No	DD	LC		DD	
Megachile versicolor	No	=	LC		DD	
Megachile willughbiella	No	=	LC		LC	
Osmia andrenoides	No	DD	CR	B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	LC	
Osmia aurulenta	No	-	NT	A2c	LC	

Taxonomy	Protected	Trends in	IUCN Red	IUCN Red List	IUCN Red List	IUCN Red List Criteria
	in Wallonia	1991 (Pasmont of	List	Criteria (Rolgium)	Category (Europo)	(Europe)
	vvalionia	al. 1993)	(Belgium)	(Beigiuin)	(Europe)	
Osmia bicolor	Yes	=	LC		LC	
Osmia bicornis	No	+	LC		LC	
Osmia brevicornis	No	DD	NA		LC	
Osmia caerulescens	No	=	LC		LC	
Osmia cornuta	No	+	LC		LC	
Osmia inermis	No	DD	NA		LC	
Osmia leaiana	No	=	LC		LC	
Osmia mustelina	No	DD	NA		LC	
Osmia niveata	No	=	LC		LC	
Osmia parietina	No	=	EN	A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	LC	
Osmia pilicornis	No	-	RE		LC	
Osmia rufohirta	No	=	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	LC	
Osmia spinulosa	No	-	NT	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv) A2bc; B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	LC	
Osmia uncinata	No	=	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	LC	
Osmia xanthomelana	No	-	RE		LC	
Pseudanthidium scapulare	No	Not mentioned	NA		DD	
Stelis breviuscula	No	=	LC		LC	
Stelis minima	No	DD	RE		LC	
Stelis minuta	No	=	RE		LC	
Stelis odontopyga	No	DD	NA		LC	
Stelis ornatula	No	=	VU	A2bc; B2ab(i,ii,iv)	LC	
Stelis phaeoptera	No	-	NT	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii) +2ab(i,ii)	DD	
Stelis punctulatissima	No	-	LC		LC	
Stelis signata	No	-	VU	A2bc	LC	
Trachusa byssina	Yes	-	LC		LC	
MELITTIDAE						
Dasypoda argentata	No	Not mentioned	RE		NT	
Dasypoda hirtipes	Yes	=	LC		LC	
Macropis europaea	Yes	=	LC		LC	
Macropis fulvipes	Yes	=	LC		LC	
Melitta dimidiata	No	Not mentioned	NA		NT	
Melitta haemorrhoidalis	No	=	LC		LC	
Melitta leporina	No	-	LC		LC	
Melitta nigricans	No	=	LC		LC	
Melitta tricincta	No	=	VU	B2ab(i,ii,iii)	NT	

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
ANDRENIDAE	,				
Andrena agilissima	EN	A2bc; B2ab(iv)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena alfkenella	DD	, ()	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena angustior	NT	A2bc	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena anthrisci	DD		Unknown	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena apicata	DD		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena argentata	NT	A2bc; B1ab(iii)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena assimilis	NA		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena barbareae	NA		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena barbilabris	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena batava	DD		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena bicolor	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena bimaculata	NT	A2c	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena carantonica	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena chrysopus	DD		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena chrysopyga	RE		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena chrysosceles	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena cineraria	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena cinerea	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena clarkella	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena coitana		B1ab(i,ii,iv)			
	EN	+2ab(i,ii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena combinata	CR	A2bc	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena curvungula		A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv)			
Androna dociniona	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iv)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena denticulata	NA	10	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena distinguanda	NI	A2c	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena deresta	RE		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena falsifisa	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena faray	DD	Plab(i ii iv)	Unknown	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Anurenu jerox	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena flavipes		. 200(1)11)10)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena florea			Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena floricola	RE		Unknown	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena fucata	VU	A2bc	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena fulva	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena fulvago	NT	A2bc	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena fulvata	NA		, Opportunist	, Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena fulvida		A2c: B1ab(i,ii iii, iv)		,	
	EN	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena fuscipes	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena gelriae	RE		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena gravida	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground

Appendix 2: IUCN Red List status of Belgian bees by major ecological traits.

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
Andrena haemorrhoa	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena hattorfiana		A2bc; B1ab(i,iii)			
	NT	+2ab(i,iii)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena helvola	VU	A2c	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena humilis	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena intermedia	EN	B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena labialis	NT	A2bc	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena labiata	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena lapponica		B1ab(ii,iii,iv)			
	VU	+2ab(ii,iii,iv)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena latnyri	NT	A2b	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena limata	RE		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena marginata	RE		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena minutula	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena minutuloides	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena mitis	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena nana	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena nanula	NA		Unknown	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena nigriceps	CP	B1ab(ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitory	Everyator Cround
Andrena niaroaenea	CR	+2aD(11,111,1V)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena nigrospina			Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena nitida			Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator Ground
Andrena nitidiuscula	LC VII	R1ab(iii) + 2ab(iii)	Specialized	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena nitidula	NA	DTAD(III) +24D(III)	Jinknown	Solitary	Excavator Ground
Andrena niveata	חח		Specialized	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena nycthemera			Specialised	Solitary	Excavator Ground
Andrena ovatula	NT	A2c	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena pandellei		Azc B2ab(iii)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena pilipes	0	D2dD(III)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena polita		A2be: B1ab(i ii iii iv)	opportunist	Solitary	
1	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena potentillae	CR	B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	Specialised	, Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena praecox	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena propinqua	DD		Opportunist	, Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena proxima	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena pusilla	DD		Unknown	, Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena rosae	LC		Opportunist	, Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena ruficrus	NT	A2b	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena schencki		A2bc: B1ab(i.ii.iii.iv)	·	,	
	EN	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena semilaevis	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena similis		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv)			
	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iv)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena spreta	DD		Unknown	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena strohmella	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
Andrena subopaca	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena synadelpha		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)			
	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena tarsata	EN	A2bc	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena thoracica	RE		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena tibialis	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena trimmerana	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena vaga	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena varians	CR	A2bc	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena ventralis	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena viridescens	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Andrena wilkella	NT	A2c	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Panurgus banksianus	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Panurgus calcaratus	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Panurgus dentipes	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
APIDAE					
		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)			
Ammobates punctatus	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Anthophora aestivalis	RE		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)			
Anthophora bimaculata	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Anthophora borealis	RE		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Anthophora furcata	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Anthophora plagiata	RE		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Anthophora plumipes	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Anthophora quadrimaculata	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Anthophora retusa	EN	A2c	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
					Renter - Existing cavities
Apis mellifera	DD		Opportunist	Eusocial	above ground
Biastes truncatus	RE		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Bombus barbutellus	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	-	Social parasite	-
Bombus bonemicus	NT	A2bc	-	Social parasite	-
Bombus campestris	VU	A2bc	-	Social parasite	-
Rombus confusus			with strong	Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
Dombus conjusus	RE		pref	eusocial	above ground
Danah wa amuntani wa			'	Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
Bombus cryptarum	EN	A2bc	Opportunist	eusocial	above ground
Bombus cullumanus				Primitively	
	RE		Opportunist	eusocial	Unknown
Romhus distinguendus			with strong	Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
bombus usunguenuus	RE		pref	eusocial	above ground
Pombus hortorum			·	Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
Bornbus nortorum	NT	A2bc	Opportunist	eusocial	below ground
Bombus humilis			_	Primitively	
	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	eusocial	Carder

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
Bombus hypporum				Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
bombas nyphorann	LC		Opportunist	eusocial	above ground
Bombus jonellus	N/11	4.2.h.a	Oran entrumiet	Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
	VU	AZDC	Opportunist	Primitively	Below ground Renter - Existing cavities
Bombus lapidarius	LC		Opportunist	eusocial	below ground
Pombus lucorum				Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
Bombus lucorum	NT	A2bc	Opportunist	eusocial	above ground
Bombus magnus			.	Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
·	EN	A2bc	Opportunist	eusocial Primitively	above ground
Bombus muscorum	CR	A2bc	Opportunist	eusocial	Carder
Bombus norvegicus	VU	B1ab(i.ii) +2ab(i.ii)		Social parasite	-
0				Primitively	
Bombus pascuorum	LC		Opportunist	eusocial	Carder
Bombus pomorum				Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
	RE		Opportunist	eusocial	above ground
Bombus pratorum			Opportunist	eusocial	helow ground
	LC		opportunist	Primitively	Below Broand
Bombus ruderarius	EN	A2bc	Opportunist	eusocial	Carder
Romhus ruderatus				Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
Dombas raderatas	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	eusocial	below ground
Bombus rupestris	EN	A2bc	-	Social parasite	-
Bombus soroeensis	N/L1	Alba	Opportunist	Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
	VU	AZDC	Opportunist	Primitively	Benter - Existing cavities
Bombus subterraneus	RE		Opportunist	eusocial	below ground
Pombus suluarum				Primitively	0
bombus sylvaram	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	eusocial	Carder
Bombus sylvestris	LC		-	Social parasite	-
Bombus terrestris			Opportunist	Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
Rombus vestalis		Alba	Opportunist	eusocial	above ground
Dombus vestuns	INT	AZDU	-	Primitively	-
Bombus veteranus	CR	A2bc	Opportunist	eusocial	Carder
Romhus wurflenii				Primitively	Renter - Existing cavities
bombus wurjienn	RE		Opportunist	eusocial	below ground
Ceratina cyanea	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Deadstems
Epeoloides coecutiens	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Epeolus cruciger	NT	A2c	-	Kleptoparasite	-
En actua terractia	CD	B1ab(i,ii,iii)		Klantananaita	
Epeolus tarsails	CR	+2ab(1,11,111)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Epeolus vuriegulus	LC		-	Kieptoparasite	-
Eucera lonaicornis	VII	AZDC; BIAD(I,III) +2ab(i jij)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Fucera narescens	FN	$\Delta 2 hc \cdot B1 a h(i iii)$	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Melecta alhifrons	NT	Δ2c	-	Klentonarasite	-
Melecta luctuosa	CR	$\Delta 2hc$ · R1ah(i ii iii iv)	_	Klentonarasite	-
Nomada alboauttata			_	Klentonarasite	_
Nomada araentata	RE		_	Klentonarasite	_
			-	Richtobarasite	

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
		B1ab(i,ii,iii)			
Nomada armata	EN	+2ab(1,11,111)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada baccata	DD		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada bifasciata	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada castellana	RE		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada conjungens	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada distinguenda	FN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii) +2ab(i,ii,iii)	_	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada emarainata	RF	200(1).1).1	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada fabriciana			_	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada facilis			_	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada femoralis	VII	A2hc	_	Klentonarasite	-
Nomada ferruainata		1200	_	Klentonarasite	-
Nomada flava			_	Klentonarasite	_
Nomada flavoauttata			_	Klentonarasite	-
Nomada flavonicta			_	Klentonarasite	-
Nomada fucata			_	Kleptoparasite	_
Nomada fulvicornis				Klentonarasite	_
Noniduu julvicornis	LC	Alber Blab(i ii iii iv)		Ricptoparasite	
Nomada furva	EN	+ 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)			
Nomada fuscicornis	EN	+ 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada goodeniana	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada guttulata	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada integra	VU	A2bc	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada lathburiana	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada leucophthalma	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada marshamella	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada melathoracica	RE		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada mutabilis	RE		-	Kleptoparasite	-
	0.5	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +			
Nomada mutica	CR	2ab(1,11,111,1V)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada obscura	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada obtusifrons	CR	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
		B1ab(ii,iii) +			
Nomada opaca	EN	2ab(ii,iii)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada panzeri	LC	R1ab(i ii iii iv) +	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada piccioliana	CR	2ab(i.ii.iii.iv)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada pleurosticta	RF		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada rhenana	RE		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada roberieotiana	RE		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada ruficornis	LC		_	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada rufines	NT	A2c	_	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada sexfasciata	CR	A2bc	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada sheppardana	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
11					

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
Nomada signata	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)			
Nomada similis	EN	+ 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada stigma	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada striata	VU	A2c	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada succincta	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Nomada villosa	FN	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +	_	Klentonarasite	_
Nomada zonata		200(1,11,111,117)	_	Klentonarasite	_
Thyreus orbatus	FN	A2bc	_	Kleptoparasite	-
Xvlocopa violaceae	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Deadstems
			-	Solitary + Primitively	
Xylocopa virginica	NA		Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Deadstems
COLLETIDAE					
Colletes cunicularius	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Colletes daviesanus	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Colletes fodiens	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Colletes halophilus	LC		Specialised Opportunist with strong	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Colletes hederae	LC		pref	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Colletes hylaeiformis	NA		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Colletes marginatus	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Colletes similis	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Colletes succinctus	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus angustatus	EN	B1ab(iii) + 2ab(iii)	Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus annularis	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus annulatus	NA		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus bifasciatus	NA		Unknown	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus brevicornis	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus clypearis	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus communis	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus confusus	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus cornutus	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus difformis	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus dilatatus	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus gibbus	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
Hylaeus gracilicornis	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Hylaeus gredleri	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Hylaeus hyalinatus	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus incongruus	DD	P_{1}	Unknown	Solitary	above ground
Hylaeus leptocephalus	CR	2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Hylaeus nigritus	EN	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Specialised	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus paulus	DD		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus pectoralis	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus pictipes	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus pilosulus	RE		Unknown	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus punctatus	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus punctulatissimus	LC	A2bc: B1ab(i.ii.iii.iv)	Specialised	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus rinki	VU	+ 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus signatus	LC		Specialised	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus sinuatus	DD		Unknown	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus styriacus	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Hylaeus variegatus	NT	A2bc	Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Dufourea aentiventris	EN	A2bc	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Dufourea halictula	CR	+2ab(ii,iv)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Dufourea inermis	CR	A2bc; B1ab(ii,iv) +2ab(ii,iv)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Dufourea minuta	RE		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Halictus eurygnathus	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	Opportunist	Unknown	Excavator - Ground
Halictus maculatus	VU	A2bc	Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Halictus quadricinctus	CR	A2bc	Opportunist	Solitary Solitary +	Excavator - Ground
Halictus rubicundus	LC		Opportunist	Primitively eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Halictus scabiosae	LC		Opportunist	Primitively eusocial	Excavator - Ground

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
Halictus sexcinctus				Solitary + Primitively	
	VU	A2bc	Opportunist	eusocial Primitively	Excavator - Ground
Hallctus simplex	EN	A2bc; B2ab(ii,iv)	Opportunist	eusocial Primitively	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum albipes	NT	A2bc	Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum brevicorne	EN	A2bc; B2ab(ii,iv)	Specialised	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum breviventre	RE		Unknown	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum calceatum	LC		Opportunist	Primitively eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum costulatum	CR	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum fratellum	DD		Unknown	Primitively eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum fulvicorne	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum glabriusculum	NA		Opportunist	Primitively eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum interruptum	RE		Opportunist	Primitively	Excavator - Ground
Lasioalossum laeve	RE		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum laevigatum	VU	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum laticeps			Opportunist	Primitively	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum lativentre	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum leucopus	NT	A2bc	Opportunist	Primitively	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum leucozonium	LC	AZUC	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioalossum lineare				Primitively	
	RE		Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum lucidulum	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum majus	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum malachurum	LC		Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum minutissimum	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum minutulum	VII	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i ii iii iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioalossum monstrificum	VU	A2c	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum morio			Opportunist	Primitively	Execution Ground
Lasioalossum niarines	LC		Opportunist	Primitively	Excavator - Ground
	RE		Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum nitidiusculum	LC		Opportunist	Solitary Primitively	Excavator - Ground
	LC		Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum pallens	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum parvulum	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum pauxillum	LC		Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
Lasioalossum politum				Primitively	
	RE		Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum prasinum	EN	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasiogiossum punctatissimum	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum puncticolle	NIA		Opportunist	Primitively	Executor Ground
	NA		Opportunist	eusociai	
Lasioglossum pygmaeum	VU	2ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum				- 1-	
quaarinotatulum	VU	A2c	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum	CD		O	C - lite - ma	Further Comment
	CR		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
	NI	AZDC	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum semilucens	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum sextrolatum	LL		Opportunist	Solitary Primitively	Excavator - Ground
Lusiogiossuiti sexstrigututti	LC		Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum subfasciatum	RE		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum subfulvicorne	DD		Unknown	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum subhirtum	RE		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum tarsatum	CR	B2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary Primitively	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum villosulum	LC		Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum xanthopus	EN	A2bc	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Lasioglossum zonulum	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Rhophitoides canus	RE		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Rophites quinquespinosus	CR	A2bc B1ab(i)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Seladonia confusa				Primitively	
-	VU	A2c	Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Seladonia leurahenea		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv)			
	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Seladonia submediterranea	DD		Unknown	Unknown Primitively	Unknown
Seladonia subaurata	NA		Opportunist	eusocial Solitary +	Excavator - Ground
Seladonia tumulorum				Primitively	
	LC		Opportunist	eusocial	Excavator - Ground
Sphecodes albilabris	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes alternatus	DD		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes crassus	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes ephippius	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes ferruginatus	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes geoffrellus	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes gibbus	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes hyalinatus	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes longulus	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
Sphecodes majalis	DD		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes marginatus	VII	B1ab(i,ii,iv)		Klentonarasite	
Sphecodes miniatus		+240(1,11,10)	_	Kleptoparasite	_
Sphecodes monilicornis			-	Kleptoparasite	-
, Snherodes niger		B1ab(i,ii,iv)			
Spheeodes nellusidus	VU	+2ab(i,ii,iv)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes penucidus	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes puliciceps	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
sphecodes reliculatus	LC		-	Kieptoparasite	-
Sphecodes rubicundus	CR	A2bc; B1ab(I,II,,III,IV) +2ab(i,II,III,IV)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Sphecodes rufiventris	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	_	Kleptoparasite	_
Sphecodes scabricollis	EN	A2bc	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Spherodes spinulosus		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv)			
	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iv)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
MEGACHILIDAE					
Aglaoapis tridentata	RE		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Anthidiellum strigatum	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Mason
Anthidium manicatum	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Anthidium oblongatum	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Anthidium punctatum	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Chelostoma campanularum	LC		Specialised	Solitary	above ground
Chelostoma distinctum	VU	A2c; B1ab(ii,iii)	Specialised	Solitary	above ground
Chelostoma florisomne	LC		Specialised	Solitary	above ground
Chelostoma rapunculi	LC		Specialised	Solitary	above ground
Coelioxys afer	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	_	Kleptoparasite	-
Coelioxys alatus	VU	B1ab(iii) + 2ab(iii)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Coelioxys aurolimbatus	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Coelioxys conoideus	CR	A2bc; B1(i,ii,iii,iv,v)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Coelioxys echinatus	DD		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Coelioxys elongatus	VU	A2bc; B1ab(iii) + 2ab(iii)	_	Kleptoparasite	_
Coelioxys emarginatus	RE	()	_	Kleptoparasite	-
Coelioxys inermis	LC		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Coelioxys mandibularis	VU	A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Coelioxys quadridendatus	CR	A2bc; B1ab (i,ii,iv) +2ab (i,ii,iv)	_	Kleptoparasite	_
Coelioxys rufescens	NT	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii)	-	Kleptoparasite	-

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
Heriades truncorum	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Hoplitis adunca	LC		Specialised	Solitary	above ground
Hoplitis anthocopoides	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Specialised	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities below ground
Hoplitis claviventris	VU	A2bc	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Hoplitis leucomelana	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Hoplitis mitis	NA		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Hoplitis papaveris	RE		Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Hoplitis ravouxi	CR	A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv)	Opportunist Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Hoplitis tridentata	LC		with strong pref	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Hoplitis villosa	RE		Specialised	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities below ground
Megachile alpicola	VU	A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv) A2bc: B1ab(iii)	Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Megachile analis	CR	+2ab(iii)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Megachile apicalis	NA		Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Megachile centuncularis	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Megachile circumcincta	EN	A2bc	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Megachile ericetorum	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Megachile genalis	CR	A2bc; B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	Specialised	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Megachile lagopoda	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Megachile lapponica	LC		with strong pref Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Megachile leachella	VU	A2bc; B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	with strong pref	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Megachile ligniseca	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Megachile maritima	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Megachile octosignata	NA		Unknown Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Megachile pilidens	CR	B2ab(iii)	with strong pref	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Megachile pyrenaea	LC	. /	Opportunist	, Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Megachile rotundata	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Megachile versicolor	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
Meaachile willuahbiella		-			Renter - Existing cavities
	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Osmia andrenoides	CR	B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)	Specialised	Solitary	Renter - Snail shells
Osmia aurulenta	NT	A2c	Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Snail shells
Osmia bicolor	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Snail shells
Osmia bicornis	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Osmia brevicornis	NA		Specialised	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Osmia caerulescens	LC		Opportunist	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Osmia cornuta	LC		Opportunist Opportunist	Solitary	above ground
Osmia inermis			with strong		Renter - Existing cavities
Osmia logiana	NA		pref	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
	LC		Specialised	Solitary	above ground Renter - Existing cavities
Osiniu melunoguster	DD		Specialised	Solitary	above ground
Osmia mustelina	NA		Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Osmia niveata	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Osmia parietina	EN	A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	with strong pref Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Osmia pilicornis	RE		with strong pref Opportunist	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Osmia rufohirta	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv) A2be: B1ab(iii)	with strong pref	Solitary	Renter - Snail shells
Osmia spinulosa	NT	+2ab(iii)	Specialised	Solitary	Renter - Snail shells
Osmia uncinata	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)	Opportunist	Solitary	Renter - Existing cavities above ground
Osmia xanthomelana	RE		Specialised	Solitary	above ground
Pseudanthidium scapulare	NA		Specialised	Solitary	above ground
Stelis breviuscula	LC		· _	, Kleptoparasite	-
Stelis minima	RE		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Stelis minuta	RE		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Stelis odontopyga	NA		-	Kleptoparasite	-
Stelis ornatula	VU	A2bc; B2ab(i,ii,iv)	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Stelis phaeoptera	NT	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii) +2ab(i,ii)	_	Kleptoparasite	-
Stelis punctulatissima	LC	(.))	-	Kleptoparasite	-
, Stelis signata	VU	A2bc	-	Kleptoparasite	-
Trachusa byssina	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground

Taxonomy	IUCN Red List Category (Belgium)	IUCN Red List Criteria (Belgium)	Host range	Sociality	Nesting
MELITTIDAE					
Dasypoda argentata	RE		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Dasypoda hirtipes	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Macropis europaea	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Macropis fulvipes	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Melitta dimidiata	NA		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Melitta haemorrhoidalis	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Melitta leporina	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Melitta nigricans	LC		Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground
Melitta tricincta	VU	B2ab(i,ii,iii)	Specialised	Solitary	Excavator - Ground

ANDRENICAE - Threatened EN Azbc; B2ab(iv) Andrena aglitsina - Threatened EN Azbc; B2ab(iv) Andrena aglitsina + IC NT Azbc; Andrena aglitsior + IC NT Azbc; Andrena aglitsior = IC DD Andrena aglitsion Andrena aglitsior = IC NT Azbc; Andrena aglitsion = IC NT Azbc; Andrena aggitsina = IC NT Azbc; Andrena aggitsina = IC NT Azbc; Andrena aggitsina Not mentioned Not mentioned NA Andrena barbilabris + IC IC Andrena barbilabris Andrena barbilab	Taxonomy	Trends in 1993 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	Inferred IUCN Red List Category (1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Drossart al. 2019)	IUCN Red List Criteria (2019)
Andrena ağlıssina - Threatened EN Azbc; B2ab(iv) Andrena ağlıssina - Threatened DD Andrena ağlıssina + LC NT Azbc Andrena ağlıssina = LC DD DD Andrena ağlıssina = LC DD Andrena ağlıssina = LC DD Andrena ağlıssina = LC DD Andrena ağlıssina Not mentioned NA Nater, Statu Andrena barbareace Not mentioned Not mentioned NA Andrena barbareace Not mentioned Nater, Statu Nater, Statu Andrena bicolor + LC LC Andrena bicolor + LC LC Andrena bicolor + LC LC Andrena drinskapya Not mentioned Not Not Andrena carantonica + LC LC Andrena drinskapya - Threatened RE Andrena drinskapya - Threatened RE Andrena drinskapya - Threatened RE Andrena drinskap = LC LC Andrena drinskap = LC LC	ANDRENIDAE				
Andrena alfkenellaNot mentionedNot mentionedDDDDAndrena angustior+LCNTAzbeAndrena angustior=LCDDDDAndrena angustior=LCDDAndrena angustiorAndrena angustior=LCNTAzbe: Blab(iii)Andrena similisNot mentionedNANAAndrena barbareaeNot mentionedNANAAndrena barbareaeNot mentionedNANAAndrena barbareaeNot mentionedNANAAndrena barbareaeNot mentionedNDNTAzecAndrena barbareaeNot mentionedNTAzecNaAndrena barbarbareaeNot mentionedNTAzecNaAndrena barbarbareaeNot mentionedNTAzecNaAndrena chrysogusNot mentionedNTAzecNaAndrena chrysogupa-ThreatenedRENaAndrena cieneraiNot mentionedNCENYab(i,ii,w)Andrena cienerai-ICICNaAndrena cienerai-ICICAzecAndrena cieneraiNot mentionedNatNaNaAndrena cienerai-ICICAzecAndrena cienerai-ICICAzecAndrena cienerai-ThreatenedNAAzecAndrena cienerai-ThreatenedNAAzecAndrena cieneraiNot mentioned <td>Andrena agilissima</td> <td>-</td> <td>Threatened</td> <td>EN</td> <td>A2bc; B2ab(iv)</td>	Andrena agilissima	-	Threatened	EN	A2bc; B2ab(iv)
Andrena angustior+LCNTAzbcAndrena antrisciDDDDDDAndrena antrisciDDDDDDAndrena angentata=LCNTAzbc; Blab(iii)Andrena asimilisNot mentionedNANAAndrena barbilabrisNot mentionedNANAAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTAzecAndrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTAzecAndrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTHabb(i,ii,iw)Andrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTHabb(i,ii,iw)Andrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTHabb(i,ii,iw)Andrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTHabb(i,ii,iw)Andrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTHabbi(i,ii,iw)Andrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTHabbi(i,ii,iw)Andrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTHabbi(i,ii,iw)Andrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTHabbi(i,ii,iw)Andrena chrispapusNot mentionedNTHabbi(i,ii,iw)Andrena chrispapus <td< td=""><td>Andrena alfkenella</td><td>Not mentioned</td><td>Not mentioned</td><td>DD</td><td>, , , , , ,</td></td<>	Andrena alfkenella	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	, , , , , ,
Andrena anthrisciDDDDDDAndrena apizata=LCDDAndrena apizata=LCNTAzbc; Blab(iii)Andrena assimilisNot mentionedNANAAndrena assimilisNot mentionedNANAAndrena barbareaeNot mentionedNANAAndrena barbiaris+LCLCAndrena bickolor+LCLCAndrena bickolor+LCLCAndrena chysopusNot mentionedDDNTAndrena chrysopusNot mentionedDDLCAndrena chrysopusNot mentionedLCLCAndrena chrysopus-ThreatenedREAndrena chrysopusNot mentionedNEAndrena faisifica-ThreatenedNTAndrena faisifica=LCLCAndrena faisifica=LCLCAndrena faisifica= <t< td=""><td>Andrena angustior</td><td>+</td><td>LC</td><td>NT</td><td>A2bc</td></t<>	Andrena angustior	+	LC	NT	A2bc
Andrena apicata=LCNTAzber, Blab(iii)Andrena argentata=LCNTAzber, Blab(iii)Andrena argentataNot mentionedNAAndrena barbiarbareaeNot mentionedNAAndrena barbiarbareaeNot mentionedNAAndrena barbiarbareaeNot mentionedNAAndrena barbiarbareaeNot mentionedNDAndrena barbiarbareaeNot mentionedNDAndrena barbiarbareaeNot mentionedDDAndrena barbiarbareaeNot mentionedDDAndrena carantanica+LCLCAndrena chrysopyag-ThreatenedREAndrena chrysopyag-ThreatenedRE <td>Andrena anthrisci</td> <td>DD</td> <td>DD</td> <td>DD</td> <td></td>	Andrena anthrisci	DD	DD	DD	
Andrena argentata=LCNTAbc; Blab(iii)Andrena assimilisNot mentionedNAAndrena assimilisNot mentionedNAAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena binaculataDDDDNTA2cAndrena binaculataDDNDNTA2cAndrena carantonica+LCLCAndrena cinspogusNot mentionedNDREAndrena cinspogus-ThreatenedREAndrena cinspogus-ThreatenedREAndrena cinspogus-ThreatenedREAndrena cinspogus-ThreatenedREAndrena cinspogus-ThreatenedREAndrena cinspogus-ThreatenedREAndrena cinspogus-ThreatenedREAndrena cinspogus-ThreatenedREAndrena darbinata-ThreatenedREAndrena deviculata-ThreatenedNAAndrena deviculata-ThreatenedNAAndrena fasigica=LCLCAndrena fasigica=LCLCAndrena fasigica=LCLCAndrena fasigica=LCLCAndrena fasigica=LCLCAndrena fasigica=LCLC <tr< td=""><td>Andrena apicata</td><td>=</td><td>LC</td><td>DD</td><td></td></tr<>	Andrena apicata	=	LC	DD	
Andrena assimilisNot mentionedNot mentionedNAAndrena barbareaeNot mentionedNot mentionedNAAndrena barbaraaNot mentionedNot mentionedDDAndrena barbaraaNot mentionedNot mentionedDDAndrena bialoar+LCLCAndrena biaratinica+LCLCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedREAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedREAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedLCAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCBlab(i,ii,iv)Andrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena continata=LCBlab(i,ii,iv)Andrena continata=LCLCAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNot mentionedNaAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNatAccAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedNatAccAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena falsifica+LCLCAndrena falsifica+LCLCAndrena falsifica	Andrena argentata	=	LC	NT	A2bc; B1ab(iii)
Andrena barbiabriaNot mentionedNot mentionedNotAndrena barbiabria+LCLCAndrena barbiabriaNot mentionedNotAndrena bianculataDDDDNTAndrena bianculataDDDDNTAndrena bianculataDDDDNTAndrena binaculataDDDDNTAndrena chrysopysNot mentionedNotNotAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedREAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedLCAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedLCAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedLCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedLCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedLCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedLCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedLCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedNCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedNCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedNCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedNCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedNCAndrena fabrifica-ThreatenedNCAndrena fabrifica-CLCAndrena fabrifica-LCLCAndrena fabrifica-LCLC	Andrena assimilis	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NA	, , , , , ,
Andrena barbilabris+LCLCAndrena barbaNot mentionedDDAndrena bicolor+LCLCAndrena binaculataDDDDNTAndrena binaculataDDDDNTAndrena carantonica+LCLCAndrena chrysopuga-ThreatenedREAndrena coltana-ThreatenedREAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNaAccAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNatAccAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNatAccAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedRE-Andrena florigica=LCLCLCAndrena florigica+LCLC-Andrena florigica+LCLC-Andrena f	Andrena barbareae	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NA	
Andrena batavaNot mentionedNot mentionedDDAndrena bicolor+LCLCAndrena atomiciaDDDDDDNTA2cAndrena atomicia+LCLCLCAndrena atomicia-ThreatenedRE-Andrena atomicia-ThreatenedRE-Andrena chrysopsya-ThreatenedRE-Andrena chrysopsceles+LCLC-Andrena chrysosceles-LCLC-Andrena chreatai=LCLC-Andrena chreatai-LCLC-Andrena chreatai-LCLC-Andrena chreatai-LCLC-Andrena chreatai-LCLC-Andrena chreatai-ThreatenedRE-Andrena chreatai-ThreatenedRE-Andrena chreatai-ThreatenedNA-Andrena christinguendaNot mentionedNAAndrena denticulata-ThreatenedNA-Andrena destinguendaNot mentionedNAAndrena faisifica=LCLC-Andrena faisifica=LCLC-Andrena faisifica=LCLC-Andrena faisifica=LCLC-Andrena faisifica=LCLC-Andrena	Andrena barbilabris	+	LC	LC	
Andrena binaculata+LCLCAndrena binaculataDDDDNTA2cAndrena binaculataDDDDNTA2cAndrena chrysopusNot mentionedDDDDNTAndrena chrysopyga-ThreatenedREAndrena chrysopsceles+LCLCAndrena chrysopsceles+LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraNot mentionedLCHab(ji,ji,v)Andrena cineraNot mentionedCRA2bcAndrena contana=LCLCHab(ji,ji,v)Andrena contana=LCLCHab(ji,ji,v)Andrena contana=LCHab(ji,ji,v)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNotNotAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNotNotAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedNEHab(ji,ji,v)Andrena faisfica=LCDDLCAndrena faisfica=LCLCLCAndrena figures+LCLCLCAndrena figures+LCLCLCAndrena figures+LCLCLCAndrena figures+LCLCLCAndrena figures+LCLCLCAndrena figures+LCLCLCAndrena figures+LCLCLCAndrena	Andrena batava	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Andrena bimaculataDDDDNTA2cAndrena carantonica+LCLCAndrena chrysopyaNt mentionedNtNtAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedREAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedRCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedREAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedLCAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedCRAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedCRAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedNAAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedCRAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedNAAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedNAAndrena disinguendaNot mentionedNAAndrena falsificaAndrena falsifica-ThreatenedNAAndrena floricolaNot mentionedREAndrena floricolaAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNEAndrena floricolaAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNEAndrena floricolaAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNEAndrena floricolaAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNEAndrena floricolaAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNAAcbc <tr< td=""><td>Andrena bicolor</td><td>+</td><td>LC</td><td>LC</td><td></td></tr<>	Andrena bicolor	+	LC	LC	
Andrena carantonica+LCLCAndrena chrysopusNot mentionedDDAndrena chrysopus-ThreatenedREAndrena chrysopus+LCLCAndrena chrysopus=LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena contana=LCLCAndrena combinata-ThreatenedCRAndrena curvungula=LCZC: B1ab(j,ij,iv)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNAAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNCAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedNCAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena foroxDDDDB1ab(j,ii,iv)Andrena floriolaNt mentionedREAndrena floriolaNt mentionedNTAndrena floriolaNt mentionedNT </td <td>Andrena bimaculata</td> <td>DD</td> <td>DD</td> <td>NT</td> <td>A2c</td>	Andrena bimaculata	DD	DD	NT	A2c
Andrena chrysopyaNot mentionedNot mentionedDDAndrena chrysopya-ThreatenedREAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena chrysopya-LCLCAndrena cineraaNot mentionedLCLCAndrena cineraaNot mentionedLCLCAndrena cineraa-LCLCAndrena coitana-LCLCAndrena combinata-ThreatenedCRAndrena combinata-ThreatenedCRAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNot mentionedNAAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNot mentionedNAAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedNot mentionedREAndrena falsifica=LCLCLCAndrena falsifica=LCLCLCAndrena falsifica=LCLCLCAndrena falsifica=LCLCLCAndrena falsifica=LCLCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNot mentionedRELCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotLCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotLCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotLCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotLCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotLCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotHCLC	Andrena carantonica	+	LC	LC	
Andrena chrysopyga.ThreatenedREAndrena chrysosceles+LCLCAndrena chraraia=LCLCAndrena cineraia=LCLCAndrena cineraia=LCLCAndrena cinkella=LCBlab(i,ii,iv)Andrena coltana=LCBlab(i,ii,iv)Andrena combinata-ThreatenedCRAzbcAndrena curvungula=LCAzbcAltenaAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNAAndrena desizipiensNot mentionedNAAndrena desizipiensNot mentionedNot mentionedREAndrena desizipiensSab(i,ii,iv)Andrena desizipiensNot mentionedNot mentionedREAndrena desizipiensSab(i,ii,iv)Andrena flosifica=LCLCLCAndrena flosificaSab(i,ii,iv)Andrena flosifica=LCLCLCLCAndrena flovipes+LCLCLCLCAndrena flovipes+LCLCLCLCAndrena flovipa+LCLCLCLCLCAndrena flovipa+LCLCLCLCLCAndrena flovipa+LC <td< td=""><td>Andrena chrysopus</td><td>Not mentioned</td><td>Not mentioned</td><td>DD</td><td></td></td<>	Andrena chrysopus	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Andrena chrysosceles+LCLCAndrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cineraNot mentionedNot mentionedLCAndrena cinereaNot mentionedLCBlab(i,ii,iv)Andrena coltana=LCBlab(i,ii,iv)Andrena combinata-ThreatenedCRA2cbAndrena combinata-ThreatenedNAA2c; Blab(i,ii,iv)Andrena combinata-ThreatenedNAA2c; Blab(i,ii,iv)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNAA2cAndrena decipiensAndrena destinguendaNot mentionedNAA2cAndrena distinguendaAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedNCREAndrena distinguendaAndrena flora=LCLCLCAndrena floricolaAndrena florea=LCLCLCAndrena floricolaAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena floreaLCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena floreaA2bcAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena floreaLCLCAndrena fluvago=LCLCA2bcAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotAndrena fluvago=LCLCLCA1ce <t< td=""><td>Andrena chrysopyga</td><td>-</td><td>Threatened</td><td>RE</td><td></td></t<>	Andrena chrysopyga	-	Threatened	RE	
Andrena cineraria=LCLCAndrena cinereaNot mentionedNot mentionedLCAndrena clarkella=LCLCAndrena coitana-LCBlab(i,ii,iv)EN+2ab(i,ii,iv)EN+2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena combinata-ThreatenedCRA2bcAndrena curvungula=LCA2c; Blab(i,ii,iv)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNAA2cAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNTA2cAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedNCENAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipaNot mentionedREAndrena flavipa+LCLCAndrena flavipa+LCLCAndrena flavipa-ThreatenedNAAndrena flavipa=LCLCAndrena flavipa+LCLCAndrena flavipa=LCLCAndrena flavipa=LCK2bcAndrena flavipa=LCK2bcAndrena flavipa=LCK2bcAndrena flavipa=LCK2bc	Andrena chrysosceles	+	LC	LC	
Andrena cinereaNot mentionedLCLCAndrena clarkella=LCLCAndrena coitana=LCBlab(j,ij,iv)Andrena combinata-ThreatenedCRAndrena combinata-ThreatenedAzbcAndrena curvungula=LCAzc; Blab(j,ij,iv)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNAAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNAAndrena dorstinguendaNot mentionedNAAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedREAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florica+LCLCAndrena florigo=LCLCAndrena florigo=LCLCAndrena florigo=LCLCAndrena florigo=LCLCAndrena florigo=LCLCAndrena florigo=LCLCAndrena florigo=LCLCAndrena fluva+LCLCAndrena fluva+LCLCAndrena fluvaNot mentionedNAAndrena fluva-ThreatenedAndrena fluva-ThreatenedAndrena fluva-ThreatenedAndrena fluvaNot mentionedNAAndrena fluvaNot mentionedNAAndrena fluva-ThreatenedAndrena fluva<	Andrena cineraria	=	LC	LC	
Andrena calrkella=LCLCB1ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena coitana=LCB1ab(i,ii,iv)FN+2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena combinata-ThreatenedCRA2bcAndrena curvungula=LCA2c; B1ab(i,i,iv)A2c; B1ab(i,i,iv)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNAA1drena decipiensNot mentionedNAAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNTA2cA2cAndrena destinguendaNot mentionedNTA2cA1drena destinguendaNot mentionedAndrena falsifica=LCLCLCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCLCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotRE+ 2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena floricolaNot mentionedNotEN+ 2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena floricolaNot mentionedNotEN+ 2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena floricolaNot mentionedNotEN+ 2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena floricolaNot mentionedNotEN- 2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena floricolaNot mentionedNot- 2ab(i,ii,iv)- 2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena fluvago=LCLC- 2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena fluvago=LCNTA2bcAndrena fluvago=LCNTA2bcAndrena fluvago=LCNT- 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)Andrena fluvago=LCIC- 2ab(i,ii,ii,ii,iv)Andrena fluvaga=LC	Andrena cinerea	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	LC	
Andrena coitana=LCB1ab(i,ii,iv)EN+2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena combinata-ThreatenedCRA2bcAndrena curvungula=LCA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv)A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNotNAAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNotA2cAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNotA2cAndrena destinguendaNot mentionedNot mentionedREAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flavipaNot mentionedNot mentionedREAndrena flavipa+LCLCLCAndrena flavipa+LCLCLCAndrena flavipa+LCLCLCAndrena flavipa+LCLCLCAndrena flavipa-ThreatenedNAAndrena flavipa-ThreatenedNAAndrena flavipa=LCLCLCAndrena flavipa-ThreatenedNAAndrena flavipa=LCLCLCAndrena flavipa-ThreatenedNAAndrena flavipa-ThreatenedNAAndrena flavipa-ThreatenedNA <t< td=""><td>Andrena clarkella</td><td>=</td><td>LC</td><td>LC</td><td></td></t<>	Andrena clarkella	=	LC	LC	
Andrena combinata-ThreatenedEN+2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena combinata-ThreatenedCRA2c; Blab(i,ii,iv)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNot mentionedNAAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNTA2cAndrena denticulata-ThreatenedNTA2cAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedNEImage: Comparison of the compariso	Andrena coitana	=	LC		B1ab(i,ii,iv)
Andrena combinata-ThreatenedCRA2bcAndrena curvungula=LCA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv)CR+2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNAAndrena denticulata-ThreatenedNTAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedNEAndrena falsifica=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena fucata+LCLCAndrena fucata+LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena fucata+LCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotREAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotNotAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNotNotAndrena fluvata+LCLCAndrena fluvataNot mentionedNotAndrena fluvataNot mentioned <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>EN</td><td>+2ab(i,ii,iv)</td></td<>				EN	+2ab(i,ii,iv)
Andrena curvungula=LCA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv)CR+2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNAAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNAAndrena decipiensNot mentionedNTAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedREAndrena dorsata=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCNTAndrena florea=LCNTAndrena florea=LCNTAndrena fluvaa+LCLCAndrena fluvaaNot mentionedNAAndrena fluvaa-ThreatenedAndrena fluvaa-ThreatenedAndrena fluvaa-ThreatenedAndrena fluvaa-ThreatenedAndrena fluvaa-ThreatenedAndrena fluvaa-ThreatenedAndrena fluvaa=LCAndrena fluvaa-Andren	Andrena combinata	-	Threatened	CR	A2bc
CR+2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNAAndrena denticulata-ThreatenedNTAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedREAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedREAndrena dorsata=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena falsifica=LCB1ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena feroxDDDDB1ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena flora=LCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedREAndrena fluvigo=LCVUAndrena fulvaqo=LCVUAndrena fulvago=LCVUAndrena fulvago=LCNTAndrena fulvada+LCLCAndrena fulvago=LCNAAndrena fulvadaNot mentionedNAAndrena fulvadaNot mentionedNAAndrena fulvada=LCNAAndrena fulvadaNot mentionedNAAndrena fulvada=LCNAAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCL	Andrena curvungula	=	LC		A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv)
Andrena decipiensNot mentionedNot mentionedNAAndrena denticulata-ThreatenedNTA2cAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedREICICAndrena dorsata=LCLCDDAndrena falsifica=LCDDB1ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena falsifica=LCCR+2ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena farvipes+LCLCICAndrena flora=LCLCICAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNot mentionedREICAndrena fuvipes+LCLCA2bcAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNot mentionedREICAndrena fuviqo=LCVUA2bcAndrena fulvaa+LCLCICAndrena fulvaaNot mentionedNot mentionedNAAndrena fulvaaNot mentionedNot mentionedNAAndrena fulvaa=LCLCICAndrena fulvaa-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fulvaa=LCLCICAndrena fulvida=LCLCICAndrena fulvida=LCLCICAndrena fulvida=LCLCICAndrena fulvida=LCLCICAndrena fulvida=LCLCICAndrena fulvida=LCLCICAndrena fulvida=LCLC<			N 1	CR	+2ab(i,ii,iv)
Andrena denticulata-InreatenedNTA2cAndrena distinguendaNot mentionedNetREAndrena dorsata=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena feroxDDDDBlab(i,ii,iv)Andrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNetAndrena fulva+LCLCAndrena fulva+LCVUAzbcAndrena fulva-AzbcAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNTAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNTAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNTAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNTAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNTAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNTAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNTAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNTAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedAzc; Blab(i,ii,iii,iv)Andrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLC </td <td>Andrena decipiens</td> <td>Not mentioned</td> <td>Not mentioned</td> <td>NA</td> <td></td>	Andrena decipiens	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NA	
Andrena distinguendaNot mentionedREAndrena dorsata=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena feroxDDDDB1ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedREAndrena fluvigo=LCVUAndrena fluvigo=LCLCAndrena fluvigo=LCVUAndrena fluvigo=LCLCAndrena fulva+LCLCAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLC </td <td>Andrena denticulata</td> <td>-</td> <td>Ihreatened</td> <td>NT</td> <td>A2c</td>	Andrena denticulata	-	Ihreatened	NT	A2c
Andrena dorsata=LCLCAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena falsifica=LCDDAndrena feroxDDDDCRAndrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNEAndrena fluvaa+LCVUAndrena fulvaa+LCLCAndrena fulvago=LCNTAndrena fulvataNot mentionedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedLCAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedLCAndrena fulvida-LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulvida=LCLCAndrena fulv	Andrena distinguenda	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	RE	
Andrena faisifica=LCDDAndrena feroxDDDDB1ab(i,ii,iv)Andrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedREAndrena fuvia+LCVUAndrena fuvia+LCLCAndrena fuvia-LCVUAndrena fuvia-LCVUAndrena fuvia-LCNTAndrena fuvia-ThreatenedNAAndrena fuvia-ThreatenedNAAndrena fuvia-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fuvia=LCLCAndrena fuvia-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fuvia=LCLCAndrena fuvia-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fuvia=LCLCAndrena fuvia=LCLCAndrena fuvia=LCLCAndrena fuvia=LCLCAndrena fuvia=LCLCAndrena guvia=LCLC	Andrena dorsata	=	LC	LC	
Andrena feroxDDDDBlab(I,II,IV)Rdrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedREAndrena fucata+LCVUAndrena fuva+LCLCAndrena fuva+LCLCAndrena fuva-LCNTAndrena fuva-LCNTAndrena fulvaNot mentionedNAAndrena fulva-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedA2c; Blab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fuscipes=LCLCAndrena gelriaeDDDDREAndrena gavida=LCLC	Andrena falsifica	=	LC	DD	
Andrena flavipes+LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNot mentionedREAndrena floricolaNot mentionedNot mentionedREAndrena flucata+LCVUA2bcAndrena fluva+LCLCAndrena fluvago=LCNTA2bcAndrena fulvataNot mentionedNotNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedNAAndrena fulscipes=LCLCAndrena gelriaeDDDDREAndrena gravida=LCLC	Andrena ferox	DD	DD	CR	Blab(I,II,IV)
Andrena florea=LCLCAndrena florea=LCLCAndrena floricolaNot mentionedREAndrena fucata+LCVUAndrena fulva+LCLCAndrena fulva=LCNTAndrena fulvago=LCNTAndrena fulvataNot mentionedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fuscipes=LCLCAndrena gelriaeDDDDREAndrena gravida=LCLC	Andrena flavines	+	LC		+2aD(1,11,1V)
Andrena floricolaNot mentionedNot mentionedREAndrena fucata+LCVUA2bcAndrena fulva+LCLCAndrena fulvago=LCNTA2bcAndrena fulvataNot mentionedNot mentionedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fuscipes=LCLCAndrena gelriaeDDDDREAndrena gravida=LCLC	Andrena florea	=	LC		
Andrena fucata+LCVUA2bcAndrena fulva+LCLCAndrena fulvago=LCNTA2bcAndrena fulvataNot mentionedNANAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fuscipes=LCLCAndrena gelriaeDDDDREAndrena gravida=LCLC	Andrena floricola	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	RE	
Andrena fulva+LCLCAndrena fulvago=LCNTA2bcAndrena fulvataNot mentionedNANAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)EN+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)EN+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)Andrena fulscipes=LCLCAndrena gelriaeDDDDREAndrena gravida=LCLC	Andrena fucata	+	LC		Albe
Andrena fulvago=LCNTA2bcAndrena fulvataNot mentionedNot mentionedNAAndrena fulvida-ThreatenedA2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv)Andrena fuscipes=LCLCAndrena gelriaeDDDDREAndrena gravida=LCLC	Andrena fulva	+			AZDC
Andrena fulvata Not mentioned Not mentioned NA Andrena fulvida - Threatened A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) EN +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv) Andrena fuscipes = LC Andrena gelriae DD DD Andrena gravida = LC	Andrena fulvaao	=	LC	NT	A2bc
Andrena fulvida - Threatened A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iii, iv) Andrena fuscipes = LC EN +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv) Andrena gelriae DD DD RE Andrena gravida = LC LC	Andrena fulvata	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NΔ	
Andrena fuscipes=LCLCAndrena gelriaeDDDDREAndrena gravida=LCLC	Andrena fulvida	-	Threatened		ADe: Plah(i ii iii iii)
Andrena fuscipes=LCLCAndrena gelriaeDDDDREAndrena gravida=LCLC				FN	нис, втар(I,II,III, IV) +2ab(I,II III IV)
Andrena gelriaeDDDDREAndrena gravida=LCLC	Andrena fuscipes	=	LC		
Andrena gravida = LC IC	Andrena gelriae	DD	DD	RF	
	Andrena gravida	=	LC	LC	

Appendix 3: Inferred Red List status of wild bees based on Rasmont et al. (1993)

Taxonomy	Trends in 1993 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	Inferred IUCN Red List Category (1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Drossart al. 2019)	IUCN Red List Criteria (2019)
Andrena haemorrhoa	+	LC	LC	-
Andrena hattorfiana	=	LC		A2bc; B1ab(i,iii)
Androng holyola			NT	+2ab(i,iii)
Andrena humilis	+		VU	A2c
Andrena intermedia	=		LC	
Andrena labialis	- 00		EN	B1ab(III) +2ab(III)
Androna labiata	-	LC	NI	A2bc
Andrena lannenica	=		LC	
Απατεπαταρροπικά	=	LC		B1ab(ii,iii,iv)
Andrena lathuri	_		VU	+2ab(II,III,IV)
Andrena limata	-			A2D
Andrena marainata	-	Threatened	RE	
Andrena minutula	-		RE	
Andrena minutuloides	- -		LC	
Andrena mitic	_		DD	
Andrena nana	-		LC	
Andrena nanula	Not montioned	Not montioned	DD	
Andrena nigricons			NA	
Anurenu nigriceps	UU	UU		B1ab(ii,iii,iv)
Andrena niarogenea	1		CR	+2ab(11,111,1V)
Andrena nigrosenina	Not mentioned	Not mentioned		
Andrena nitida	+		DD	
Andrena nitidiuscula	'			
Andrena nitidula	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	VU NA	BTap(III) +5ap(III)
Andrena niveata				
Andrena nycthemera	סט	מט	DD	
Andrena ovatula		Threatened	LC	A.D
Andrena nandellei	_			
Andrena pilines	_	Threatened	VU	BZab(III)
Andrena polita	_		DD	
Andrena ponta	_		CR	A2bc; B1ab(ı,ıı,ııı,ıv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Andrena potentillae	DD	DD	CR	B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)
Andrena praecox	=	LC	LC	
Andrena propinqua	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Andrena proxima	=	LC	LC	
Andrena pusilla	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Andrena rosae	-	Threatened	LC	
Andrena ruficrus	=	LC	NT	A2b
Andrena schencki	-	Threatened		A2bc; B1ab(i.ii.iii.iv)
			EN	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Andrena semilaevis	=	LC	DD	
Andrena similis	=	LC		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv)
			CR	+2ab(i,ii,iv)
Andrena spreta	=	LC	DD	
Andrena strohmella	=	LC	DD	

Taxonomy	Trends in 1993 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	Inferred IUCN Red List Category (1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Drossart al. 2019)	IUCN Red List Criteria (2019)
Andrena subopaca	+	LC	LC	
Andrena synadelpha	+	LC		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
			CR	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Andrena tarsata	-	Threatened	EN	A2bc
Andrena thoracica	DD	DD	RE	
Andrena tibialis	=	LC	LC	
Andrena trimmerana	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Andrena vaga	=	LC	LC	
Andrena varians	=	LC	CR	A2bc
Andrena ventralis	=	LC	LC	
Andrena viridescens	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	LC	
Andrena wilkella	=	LC	NT	A2c
Panurgus banksianus	=	LC	LC	
Panurgus calcaratus	-	Threatened	LC	
Panurgus dentipes	DD	DD	LC	
APIDAE				
	-	Threatened		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Ammobates punctatus			CR	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Anthophora aestivalis	-	Threatened	RE	
	-	Threatened		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Anthophora bimaculata			CR	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Anthophora borealis	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	RE	
Anthophora furcata	-	Threatened	LC	
Anthophora plagiata	-	NT	RE	
Anthophora plumipes	+	LC	LC	
Anthophora	-	Threatened		
quadrimaculata		- 1	LC	
Anthophora retusa	-	Inreatened	EN	A2c
Apis mellifera	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Biastes truncatus	DD	DD	RE	
Bombus barbutellus	-	Threatened	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Bombus bohemicus	+	LC	NT	A2bc
Bombus campestris	-	Threatened	VU	A2bc
Bombus confusus	-	RE	RE	
Bombus cryptarum	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	EN	A2bc
Bombus cullumanus	-	RE	RE	
Bombus distinguendus	-	Threatened	RE	
Bombus hortorum	-	Threatened	NT	A2bc
Bombus humilis	-	Threatened	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Bombus hypnorum	+	LC	LC	
Bombus jonellus	-	Threatened	VU	A2bc
Bombus lapidarius	-	Threatened	LC	
Bombus lucorum	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NT	A2bc
Bombus magnus	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	EN	A2bc
Bombus muscorum	-	Threatened	CR	A2bc
Bombus norvegicus	DD	DD	VU	B1ab(i,ii) +2ab(i,ii)

Taxonomy	Trends in 1993 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	Inferred IUCN Red List Category (1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Drossart al. 2019)	IUCN Red List Criteria (2019)
Bombus pascuorum	+	LC	LC	
Bombus pomorum	-	RE	RE	
Bombus pratorum	+	LC	LC	
Bombus ruderarius	-	Threatened	EN	A2bc
Bombus ruderatus	-	Threatened	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Bombus rupestris	-	Threatened	EN	A2bc
Bombus soroeensis	-	Threatened	VU	A2bc
Bombus subterraneus	-	Threatened	RE	
Bombus sylvarum	-	Threatened	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Bombus sylvestris	+	LC	LC	
Bombus terrestris	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	LC	
Bombus vestalis	-	Threatened	NT	A2bc
Bombus veteranus	-	Threatened	CR	A2bc
Bombus wurflenii	-	RE	RE	
Ceratina cyanea	=	LC	LC	
Epeoloides coecutiens	DD	DD	LC	
Epeolus cruciger	=	LC	NT	A2c
	Not mentioned	Not mentioned		B1ab(i,ii,iii)
Epeolus tarsalis			CR	+2ab(i,ii,iii)
Epeolus variegatus	=	LC	LC	
				A2bc; B1ab(i,iii)
Eucera longicornis	=	LC	VU	+2ab(i,iii)
Eucera nigrescens	=	LC	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,iii)
Melecta albifrons	+	LC	NT	A2c
Melecta luctuosa	-	Threatened	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Nomada alboguttata	=	LC	LC	
Nomada argentata	DD	DD	RE	
				B1ab(i,ii,iii)
Nomada armata	=	LC	EN	+2ab(1,11,111)
Nomada baccata	DD		DD	
Nomada bifasciata	-	Ihreatened		
Nomada castellana	DD	DD	RE	
Nomada conjungens	=	LC	LC	
Nomada distinguanda		Threatened		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii)
Nomada amarainata	-	Inreatened	EIN	+2aD(1,11,111)
Nomada emarginata Namada fakaisina a	=		KE	
Nomada Japriciana	= Not mentioned	LC Not mentioned		
Nomada Jacins Namada famanalia	Not mentioned	Thurstowed		
Nomada femoralis Nomada femoralis	-	Inreatened	VU	A2bc
Nomada ferruginata	=			
ivomaaa flava Namada flava	+	LC	LC	
Nomaaa flavoguttata	=			
Nomada flavopicta	-	Inreatened	LC	
Nomada fucata	-	Ihreatened	LC	
Nomada fulvicornis	=	LC	LC	

Taxonomy	Trends in 1993 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	Inferred IUCN Red List Category (1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Drossart al. 2019)	IUCN Red List Criteria (2019)
Nomada furua				A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Nomuuu jurvu	UU	UU	EIN	+ $2dD(I,II,III,IV)$
Nomada fuscicornis	-	Threatened	EN	+ 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Nomada goodeniana	-	Threatened	LC	
Nomada guttulata	DD	DD	LC	
Nomada integra	-	Threatened	VU	A2bc
Nomada lathburiana	=	LC	LC	
Nomada leucophthalma	-	Threatened	LC	
Nomada marshamella	=	LC	LC	
Nomada melathoracica	DD	DD	RE	
Nomada mutabilis	DD	DD	RE	
				B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +
Nomada mutica	DD	DD	CR	2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Nomada obscura	=	LC	LC	
				B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +
Nomada obtusifrons	DD	DD	CR	2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Nomada opaca	DD	DD	EN	B1ab(ii,iii) + 2ab(ii,iii)
Nomada panzeri	=	LC	LC	
	22	22	2 2	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +
Nomada piccioliana	DD	DD	CR	2ab(1,11,111,1V)
Nomada pieurosticia	DD	DD	RE	
Nomada menana	UU	DD	KE DE	
Nomada ruficernic	-	Threatened	RE	
Nomada rufinas	-	Inreatened	LC	A.J.c.
Nomada covfasciata	-	LC		AZL
Nomudu sexjusciulu Nomada shannardana	-	Threatened		AZUC
Nomada sianata	-	Threatened		
Nomuuu signutu		Inteatened	LC	A2be: P1ab(i ii iii iv)
Nomada similis	=		FN	+ 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Nomada stiama	DD	DD	LC	
Nomada striata	=	LC	VU	A2c
Nomada succincta	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	LC	
				B1ab(i.ii.iii.iv) +
Nomada villosa	DD	DD	EN	2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Nomada zonata	DD	DD	LC	
Thyreus orbatus	-	Threatened	EN	A2bc
Xylocopa violaceae	DD	DD	LC	
Xylocopa virginica	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NA	
COLLETIDAE				
Colletes cunicularius	-	NT	LC	
Colletes daviesanus	+	LC	LC	
Colletes fodiens	=	LC	LC	
Colletes halophilus	+	LC	LC	
Colletes hederae	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	LC	

Taxonomy	Trends in 1993 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	Inferred IUCN Red List Category (1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Drossart al. 2019)	IUCN Red List Criteria (2019)
Colletes hylaeiformis	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NA	-
Colletes marginatus	DD	DD	LC	
Colletes similis	DD	DD	LC	
Colletes succinctus	=	LC	LC	
Hylaeus angustatus	DD	DD	EN	B1ab(iii) + 2ab(iii)
Hylaeus annularis	+	LC	DD	
Hylaeus annulatus	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NA	
Hylaeus bifasciatus	DD	DD	NA	
Hylaeus brevicornis	=	LC	DD	
Hylaeus clypearis	DD	DD	DD	
Hylaeus communis	+	LC	LC	
Hylaeus confusus	=	LC	LC	
Hylaeus cornutus	=	LC	LC	
, Hvlaeus difformis	DD	DD	LC	
, Hvlaeus dilatatus	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
, Hvlaeus aibbus	=	LC	DD	
Hylaeus aracilicornis	DD	DD	DD	
Hylaeus aredleri	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Hylaeus hyalinatus	+	IC		
Hylaeus inconaruus	Not mentioned	Not mentioned		
ny la cuo meongrado				B1ab(i ii iii iv) +
Hylaeus leptocephalus	-	Threatened	CR	2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Hulaous nigritus	חח	חח	EN	B1ab(I,II,III,IV) +
Hyldeus nightus	Not mentioned	Not mentioned		280(1,11,111,10)
Hyldeus paulus				
Hyldeus pectoruns	=			
Hyldeus pictipes	=			
Hyldeus pilosulus	= Not mentioned	LC Not mentioned	RE	
Hylaeus punctatus	Not mentioned			
Hylaeus punctulatissimus	=	LC	LC	
Hylaeus rinki	=	LC	VU	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Hylaeus signatus	=	LC	LC	
Hylaeus sinuatus	DD	DD	DD	
Hylaeus styriacus	DD	DD	LC	
Hylaeus variegatus	-	Threatened	NT	A2bc
HALICTIDAE				
Dufourea dentiventris	=	LC	EN	A2bc
Dufourea halictula	DD	DD	CR	A2bc; B1ab(ii,iv) +2ab(ii,iv)
Dufourea inermis	=	LC	CR	A2bc; B1ab(ii,iv) +2ab(ii,iv)
Dufourea minuta	DD	DD	RE	· · ·
Halictus eurygnathus	DD	DD	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)
Halictus maculatus	-	NT	VU	A2bc

Taxonomy	Trends in 1993 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	Inferred IUCN Red List Category (1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Drossart al. 2019)	IUCN Red List Criteria (2019)
Halictus quadricinctus	-	Threatened	CR	A2bc
Halictus rubicundus	=	LC	LC	
Halictus scabiosae	=	LC	LC	
Halictus sexcinctus	-	Threatened	VU	A2bc
Halictus simplex	-	Threatened	EN	A2bc; B2ab(ii,iv)
Lasioglossum albipes	=	LC	NT	A2bc
Lasioglossum brevicorne	=	LC	EN	A2bc: B2ab(ii.iv)
Lasioalossum breviventre	DD	DD	RF	
Lasioalossum calceatum	+	LC		
Lasioglossum costulatum	DD	DD	CP	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Lasioalossum fratellum	=			+2aD(1,11,111,1V)
Lasioglossum fulvicorne	_			
Lusiogiossum juiviconne	- Not mentioned	Not mentioned	LC	
Lasioglossum glabriusculum	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NΔ	
Lasioalossum interruntum	חח	חח	RE	
Lasioglossum Interruptum			RE	
Lasioglossum laeviaatum	=		NL VII	A2bc: B1ab(i ii iv)
Lasioglossum laticens	=			
Lasioglossum lativentre		Threatened		
	_		LC	Alba
Lasioglossum leucopus	-			AZDC
	-			
	=		KE	
	=	LL Not montioned	LC	
Lasiogiossum majus	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	LC	
Lasioglossum malachurum	=	LC	LC	
Lasioglossum minutissimum	=	LC	LC	
Lasioglossum minutulum	=	LC		A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
	NU 1. 1. 1		VU	+ 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Lasioglossum monstrificum	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	VU	A2c
Lasioglossum morio	=	LC	LC	
Lasioglossum nigripes	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	RE	
Lasioglossum nitidiusculum	=	LC	LC	
Lasioglossum nitidulum	+	LC	LC	
Lasioglossum pallens	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	LC	
Lasioglossum parvulum	=	LC	LC	
Lasioglossum pauxillum	=	LC	LC	
Lasioglossum politum	DD	DD	RE	
Lasioglossum prasinum	=	LC	EN	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Lasioglossum	+	IC		
punctatissimum	· · · · ·		LC	
Lasioglossum puncticolle	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NA	
Lasioglossum pygmaeum	-	Threatened	VU	B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) + 2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)

Taxonomy	Trends in 1993 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	Inferred IUCN Red List Category (1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Drossart al. 2019)	IUCN Red List Criteria (2019)
Lasioglossum	_			
quadrinotatulum	-	LC	VU	A2c
Lasioglossum	=	10		
quadrinotatum	-		CR	A2bc
Lasioglossum rufitarse	=	LC	NT	A2bc
Lasioglossum semilucens	=	LC	LC	
Lasioglossum sexnotatum	-	Threatened	LC	
Lasioglossum sexstrigatum	=	LC	LC	
Lasioglossum subfasciatum	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	RE	
Lasioglossum subfulvicorne	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Lasioglossum subhirtum	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	RE	
Lasioglossum tarsatum	DD	DD	CR	B2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Lasioglossum villosulum	=	LC	LC	
Lasioglossum xanthopus	-	Threatened	EN	A2bc
Lasioalossum zonulum	=	LC		
Rhophitoides canus	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	BE	
Ronhites quinquesninosus	חח	חח	CR	A2bc B1ab(i)
Seladonia confusa	=			
Schuolling conjusu	_		VO	
Seladonia leucahenea	-	Threatened	CP	AZDC; BIAD(I,II,IV)
Seladonia suhmediterranea	Not mentioned	Not mentioned		+2aD(1,11,1V)
Seladonia submediterranea	Not mentioned	Not mentioned		
Seladonia tumulorum	Not mentioned		NA	
	Ŧ			
Sphecodes albitabris	- Not montioned	NI Not montioned		
Sphecodes diternatus	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Sphecodes crassus	+	LC	LC	
Sphecodes ephippius	+	LC	LC	
Sphecodes ferruginatus	=	LC	LC	
Sphecodes geoffrellus	+	LC	LC	
Sphecodes gibbus	=	LC	LC	
Sphecodes hyalinatus	=	LC	LC	
Sphecodes longulus	=	LC	LC	
Sphecodes majalis	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Sphecodes marginatus	=	LC	VU	B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i ii iv)
Sphecodes miniatus	=		10	
Sphecodes monilicornis	=			
spireeoues monineornis		20	LC	B1ab(i ji jy)
Sphecodes niger	DD	DD	VU	+2ab(i,ii,iv)
Sphecodes pellucidus	+	LC	LC	
Sphecodes puncticeps	=	LC	LC	
Sphecodes reticulatus	-	NT	LC	
Sphecodes rubicundus	-	Threatened	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Sphecodes rufiventris	DD	DD	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)

et al. 1993) Category (1993) (Drossart al. 2019) (2019	
Sphecodes scabricollis - Threatened EN A2bc	
Sphecodes spinulosus-ThreatenedA2bc; B1ab(i,CR+2ab(i,ii,iv)	ii,iv)
MEGACHILIDAE	
Aglaoapis tridentata DD DD RE	
Anthidiellum strigatum = LC LC	
Anthidium manicatum = LC LC	
Anthidium oblongatum = LC LC	
Anthidium punctatum - Threatened LC	
Chelostoma campanularum = LC LC	
Chelostoma distinctum = LC VU A2c; B1ab(ii,ii	i)
Chelostoma florisomne = LC LC	
Chelostoma rapunculi + LC LC	
Coelioxys aferDDA2bc; B1ab(i, CRCoelioxys aferDDCRCR+2ab(i,ii,iv)	i,iv)
Coelioxys alatus DD DD VU B1ab(iii) + 2a ¹	o(iii)
Coelioxys aurolimbatus - Threatened LC	
Coelioxys conoideus - Threatened CR A2bc; B1(i,ii,ii	í,iv,v)
Coelioxys echinatus Not mentioned Not mentioned DD	
Coelioxys elongatus = LC A2bc; B1ab(iii)) +
Coelioxys emarginatus DD DD RE	
Coelioxys inermis = LC LC	
Coelioxys mandibularis=LCA2c; B1ab(i,ii, +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)VU+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	iii,iv)
Coelioxys quadridendatus = LC A2bc; B1ab (i, CR +2ab (i,ii,iv)	ii,iv)
Coelioxys rufescens - Threatened NT A2bc; B1ab(i,	i)
Heriades truncorum + LC LC	,
Hoplitis adunca - Threatened LC	
Hoplitis anthocopoides - Threatened A2bc; B1ab(i, CR +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)	i,iii,iv)
Hoplitis claviventris = LC VU A2bc	
Hoplitis leucomelana = LC LC	
Hoplitis mitis DD DD NA	
Hoplitis papaveris - Threatened RE	
Hoplitis ravouxi = LC CR A2c: B1ab(i.ii	iv)
Hoplitis tridentata Not mentioned Not mentioned LC	,
Hoplitis villosa - Threatened RE	
Megachile alpicola = LC A2c; B1ab(i,ii, v) VU +2ab(i,ii,iv) A2bc; D1ab(i,ii, v)	iv)
Megachile analisDDA2bc; B1ab(IIIMegachile analisDDCR12ab(III))
Megachile apicalis Not mentioned Not mentioned NA	
Megachile centuncularis = LC IC	
Megachile circumcincta - Threatened EN A2bc	

Taxonomy	Trends in 1993 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	Inferred IUCN Red List Category (1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Drossart al. 2019)	IUCN Red List Criteria (2019)
Megachile ericetorum	=	LC	LC	
Meaachile aenalis	DD	DD		A2bc; B1ab(iii)
		Thursday	CR	+2ab(iii)
Megachile lagopoda	-	Inreatened	CR	A2bc; B1ab(I,II,III,IV)
медастие тарропіса	+	LC	LC	
Megachile leachella	=	LC	VU	A2bc; B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)
Megachile ligniseca	-	Threatened	LC	
Megachile maritima	=	LC	CR	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Megachile octosignata	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NA	
Megachile pilidens	DD	DD	CR	B2ab(iii)
Megachile pyrenaea	-	Threatened	LC	
Megachile rotundata	DD	DD	LC	
Megachile versicolor	=	LC	LC	
Megachile willughbiella	=	LC	LC	
Osmia andrenoides	DD	DD	CR	B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)
Osmia aurulenta	-	Threatened	NT	A2c
Osmia bicolor	=	LC	LC	
Osmia bicornis	+	LC	LC	
Osmia brevicornis	DD	DD	NA	
Osmia caerulescens	=	LC	LC	
Osmia cornuta	+	LC	LC	
Osmia inermis	DD	DD	NA	
Osmia leaiana	=	LC	LC	
Osmia melanogaster	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	DD	
Osmia mustelina	DD	DD	NA	
Osmia niveata	=	LC	LC	
Osmia parietina	=	LC		A2c; B1ab(i,ii,iv)
Osmia nilicornis	_	Threatened	EN	+2ab(i,ii,iv)
		medicined		Alber Blab/i ii iii iv)
Osmia rufohirta	=	LC	EN	+2ab(i,ii,iii,iv)
Osmia spinulosa	-	Threatened	NT	A2bc; B1ab(iii) +2ab(iii)
Osmia uncinata	=	LC	EN	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii,iv) +2ab(i,ii,iv)
Osmia xanthomelana	-	Threatened	RE	
Pseudanthidium scapulare	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NA	
Stelis breviuscula	=	LC	LC	
Stelis minima	DD	DD	RE	
Stelis minuta	=	LC	RE	
Stelis odontopyga	DD	DD	NA	
Stelis ornatula	=	LC	VU	A2bc; B2ab(i,ii,iv)
Stelis phaeoptera	-	Threatened	NT	A2bc; B1ab(i,ii) +2ab(i,ii)

Taxonomy	Trends in 1993 (Rasmont et al. 1993)	Inferred IUCN Red List Category (1993)	IUCN Red List Category (Drossart al. 2019)	IUCN Red List Criteria (2019)
Stelis punctulatissima	-	NT	LC	
Stelis signata	-	NT	VU	A2bc
Trachusa byssina	=	LC	LC	
MELITTIDAE				
Dasypoda argentata	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	RE	
Dasypoda hirtipes	=	LC	LC	
Macropis europaea	=	LC	LC	
Macropis fulvipes	=	LC	LC	
Melitta dimidiata	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	NA	
Melitta haemorrhoidalis	=	LC	LC	
Melitta leporina	-	Threatened	LC	
Melitta nigricans	=	LC	LC	
Melitta tricincta	=	LC	VU	B2ab(i,ii,iii)



Megachile maritima (Critically Endangered). Kurt Geeraerts

